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PART I 

Item 1. Business

This annual report on Form 10-K is a combined report being filed by two separate Registrants, American States Water Company (“AWR”) and Golden State Water
Company (“GSWC”). References in this report to “Registrant” are to AWR and GSWC, collectively, unless otherwise specified. GSWC makes no representations as to the
information contained in this report relating to AWR and its subsidiaries, other than GSWC.

AWR makes its periodic reports, Form 10-Q and Form 10-K, and current reports, Form 8-K, available free of charge through its website, www.aswater.com, as soon
as material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such reports are also available on the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov. AWR also makes available free of charge its code of business conduct and ethics, its corporate governance guidelines and the charters of its Nominating and
Governance Committee, Compensation Committee and Audit and Finance Committee through its website or by calling (877) 463-6297. AWR and GSWC have filed the
certification of officers required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Overview

AWR is the parent company of GSWC and American States Utility Services, Inc. (“ASUS”) (and its wholly owned subsidiaries: Fort Bliss Water Services Company
(“FBWS”), Terrapin Utility Services, Inc. (“TUS”), Old Dominion Utility Services, Inc. (“ODUS”), Palmetto State Utility Services, Inc. (“PSUS”), Old North Utility
Services, Inc. (“ONUS”), Emerald Coast Utility Services, Inc. (“ECUS”) and Fort Riley Utility Services, Inc. (“FRUS”)). AWR was incorporated as a California corporation
in 1998 as a holding company.  AWR has three reportable segments: water, electric and contracted services. Within the segments, AWR has two principal business units,
water and electric service utility operations, conducted through GSWC, and contracted services conducted through ASUS and its subsidiaries. FBWS, TUS, ODUS, PSUS,
ONUS, ECUS and FRUS may be referred to herein collectively as the “Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.”

GSWC is a public utility engaged principally in the purchase, production, distribution and sale of water in 10 counties in the State of California.  GSWC is regulated
by the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”).  It was incorporated as a California corporation on December 31, 1929. GSWC also distributes electricity in several
San Bernardino County mountain communities in California through its Bear Valley Electric Service (“BVES”) division.

GSWC served 260,708 water customers and 24,420 electric customers at December 31, 2019, or a total of 285,128 customers, compared with 259,919 water
customers and 24,353 electric customers at December 31, 2018, or a total of 284,272 customers. GSWC’s operations exhibit seasonal trends. Although GSWC’s water utility
operations have a diversified customer base, residential and commercial customers account for the majority of GSWC’s water sales and revenues. Revenues derived from
commercial and residential water customers generally account for more than 90% of total water revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

ASUS, itself or through the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, has contracted with the U.S. government to provide water and/or wastewater services at
various military installations. ASUS operates, maintains and performs construction activities (including renewal and replacement capital work) on water and/or wastewater
systems at various U.S. military bases pursuant to 50-year firm, fixed-price contracts.  Each of the contracts with the U.S. government is subject to termination, in whole or in
part, prior to the end of its 50-year term for convenience of the U.S. government or as a result of default or nonperformance by the subsidiary performing the contract. The
contract price for each of these contracts is subject to annual economic price adjustments. Contracts are also subject to modifications for changes in circumstances, changes in
laws and regulations, and additions to the contract value for new construction of facilities at the military bases.  AWR guarantees performance of ASUS’s military
privatization contracts.
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Pursuant to the terms of these contracts, the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries operate the following water and wastewater systems:

Subsidiary  Military Base  Type of System  Location
FBWS  Fort Bliss  Water and Wastewater  Texas and New Mexico
TUS  Joint Base Andrews  Water and Wastewater  Maryland
ODUS  Fort Lee  Wastewater  Virginia
ODUS

 
Joint-Base Langley Eustis and Joint Expeditionary
Base Little Creek-Fort Story  

Water and Wastewater
 

Virginia

PSUS  Fort Jackson  Water and Wastewater  South Carolina
ONUS  Fort Bragg, Pope Army Airfield and Camp Mackall  Water and Wastewater  North Carolina
ECUS  Eglin Air Force Base  Water and Wastewater  Florida
FRUS

 
Fort Riley

 
Water and Wastewater Collection
and Treatment  

Kansas

Certain financial information for each of AWR’s business segments - water distribution, electric distribution, and contracted services - is set forth in Note 17 to the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of American States Water Company and its subsidiaries. While AWR’s water and electric utility segments are not dependent
upon a single or only a few customers, the U.S. government is the primary customer for ASUS’s contracted services.  ASUS, from time to time, performs work at military
bases for other prime contractors of the U.S. government. 

A large portion of the revenue from AWR’s segments is seasonal. The impact of this seasonality is discussed in more detail in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

 Environmental matters and compliance with such laws and regulations are discussed in detail in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation” under the section titled “Environmental Matters.”

Competition

The businesses of GSWC are substantially free from direct and indirect competition with other public utilities, municipalities and other public agencies within their
existing service territories.  However, GSWC may be subject to eminent domain proceedings in which governmental agencies, under state law, may acquire GSWC’s water
systems if doing so is necessary and in the public’s interest. GSWC competes with governmental agencies and other investor-owned utilities in connection with offering
service to new real estate developments on the basis of financial terms, availability of water and ability to commence providing service on a timely basis. ASUS actively
competes for business with other investor-owned utilities, other third-party providers of water and/or wastewater services and governmental entities primarily on the basis of
quality of service and price.

AWR Workforce

AWR and its subsidiaries had a total of 841 employees as of December 31, 2019.  GSWC had 560 employees as of December 31, 2019.  Seventeen employees of
BVES are covered by a collective bargaining agreement with the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, which expires in December 2020.

ASUS had 281 employees as of December 31, 2019.  Sixteen of FBWS's employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement with the International Union
of Operating Engineers. This agreement expires in September 2022.

Forward-Looking Information

     This Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein contain forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the “safe harbor” from liability established by the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Forward-looking statements are based on current estimates, expectations and projections about future events and
assumptions regarding these events, and include statements regarding management’s goals, beliefs, plans or current expectations, considering the information currently
available to management.  Forward-looking statements are not statements of historical facts.  For example, when we use words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may” and other words that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes, we are making forward-looking statements.  We are not able to
predict all the factors that may affect future results.  We caution you that any forward-looking statements made by us are not guarantees of future performance and the
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actual results may differ materially from those in our forward-looking statements.  Some of the factors that could cause future results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied by our forward-looking statements or from historical results, include, but are not limited to:

• the outcome of pending and future regulatory, legislative or other proceedings, investigations or audits, including decisions in GSWC's general rate cases and the
results of independent audits of GSWC's construction contracting procurement practices or other independent audits of our costs;

• changes in the policies and procedures of the CPUC;

• timeliness of CPUC action on GSWC rates;

• availability of GSWC's water supplies, which may be adversely affected by increases in the frequency and duration of droughts, changes in weather patterns,
contamination, and court decisions or other governmental actions restricting the use of water from the Colorado River, the California State Water Project, and/or
pumping of groundwater;

• liabilities of GSWC associated with the inherent risks of damage to private property and injuries to employees and the public if our or their property should come
into contact with electrical current or equipment;

• the potential of strict liability for damages caused by GSWC's property or equipment, even if GSWC was not negligent in the operation and maintenance of that
property or equipment, under a doctrine known as inverse condemnation;

• the impact of storms, high winds, earthquakes, floods, mudslides, drought, wildfires and similar natural disasters, contamination or acts of terrorism or vandalism,
that affect water quality and/or supply, affect customer demand, that damage or disrupt facilities, operations or information technology systems owned by us, our
customers or third parties on whom we rely or that damage the property of our customers or other third parties or cause bodily injury resulting in liabilities that we
may be unable to recover from insurance, other third parties and/or the U.S. government or that the CPUC or the courts do not permit us to recover from ratepayers;

• the impact on water utility operations during high fire threat conditions as a result of the Public Safety Power Shut-Off program authorized by the CPUC and
implemented by the electric utilities that serve GSWC facilities throughout the state and our ability to get full cost recovery in rates for costs incurred in preparation
of and during a Public Safety Power Shut-Off event;

• liabilities of GSWC for wildfires caused by GSWC’s electrical equipment if GSWC is unable to recover the costs and expenses associated with such liabilities from
insurance or from ratepayers on a timely basis, if at all;

• penalties which may be assessed by the CPUC if GSWC shuts down power to its customers during high threat conditions under the Public Safety Power Shut-Off
program authorized by the CPUC if the CPUC determines that the shutdown was not reasonably necessary or excessive in the circumstances;

• our ability to implement GSWC's wildfire mitigation program and effectively implement Public Safety Power Shut-Offs when appropriate;

• costs incurred, and the ability to recover such costs from customers, associated with service disruptions as the result of a Public Safety Power Shut-Off program;

• risks associated with California Assembly Bill No. 1054's effectiveness in mitigating the risk faced by California investor-owned utilities related to liability for
damages arising from catastrophic wildfires where utility facilities are a substantial cause, including GSWC's ability to maintain a valid safety certification and the
CPUC's interpretation of and actions under California Assembly Bill No. 1054;

• increases in the cost of obtaining insurance or in uninsured losses that may not be recovered in rates, or under our contracts with the U.S. government, including
increases due to difficulties in obtaining insurance for certain risks, such as wildfires and earthquakes in California;

• increases in costs to reduce the risks associated with the increasing frequency of severe weather, including to improve the resiliency and reliability of our water
production and delivery facilities and systems, and our electric transmission and distribution lines;

• increases in service disruptions if severe weather and wildfires or threats of wildfire become more frequent as predicted by some scientists who study climate
change;

• our ability to efficiently manage GSWC capital expenditures and operating and maintenance expenses within CPUC authorized levels and timely recover our costs
through rates;
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• the impact of opposition to GSWC rate increases on our ability to recover our costs through rates, including costs associated with construction and costs associated
with damages to our property and that of others and injuries to persons arising out of more extreme weather events;

• the impact of opposition by GSWC customers to conservation rate design, including more stringent water-use restrictions if drought in California persists due to
climate change, as well as future restrictions on water use mandated in California, which may decrease adopted usage and increase customer rates;

• the impact of condemnation actions on future GSWC revenues and other aspects of our business if we do not receive adequate compensation for the assets taken, or
recovery of all charges associated with the condemnation of such assets, as well as the impact on future revenues if we are no longer entitled to any portion of the
revenues generated from such assets;

• our ability to forecast the costs of maintaining GSWC’s aging water and electric infrastructure;

• our ability to recover increases in permitting costs and costs associated with negotiating and complying with the terms of our franchise agreements with cities and
counties and other demands made upon us by the cities and counties in which GSWC operates;

• changes in accounting valuations and estimates, including changes resulting from our assessment of anticipated recovery of GSWC's regulatory assets, settlement of
liabilities and revenues subject to refund or regulatory disallowances and the timing of such recovery, and the amounts set aside for uncollectible accounts
receivable, inventory obsolescence, pension and post-retirement liabilities, taxes and uninsured losses and claims, including general liability and workers'
compensation claims;

• changes in environmental laws, health and safety laws, and water and recycled water quality requirements, and increases in costs associated with complying with
these laws and requirements, including costs associated with GSWC's upgrading and building new water treatment plants, GSWC's disposing of residuals from our
water treatment plants, more stringent rules regarding pipeline repairs and installation, handling and storing hazardous chemicals, upgrading equipment to make it
more resistant to extreme weather events, removal of vegetation near power lines, compliance-monitoring activities and GSWC's securing alternative water supplies
when necessary;

• changes in laboratory detection capabilities and drinking water notification levels for certain substances, such as fluorinated organic perfluoroalkyl (e.g. PFOA and
PFOS) used to make certain fabrics and other materials, used in certain fire suppression agents and also used in various industrial processes; 

• our ability to obtain adequate, reliable and cost-effective services, supplies of chemicals, electricity, fuel, water and other raw materials that are needed for our water
and wastewater operations;

• our ability to attract, retain, train, motivate, develop and transition key employees;

• our ability to recover the costs associated with any contamination of GSWC’s groundwater supplies from parties responsible for the contamination or through the
ratemaking process, and the time and expense incurred by us in obtaining recovery of such costs;

• adequacy of GSWC's electric division's power supplies and the extent to which we can manage and respond to the volatility of electricity and natural gas prices;

• GSWC's electric division's ability to comply with the CPUC’s renewable energy procurement requirements;

• changes in GSWC's long-term customer demand due to changes in customer usage patterns as a result of conservation efforts, regulatory changes affecting demand
such as mandatory restrictions on water use, new landscaping or irrigation requirements, recycling of water by customers or purchase of recycled water supplied by
other parties, unanticipated population growth or decline, changes in climate conditions, general economic and financial market conditions and cost increases, which
may impact our long-term operating revenues if we are unable to secure rate increases in an amount sufficient to offset reduced demand;

• changes in accounting treatment for regulated utilities;

• effects of changes in, or interpretations of, tax laws, rates or policies;

• changes in estimates used in ASUS’s cost-to-cost method for revenue recognition of certain construction activities;

• termination, in whole or in part, of one or more of ASUS's military utility privatization contracts to provide water and/or wastewater services at military bases for
the convenience of the U.S. government or for default;

• suspension or debarment of ASUS for a period of time from contracting with the government due to violations of laws or regulations in connection with military
utility privatization activities;
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• delays by the U.S. government in making timely payments to ASUS for water and/or wastewater services or construction activities at military bases because of fiscal
uncertainties over the funding of the U.S. government or otherwise;

• delays in ASUS obtaining economic price or equitable adjustments to our prices on one or more of our contracts to provide water and/or wastewater services at
military bases;

• disallowance of costs on any of ASUS's contracts to provide water and/or wastewater services at military bases because of audits, cost reviews or investigations by
contracting agencies;

• inaccurate assumptions used by ASUS in preparing bids in our contracted services business;

• failure of wastewater systems that ASUS operates on military bases resulting in untreated wastewater or contaminants spilling into nearby properties, streams or
rivers, a risk which may increase if flooding and rainfall become more frequent or severe as a result of climate change;

• failure to comply with the terms of our military privatization contracts;

• failure of any of our subcontractors to perform services for ASUS in accordance with the terms of our military privatization contracts;

• competition for new military privatization contracts;

• issues with the implementation, maintenance or upgrading of our information technology systems;

• general economic conditions which may impact our ability to recover infrastructure investments and operating costs from customers;

• explosions, fires, accidents, mechanical breakdowns, the disruption of information technology and telecommunication systems, human error and similar events that
may occur while operating and maintaining water and electric systems in California or operating and maintaining water and wastewater systems on military bases
under varying geographic conditions;

• potential costs, lost revenues, or other consequences resulting from misappropriation of assets or sensitive information, corruption of data, or operational disruption
due to a cyber-attack or other cyber incident;

• restrictive covenants in our debt instruments or changes to our credit ratings on current or future debt that may increase our financing costs or affect our ability to
borrow or make payments on our debt; and

• our ability to access capital markets and other sources of credit in a timely manner on acceptable terms.

Please consider our forward-looking statements in light of these risks as you read this Form 10-K.  We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these
cautionary statements.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

     You should carefully read the risks described below and other information in this Form 10-K in order to understand certain of the risks of our business.

 Our business is heavily regulated and, as a result, decisions by regulatory agencies and changes in laws and regulations can significantly affect our business

 GSWC's revenues depend substantially on the rates and fees it charges its customers and the ability to recover its costs on a timely basis, including the ability to
recover the costs of purchased water, groundwater assessments, electricity, natural gas, chemicals, water treatment, security at water facilities and preventative maintenance
and emergency repairs. Any delays by the CPUC in granting rate relief to cover increased operating and capital costs at our public utilities or delays in obtaining approval of
our requests at ASUS for economic price or equitable adjustments for contracted services from the U.S. government may adversely affect our financial performance. We may
file for interim rates in California in situations where there may be delays in granting final rate relief during a general rate case proceeding. If the CPUC approves lower rates,
the CPUC will require us to refund to customers the difference between the interim rates and the rates approved by the CPUC. Similarly, if the CPUC approves rates that are
higher than the interim rates, the CPUC may authorize us to recover the difference between the interim rates and the final rates. 

 Regulatory decisions affecting GSWC may also impact prospective revenues and earnings, affect the timing of the recognition of revenues and expenses, may
overturn past decisions used in determining our revenues and expenses and could result in impairment charges and customer refunds. Management continually evaluates the
anticipated recovery of regulatory assets, settlement of liabilities and revenues subject to refund and provides for allowances and reserves as deemed necessary. In the event
that our assessment of the probability of recovery or settlement through the ratemaking process is incorrect, we will adjust the associated regulatory asset or liability to reflect
the change in our assessment or any regulatory disallowances.  A change in our evaluation of the probability over the recovery of regulatory assets including a future
disallowance of previously granted regulatory mechanisms, or a regulatory disallowance of all or a portion of our costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial
results.

 We are also, in some cases, required to estimate future expenses and, in others, we are required to incur the expense before recovering costs. As a result, our
revenues and earnings may fluctuate depending on the accuracy of our estimates, the timing of our investments or expenses or other factors. If expenses increase significantly
over a short period, we may experience delays in recovery of these expenses, the inability to recover carrying costs for these expenses and increased risks of regulatory
disallowances or write-offs.

 Regulatory agencies may also change their rules and policies, which may adversely affect our profitability and cash flows. Changes in policies of the U.S.
government may also adversely affect one or more of our Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries. In certain circumstances, the U.S. government may be unwilling or
unable to appropriate funds to pay costs mandated by changes in rules and policies of federal or state regulatory agencies. The U.S. government may disagree with the
increases that we request and may delay approval of requests for equitable adjustment or economic price adjustments, which could adversely affect our anticipated rates of
return.

 We may also be subject to fines or penalties if a regulatory agency, including the U.S. government, determines that we have failed to comply with laws, regulations
or orders applicable to our businesses, unless we successfully appeal such an adverse determination. Regulatory agencies may also disallow recovery of certain costs if they
determine they may no longer be recovered in rates, or if audit findings determine that we have failed to comply with our policies and procedures for procurement or other
practices.

Our liquidity and earnings may be adversely affected by wildfires

It is possible that wildfires may occur more frequently, be of longer duration or impact larger areas as a result of drought-damaged plants and trees, lower humidity
or higher winds that may occur as result of changed weather patterns. Our liquidity, earnings and operations may be materially adversely affected by wildfires in our electric
service territory. We may be required to (i) incur greater costs to relocate lines or increase our trimming of trees and other plants near our electric facilities to avoid wildfires,
and (ii) bear the costs of damages to property or injuries to the public if it is determined that our power lines or other electrical equipment was a cause of such damages or
injuries.

Losses by insurance companies resulting from wildfires in California may cause insurance coverage for wildfire risks to become more expensive or unavailable on
reasonable terms, and our insurance may be inadequate to recover all our losses incurred in a wildfire. We might not be allowed to recover in our rates any increased costs of
wildfire insurance or the costs of any uninsured wildfire losses.

Electric utilities in California are authorized to shut off power for public safety reasons, such as during periods of extreme fire hazard, if the utility reasonably
believes that there is an imminent and significant risk that strong winds may topple
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power lines or cause vegetation to come into contact with power lines leading to increased risk of fire. Shut-offs can reduce BVES's electric revenues and decrease customer
satisfaction.

These shut-offs can also adversely affect GSWC’s water utility operations if the electric utilities that provide electric service to GSWC’s water operations shut off
power lines that deliver electricity to GSWC’s water plant and equipment, thereby adversely affecting its ability to provide water service to its customers.  

We may be held strictly liable for damages to property caused by our equipment even if we are not negligent  

             Utilities in California may be held strictly liable for damages caused by their property, such as mains, fire hydrants, power lines and other equipment, even though
they were not negligent in the operation and maintenance of that property, under a doctrine known as inverse condemnation.  GSWC's liquidity, earnings and operations may
be adversely affected if we are unable to recover the costs of paying claims for damages caused by the non-negligent operation and maintenance of our property from
customers or through insurance.

Our costs involved in maintaining water quality and complying with environmental regulation have increased and are expected to continue to increase

 Our capital and operating costs at GSWC may increase substantially as a result of increases in environmental regulation arising from increases in the cost of
upgrading and building new water treatment plants, disposing of residuals from our water treatment plants, compliance-monitoring activities and securing alternative supplies
when necessary.  GSWC may be able to recover these costs through the ratemaking process. We may also be able to recover these costs under settlement and contractual
arrangements.

We may be subject to financial losses, penalties and other liabilities if we fail to maintain safe work sites, equipment or facilities

Our safety record is critical to our reputation. We maintain health and safety standards to protect our employees, customers, vendors and the public. Although we
aim to comply with such health and safety standards, it is unlikely that we will be able to avoid all accidents or other events resulting in damage to property or the public.

Our business sites, including construction and maintenance sites, often put our employees and others in close proximity with large pieces of equipment, moving
vehicles, pressurized water, chemicals and other regulated materials. On many sites we are responsible for safety and, accordingly, must implement safety procedures. If we
fail in any respect to implement such procedures or if the procedures we implement are ineffective or are not followed by our employees or others, our employees and others
may be injured or die. Unsafe work sites also have the potential to increase our operating costs. Any of the foregoing could result in financial losses, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our operations may involve the handling and storage of hazardous chemicals which, if improperly handled, stored or disposed of, could subject us to penalties or
other liabilities. We are also subject to regulations dealing with occupational health and safety. Although we maintain functional employee groups whose primary purpose is
to ensure that we implement effective health, safety, and environmental work procedures throughout our organization, including construction sites and maintenance sites, a
failure to comply with such regulations in any respect could subject us to liability.

Electrical facilities also have an inherent risk of damage to persons or property should such persons or property come into contact with such facilities which could,
depending upon the circumstances, subject us to penalties and damages.

We may sustain losses that exceed or are excluded from our insurance coverage or for which we are not insured

We are, from time to time, parties to legal or regulatory proceedings.  These proceedings may pertain to regulatory investigations, employment matters or other
disputes.  Management periodically reviews its assessment of the probable outcome of these proceedings, the costs and expenses reasonably expected to be incurred, and the
availability and extent of insurance coverage.  On the basis of this review, management establishes reserves for such matters.  We may, however, from time to time be
required to pay fines, penalties or damages that exceed our insurance coverage and/or reserves if our estimate of the probable outcome of such proceedings proves to be
inaccurate. 

We maintain insurance coverage as part of our overall legal and risk management strategy to minimize our potential liabilities.  However, our insurance policies
contain exclusions and other limitations that may not cover our potential liabilities. Generally, our insurance policies cover property, workers' compensation, employer
liability, general liability and automobile liability. Each policy includes deductibles or self-insured retentions and policy limits for covered claims.  As a result, we may
sustain losses that exceed or that are excluded from our insurance coverage or for which we are not insured.

We have experienced increased costs in obtaining insurance coverage for wildfires that could impact or potentially arise from BVES’s ordinary operations.
Uninsured losses and increases in the cost of insurance may not be recoverable in
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customer rates. A loss which is not insured or not fully insured or cannot be recovered in customer rates could materially affect GSWC’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Additional Risks Associated with our Public Utility Operations

Our operating costs may increase as a result of groundwater contamination

 Our operations can be impacted by groundwater contamination in certain service territories.  Historically, we have taken a number of steps to address
contamination, including the removal of wells from service, decreasing the amount of groundwater pumped from wells in order to facilitate remediation of plumes of
contaminated water, constructing water treatment facilities and securing alternative sources of supply from other areas not affected by the contamination.  In emergency
situations, we have supplied our customers with bottled water until the emergency situation has been resolved.

 Our ability to recover these types of costs depends upon a variety of factors, including approval of rate increases, the willingness of potentially responsible parties to
settle litigation and otherwise address the contamination and the extent and magnitude of the contamination. We may recover costs from certain third parties that may be
responsible, or potentially responsible, for groundwater contamination. However, we often experience delays in obtaining recovery of these costs and incur additional costs
associated with seeking recovery from responsible or potentially responsible parties which may adversely impact our liquidity. In some events we may be unable to recover
all of these costs from third parties due to the inability to identify the potentially responsible parties, the lack of financial resources of responsible parties or the high litigation
costs associated with obtaining recovery from responsible or potentially responsible parties.

We can give no assurance regarding the adequacy of any such recovery to offset the costs associated with contamination or the cost of recovery of any legal costs.
To date, the CPUC has permitted us to establish memorandum accounts for potential recovery of these types of costs when they have arisen.  

Management believes that rate recovery, proper insurance coverage and reserves are in place to appropriately manage these types of contamination issues.  However,
such issues, if ultimately resolved unfavorably to us, could, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. 

The adequacy of our water supplies depends upon weather and a variety of other uncontrollable factors

The adequacy of our water supplies varies from year to year depending upon a variety of factors, including:

• rainfall, basin replenishment, flood control, snow pack levels in California and the West, reservoir levels and availability of reservoir storage;
• availability of Colorado River water and imported water from the State Water Project;
• the amount of usable water stored in reservoirs and groundwater basins;
• the amount of water used by our customers and others;
• water quality;
• legal limitations on production, diversion, storage, conveyance and use; and
• climate change.

    More frequent and extended California drought conditions and changes in weather patterns and population growth in California cause increased stress on surface water
supplies and groundwater basins. In addition, low or no allocations of water from the State Water Project and court-ordered pumping restrictions on water obtained from the
Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta decrease or eliminate the amount of water that the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California ("MWD") and other state water
contractors are able to import from northern California.

We have implemented tiered rates and other practices, as appropriate, in order to encourage water conservation. We have also implemented programs to assist
customers in complying with water usage reductions. Over the long term, we are acting to secure additional supplies from desalination and increase use of reclaimed water,
where appropriate and feasible. We cannot predict the extent to which these efforts to reduce stress on our water supplies will be successful or sustainable, or the extent to
which these efforts will enable us to continue to satisfy all of the water needs of our customers.

Water shortages at GSWC may:

• adversely affect our supply mix, for instance, by causing increased reliance upon more expensive water sources;

• adversely affect our operating costs, for instance, by increasing the cost of producing water from more highly contaminated aquifers or requiring us to
transport water over longer distances, truck water to water systems or adopt other emergency measures to enable us to continue to provide water service to
our customers;

10



Table of Contents

• result in an increase in our capital expenditures over the long term, for example, by requiring future construction of pipelines to connect to alternative
sources of supply, new wells to replace those that are no longer in service or are otherwise inadequate to meet the needs of our customers, and other
facilities to conserve or reclaim water;

• adversely affect the volume of water sold as a result of such factors as mandatory or voluntary conservation efforts by customers, changes in customer
conservation patterns, recycling of water by customers and imposition of new regulations impacting such things as landscaping and irrigation patterns;

• adversely affect aesthetic water quality if we are unable to flush our water systems as frequently due to water shortages or drought restrictions; and

• result in customer dissatisfaction and harm to our reputation if water service is reduced, interrupted or otherwise adversely affected as a result of drought,
water contamination or other causes.

Our liquidity may be adversely affected by changes in water supply costs

We obtain our water supplies for GSWC from a variety of sources, which vary among our water systems. Certain systems obtain all of their supply from water that
is pumped from aquifers within our service areas; some systems purchase all of their supply from wholesale suppliers; some systems obtain their supply from treating surface
water sources; and other systems obtain their supply from a combination of wells, surface water sources and/or wholesale suppliers. The cost of obtaining these supplies
varies, and overall costs can be impacted as use within a system varies from time to time. As a result, our cost of providing, distributing and treating water for our customers’
use can vary significantly.

Furthermore, imported water wholesalers, such as MWD, may not always have an adequate supply of water to sell to us. Wholesale water suppliers may increase
their prices for water delivered to us based on factors that affect their operating costs. Purchased water rate increases are beyond our control.

GSWC has implemented a modified supply cost balancing account ("MCBA") to track and recover costs from supply mix changes and rate changes by wholesale
suppliers, as authorized by the CPUC. However, cash flows from operations can be significantly affected since much of the balance we recognize in the MCBA is collected
from or refunded to customers primarily through surcharges or surcredits, respectively, generally over twelve- to twenty-four-month periods.

Our liquidity and earnings may be adversely affected by maintenance costs

Some of our infrastructure in California is aging.  We have experienced leaks and mechanical problems in some of these older systems.  In addition, well and pump
maintenance expenses are affected by labor and material costs and more stringent environmental regulations. Our electrical systems have also required upgrades due to aging
and new compliance requirements. These costs can increase substantially and unexpectedly.

We include estimated increases in maintenance costs for future years in each water and electric general rate case filed by GSWC for possible recovery.

Our liquidity and earnings may be adversely affected by our conservation efforts

Our water utility business is heavily dependent upon revenue generated from rates charged to our customers based on the volume of water used. The rates we charge
for water are regulated by the CPUC and may not be adequately adjusted to reflect changes in demand. Declining usage also negatively impacts our long-term operating
revenues if we are unable to secure rate increases or if growth in the customer base does not occur to the extent necessary to offset per-customer usage decline. 

Conservation by all customer classes at GSWC is a top priority.  However, customer conservation will result in lower volumes of water sold.  We may experience a
decline in per-customer water usage due to factors such as:

• conservation efforts to reduce costs;

• drought conditions resulting in additional water conservation;

• the use of more efficient household fixtures and appliances by consumers to save water;

• voluntary or mandatory changes in landscaping and irrigation patterns;

• recycling of water by our customers; and

• mandated water-use restrictions.

These types of changes may result in permanent decreases in demand even if our water supplies are sufficient to meet higher levels of demand after a drought ends.
 In addition, governmental restrictions on water usage during drought conditions
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may result in a decreased demand for water, even if our sources of supply are sufficient to serve our customers during such drought conditions.

We implemented a CPUC-approved water-revenue adjustment mechanism ("WRAM") at GSWC, which has the effect of reducing the adverse impact of our
customers’ conservation efforts on revenues.  However, cash flows from operations can be significantly affected since much of the balance we recognize in the WRAM
account is collected from or refunded to customers generally over twelve-, eighteen- or twenty-four-month periods.

Our earnings may be affected by weather during different seasons

The demand for water and electricity varies by season.  For instance, there can be a higher level of water consumption during the third quarter of each year when
weather in California tends to be hot and dry.  During unusually wet weather, our customers generally use less water.  The CPUC-approved WRAM helps mitigate
fluctuations in revenues due to changes in water consumption by our customers in California. 

The demand for electricity in our electric customer service area is greatly affected by winter snow levels. An increase in winter snow levels reduces the use of
snowmaking machines at ski resorts in the Big Bear area and, as a result, reduces our electric revenues.  Likewise, unseasonably warm weather during a skiing season may
result in temperatures too high for snowmaking conditions, which also reduces our electric revenues.  GSWC has implemented a CPUC-approved base-revenue-requirement
adjustment mechanism for our electric business which helps mitigate fluctuations in the revenues of our electric business due to changes in the amount of electricity used by
GSWC’s electric customers.

Our liquidity may be adversely affected by increases in electricity and natural gas prices in California

We purchase most of the electric energy sold to customers in our electric customer service area from others under purchased power contracts.  In addition to
purchased power contracts, we purchase additional energy from the spot market to meet peak demand and following the expiration of purchased power contracts if there are
delays in obtaining CPUC authorization of new purchase power contracts.  We may sell surplus power to the spot market during times of reduced energy demand.  As a
result, our cash flows may be affected by increases in spot market prices of electricity purchased and decreases in spot market prices for electricity sold.  However, GSWC
has implemented supply-cost balancing accounts, as approved by the CPUC, to mitigate fluctuations in supply costs. 

Unexpected generator downtime at our 8.4 megawatt natural-gas-fueled generator or a failure to perform by any of the counterparties to our electric and natural gas
purchase contracts could further increase our exposure to fluctuating natural gas and electricity prices. 

Changes in electricity prices also affect the unrealized gains and losses on our block forward purchased power contracts that qualify as derivative instruments since
we adjust the asset or liability on these contracts to reflect the fair market value of the contracts at the end of each month.  The CPUC has authorized us to establish a
memorandum account to track the changes in the fair market value of our purchased power contracts.  As a result, unrealized gains and losses on these types of purchased
power contracts do not impact earnings. 

We may not be able to procure sufficient renewable energy resources to comply with CPUC rules

We are required to procure a portion of our electricity for BVES from renewable energy resources to meet the CPUC’s renewable procurement requirements.  We
have an agreement with a third party to purchase renewable energy credits which we believe enables us to meet these requirements through 2023.  In the event that the third
party fails to perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement, we may not be able to obtain sufficient resources to meet the renewable procurement requirements. We
may be subject to fines and penalties by the CPUC if it determines that we are not in compliance with the renewable resource procurement rules. 

Our assets are subject to condemnation

Municipalities and other governmental subdivisions may, in certain circumstances, seek to acquire certain of our assets through eminent domain proceedings.  It is
generally our practice to contest these proceedings, which may be costly and may temporarily divert the attention of management from the operation of our business.  If a
municipality or other governmental subdivision succeeds in acquiring our assets, there is a risk that we will not receive adequate compensation for the assets taken or be able
to recover all charges associated with the condemnation of such assets. In addition, we would no longer be entitled to any portion of revenue generated from the use of such
assets.

Our costs of obtaining and complying with the terms of franchise agreements are increasing

Cities and counties in which GSWC operates have granted GSWC franchises to construct, maintain and use pipes and appurtenances in public streets and rights of
way.  The costs of obtaining, renewing and complying with the terms of these franchise agreements have been increasing as cities and counties attempt to regulate GSWC’s
operations within the boundaries of the city or unincorporated areas of the counties in which GSWC operates.  Cities and counties have also been imposing new
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fees on GSWC’s operations, including pipeline abandonment fees and road-cut or other types of capital improvement fees.  At the same time, there is increasing opposition
from consumer groups to rate increases that may be necessary to compensate GSWC for the increased costs of regulation by local governments. These trends may adversely
affect GSWC’s ability to recover in rates its costs of providing water service and to efficiently manage capital expenditures and operating and maintenance expenses within
CPUC-authorized levels.

The generation, transmission and distribution of electricity are dangerous and involve inherent risks of damage to private property and injury to employees and
the general public

Electricity is dangerous for employees and the general public should they come in contact with electrical current or equipment, including through downed power
lines, sparking during high-wind events or equipment malfunctions. Injuries and property damage caused by such events may subject GSWC to significant liabilities that may
not be covered or fully covered by insurance. Additionally, the CPUC has delegated to its staff the authority to issue citations, which carry a fine of $50,000 per-violation per
day, to electric utilities subject to its jurisdiction for violations of safety rules found in statutes, regulations, and the General Orders of the CPUC, which could also materially
affect GSWC's liquidity and results of operations.    

Adverse publicity and reputational risks can lead to increased regulatory oversight or sanctions

As a utility company, we have a large customer base and are therefore, subject to public criticism regarding, among other things, the quality and reliability of our
water and electricity services, and the accuracy, timeliness and format of bills that are provided to our customers for such services. Adverse publicity and negative customer
sentiment may cause regulatory authorities, including CPUC, and other governing bodies to view us unfavorably and cause us to be susceptible to increased oversight and
more stringent regulations and economic requirements.

Additional Risks Associated with our Contracted Services Operations 

We derive revenues from contract operations primarily from the operation and maintenance of water and/or wastewater systems at military bases and the
construction of water and wastewater infrastructure on these bases (including renewal and replacement of these systems). As a result, these operations are subject to risks that
are different from those of our public utility operations. 

Our 50-year contracts for servicing military bases create certain risks that are different from our public utility operations

 We have entered into contracts to provide water and/or wastewater services at military bases pursuant to 50-year contracts, subject to termination, in whole or in
part, for the convenience of the U.S. government.  In addition, the U.S. government may stop work under the terms of one or more of the contracts, delay performance of our
obligations under the contracts or modify the contracts at its convenience. 

Our contract pricing is based on a number of assumptions, including assumptions about prices and availability of labor, equipment and materials. We may be unable
to recover all costs if any of these assumptions are inaccurate or if all costs incurred in connection with performing the work were not considered. Our contracts are also
subject to annual economic price adjustments or other changes permitted by the terms of the contracts. Prices are also subject to equitable adjustment based upon changes in
circumstances, laws or regulations and service-requirement changes to the extent provided in each of the contracts.

We are required to record all costs under these types of contracts as they are incurred. As a result, we may record losses associated with unanticipated conditions,
higher than anticipated infrastructure levels and emergency work at the time such expenses occur.  We recognize additional revenue for such work as, and to the extent that,
our economic price adjustments and/or requests for equitable adjustments are approved.  Delays in obtaining approval of economic price adjustments and/or equitable
adjustments can negatively impact our results of operations and cash flows.

 Certain payments under these contracts are subject to appropriations by Congress. We may experience delays in receiving payment or delays in price adjustments
due to canceled or delayed appropriations specific to our projects or reductions in government spending for the military generally or military-base operations specifically.
Appropriations and the timing of payment may be influenced by, among other things, the state of the economy, competing political priorities, budget constraints, the timing
and amount of tax receipts, government shutdowns and the overall level of government expenditures.

Risks associated with wastewater systems are different from those of our water distribution operations

The wastewater-collection-system operations of our subsidiaries providing wastewater services on military bases are subject to substantial regulation and involve
significant environmental risks. If collection, treatment or disposal systems fail, overflow or do not operate properly, untreated wastewater or other contaminants could spill
onto nearby properties or into nearby streams and rivers, causing damage to persons or property, injury to aquatic life and economic damages. The cost of addressing such
damages may not be recoverable. This risk is most acute during periods of substantial rainfall or flooding, which are common causes of sewer overflows and system failures. 
Liabilities resulting from such damage could adversely and
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materially affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In the event that we are deemed liable for any damage caused by overflows, our losses may not be
recoverable under our contracts with the U.S. government or covered by insurance policies. We may also find it difficult to secure insurance for this business in the future at
acceptable rates.

We may have responsibility for water quality at the military bases we serve

While it is the responsibility of the U.S. government to provide the source of water supply to meet the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries’ water distribution
system requirements under their contracts, the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, as the water system permit holders for most of the bases they serve, are responsible
for ensuring the continued compliance of the provided source of supply with all federal, state and local regulations. We believe, however, that the terms of the contracts
between the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries and the U.S. government provide the opportunity for us to recover costs incurred in the treatment or remediation of any
quality issue that arises from the source of water supply.

Our contracts for the construction of infrastructure improvements on military bases create risks that are different from those of our operations and maintenance
activities

We have entered into contract modifications with the U.S. government and agreements with third parties for the construction of new water and/or wastewater
infrastructure at the military bases on which we operate. Most of these contracts are firm fixed-price contracts. Under firm fixed-price contracts, we will benefit from cost
savings, but are generally unable (except for changes in scope or circumstances approved by the U.S. government or third party) to recover any cost overruns to the approved
contract price. Under most circumstances, the U.S. government or third party has approved increased-cost change orders due to changes in scope of work performed.

 We generally recognize contract revenues from these types of contracts over time using input methods to measure progress towards satisfying a performance
obligation. The measurement of performance over time is based on cost incurred relative to total estimated costs, or the physical completion of the construction projects. The
earnings or losses recognized on individual contracts are based on periodic estimates of contract revenues, costs and profitability as these construction projects progress.

 We establish prices for these types of firm fixed-price contracts and the overall 50-year contracts taken as a whole, based, in part, on cost estimates that are subject
to a number of assumptions, including assumptions regarding future economic conditions. If these estimates prove inaccurate or circumstances change, cost overruns could
have a material adverse effect on our contracted business operations and results of operations.

 We may be adversely affected by disputes with the U.S. government regarding our performance of contracted services on military bases

 We are periodically audited or reviewed by the Defense Contract Auditing Agency (“DCAA”) and/or the Defense Contract Management Agency ("DCMA") for
compliance with federal acquisition regulations, cost-accounting standards and other laws, regulations and standards that are not applicable to the operations of GSWC.
During the course of these audits/reviews, the DCAA or DCMA may question our incurred project costs or the manner in which we have accounted for such costs and
recommend to our U.S. government administrative contracting officer that such costs be disallowed.

If there is a dispute with the U.S. government regarding performance under these contracts or the amounts owed to us, the U.S. government may delay, reject or
withhold payment, delay price adjustments or assert its right to offset damages against amounts owed to us.  If we are unable to collect amounts owed to us on a timely basis
or the U.S. government asserts its offset rights, profits and cash flows could be adversely affected.

 If we fail to comply with the terms of one or more of our U.S. government contracts, other agreements with the U.S. government or U.S. government statutes and
regulations, we could also be suspended or barred from future U.S. government contracts for a period of time and be subject to possible damages, fines and penalties as well
as damage to our reputation in the water and wastewater industry.

We depend, to some extent, upon subcontractors to assist us in the performance of contracted services on military bases

We rely, to some extent, on subcontractors to assist us in the operation and maintenance of the water and wastewater systems at military bases. The failure of any of
these subcontractors to perform services for us in accordance with the terms of our contracts with the U.S. government could result in the termination of our contract to
provide water and/or wastewater services at the affected base(s), and/or a loss of revenues, or increases in costs, to correct a subcontractor’s performance failures.

 We are also required to make a good faith effort to achieve our small business subcontracting plan goals pursuant to U.S. government regulations. If we fail to use
good faith efforts to meet these goals, the U.S. government may assess damages
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against us at the end of the contract. The U.S. government has the right to offset claimed damages against any amounts owed to us.

 We also rely on third-party manufacturers, as well as third-party subcontractors, to complete our construction projects. To the extent that we cannot engage
subcontractors or acquire equipment or materials, our ability to complete a project in a timely fashion or at a profit may be impaired. If the amount of costs we incur for these
projects exceeds the amount we have estimated in our bids, we could experience reduced profits or losses in the performance of these contracts. In addition, if a subcontractor
or manufacturer is unable to deliver its services, equipment or materials according to the negotiated terms for any reason, including the deterioration of its financial condition,
we may be required to purchase the services, equipment or materials from another source at a higher price. This may reduce the profit to be realized or result in a loss on a
project for which the services, equipment or materials were needed.

If subcontractors fail to perform services to be provided to us or fail to provide us with the proper equipment or materials, we may be penalized for their failure to
perform; however, our contracts with subcontractors include certain protective provisions, which may include the assessment of liquidated damages.  We also mitigate these
risks by requiring our subcontractors, as appropriate, to obtain performance bonds and to compensate us for any penalties we may be required to pay as a result of their
failure to perform. 

Our earnings may be affected, to some extent, by weather during different seasons

Seasonal weather conditions, such as hurricanes, heavy rainfall or significant winter storms, occasionally cause temporary office closures and/or result in temporary
halts to construction activity at military bases.  To the extent that our construction activities are impeded by these events, we will experience a delay in recognizing revenues
from these construction projects.

We continue to incur costs associated with the expansion of our contract activities

We continue to incur additional costs in connection with the expansion of our contract operations associated with the preparation of bids for new contract operations
on prospective and existing military bases. Our ability to recover these costs and to earn a profit on our contract operations will depend upon the extent to which we are
successful in obtaining new contracts and recovering these costs and other costs from new contract revenues.

We face competition for new military privatization contracts

An important part of our growth strategy is the expansion of our contracted services business through new contract awards to serve additional military bases for the
U.S. government. ASUS competes with other investor-owned utilities, municipalities, and other entities for these contracts.

Additionally, should the U.S. government decide to curtail or eliminate the issuance of solicitations for future military privatization contract awards, the potential for
growth in this segment could be negatively impacted.

Other Risks

The accuracy of our judgments and estimates about financial and accounting matters will impact our operating results and financial condition

The quality and accuracy of estimates and judgments used have an impact on our operating results and financial condition. If our estimates are not accurate, we will
be required to make an adjustment in a future period. We make certain estimates and judgments in preparing our financial statements regarding, among others:

• timing of recovering WRAM and MCBA regulatory assets;

• amounts to set aside for uncollectible accounts receivable, inventory obsolescence and uninsured losses;

• our legal exposure and the appropriate accrual for claims, including general liability and workers' compensation claims;

• future costs and assumptions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits;

• regulatory recovery of deferred items; and

• possible tax uncertainties.
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Our business requires significant capital expenditures and our inability to access the capital or financial markets could affect our ability to meet our liquidity
needs and long-term commitments, which could adversely impact our operations and financial results

The utility business is capital intensive. We spend significant sums of money for additions to, or replacement of, our property, plant and equipment at our water and
electric utilities. We obtain funds for these capital projects from operations, contributions by developers and others, and refundable advances from developers (which are
repaid over a period of time). We also periodically borrow money or issue equity for these purposes. In addition, we have a revolving credit facility that is partially used for
these purposes. We cannot provide assurance that these sources will continue to be adequate or that the cost of funds will remain at levels permitting us to earn a reasonable
rate of return. 

As our capital investment program continues to increase, coupled with the elimination of bonus depreciation for regulated utilities due to tax reform, we will need
access to external financing more often, which increases our exposure to market conditions. In addition to cash flow from operations, we rely primarily on our credit facility
and long-term private placement notes to satisfy our liquidity needs. Changes in market conditions, including events beyond our control, could also limit our ability to access
capital on terms favorable to us or at all, including the credit facility with the borrowing capacity needed as well as issuing long-term debt. As a result, the amount of capital
available may not be sufficient to meet all our liquidity needs at a reasonable cost at all of our subsidiaries.    

Our Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries providing water and wastewater services on military bases also expect to incur significant capital expenditures. To the
extent that the U.S. government does not reimburse us for these expenditures as the work is performed or completed, the U.S. government will repay us over time. 

 We may be adversely impacted by economic conditions

Access to external financing on reasonable terms depends, in part, on conditions in the debt and equity markets.  When business and market conditions deteriorate,
we may no longer have access to the capital markets on reasonable terms.  Our ability to obtain funds is dependent upon our ability to access the capital markets by issuing
debt or equity to third parties or obtaining funds from our revolving credit facility.  In the event of financial turmoil affecting the banking system and financial markets,
consolidation of the financial services industry, significant financial service institution failures or our inability to renew or replace our existing revolving credit facility on
favorable terms, it may become necessary for us to seek funds from other sources on less favorable terms.

Market conditions and demographic changes may adversely impact the value of our benefit plan assets and liabilities

Market factors can affect assumptions we use in determining funding requirements with respect to our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans. For example,
a relatively modest change in our assumptions regarding discount rates can materially affect our calculation of funding requirements. To the extent that market data compels
us to reduce the discount rate used in our assumptions, our benefit obligations could materially increase, which could adversely affect our financial position and cash flows.
Further, changes in demographics, such as increases in life expectancy assumptions may also increase the funding requirements of our obligations related to the pension and
other post-retirement benefit plans.

Market conditions also affect the values of the assets that are held in trusts to satisfy significant future obligations under our pension and other post-retirement
benefit plans. These assets are subject to market fluctuations, which may cause investment returns to fall below our projected rates of return. A decline in the market value of
our pension and other post-retirement benefit plan assets will increase the funding requirements under these plans if future returns on these assets are insufficient to offset the
decline in value. Future increases in pension and other post-retirement costs as a result of the reduced value of plan assets may not be fully recoverable in rates, and our
results of operations and financial position could be negatively affected. These risks are mitigated to some extent by the two-way pension balancing accounts authorized by
the CPUC, which permits us to track differences between forecasted annual pension expense adopted in water and electric rates and actual pension expenses for future
recovery or refund to customers.

 Payment of our debt may be accelerated if we fail to comply with restrictive covenants in our debt agreements

Our failure to comply with restrictive covenants in our debt agreements could result in an event of default.  If the default is not cured or waived, we may be required
to repay or refinance the debt before it becomes due.  Even if we are able to obtain waivers from our creditors, we may only be able to do so on unfavorable terms.
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The price of our Common Shares may be volatile and may be affected by market conditions beyond our control

The trading price of our Common Shares may fluctuate in the future because of the volatility of the stock market and a variety of other factors, many of which are
beyond our control. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our Common Shares include: regulatory developments; general economic conditions and
trends; price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market; actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations; actual or anticipated changes in the
expectations of investors or securities analysts; actual or anticipated developments in other utilities' businesses or the competitive landscape generally; litigation involving us
or our industry; major catastrophic events, or sales of large blocks of our stock.

AWR is a holding company that depends on cash flow from its subsidiaries to meet its financial obligations and to pay dividends on its Common Shares

As a holding company, our subsidiaries conduct substantially all operations and our only significant assets are investments in our subsidiaries. This means that we
are dependent on distributions of funds from our subsidiaries to meet our debt service obligations and to pay dividends on our Common Shares. 

Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and generally have no obligation to pay any amounts due on our credit facility.  Our subsidiaries only pay
dividends if and when declared by the respective subsidiary board.  Moreover, GSWC is obligated to give first priority to its own capital requirements and to maintain a
capital structure consistent with that determined to be reasonable by the CPUC in its most recent decision on capital structure in order that customers not be adversely
affected by the holding company structure.  Furthermore, our right to receive cash or other assets in the unlikely event of liquidation or reorganization of any of our
subsidiaries is generally subject to the prior claims of creditors of that subsidiary.  If we are unable to obtain funds from a subsidiary in a timely manner, we may be unable to
meet our financial obligations, make additional investments or pay dividends.

Failure to attract, retain, train, motivate, develop and transition key employees could adversely affect our business

In order to be successful, we must attract, retain, train, motivate, and develop key employees, including those in managerial, operational, financial, regulatory,
business-development and information-technology support positions.  Our regulated business and contracted services operations are complex. Attracting and retaining high
quality staff allows us to minimize the cost of providing quality service.  In order to attract and retain key employees in a competitive marketplace, we must provide a
competitive compensation package and be able to effectively recruit qualified candidates.  The failure to successfully hire key employees or the loss of a material number of
key employees could have a significant impact on the quality of our operations in the short term. Further, changes in our management team may be disruptive to our business,
and any failure to successfully transition key new hires or promoted employees could adversely affect our business and results of operations. 

 We must successfully maintain and/or upgrade our information technology systems as we are increasingly dependent on the continuous and reliable operation
of these systems

 We rely on various information technology systems to manage our operations. Such systems require periodic modifications, upgrades and/or replacement, which
subject us to inherent costs and risks including potential disruption of our internal control structure, substantial capital expenditures, additional administrative and operating
expenses, retention of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement and operate the new systems, and other risks and costs of delays or difficulties in transitioning to new
systems or of integrating new systems into our current systems. In addition, the difficulties with implementing new technology systems may cause disruptions in our business
operations and have an adverse effect on our business and operations, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated.

 We rely on our computer, information and communications technology systems in connection with the operation of our business, especially with respect to customer
service and billing, accounting and the monitoring and operation of our treatment, storage and pumping facilities.  Our computer and communications systems and operations
could be damaged or interrupted by weather, natural disasters, telecommunications failures, cyber-attacks or acts of war or terrorism or similar events or disruptions.  Any of
these or other events could cause system interruption, delays and loss of critical data, or delay or prevent operations and adversely affect our financial results. 

Security risks, data protection breaches and cyber-attacks could disrupt our internal operations, and any such disruption could increase our expenses, damage
our reputation and adversely affect our stock price

There have been an increasing number of cyber-attacks on companies around the world, which have caused operational failures or compromised sensitive corporate
or customer data.  These attacks have occurred over the internet, through malware, viruses or attachments to e-mails, or through persons inside the organization or with
access to systems inside the organization.  Although we do not believe that our systems are at a materially greater risk of cyber security attacks than other similar
organizations, our information technology systems remain vulnerable to damage or interruption from:
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• computer viruses;

• ransomware;

• malware;

• hacking; and

• denial of service actions.

We have implemented security measures and will continue to devote significant resources to address any security vulnerabilities in an effort to prevent cyber-
attacks.  Despite our efforts, we cannot be assured that a cyber-attack will not cause water, wastewater or electric system problems, disrupt service to our customers,
compromise important data or systems or result in unintended release of customer or employee information.  Moreover, if a computer security breach affects our systems or
results in the unauthorized release of sensitive data, our reputation could be materially damaged. We could also be exposed to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability.
In addition, pursuant to U.S. government regulations regarding cyber-security of government contractors, we might be subject to fines, penalties or other actions, including
debarment, with respect to current contracts or with respect to future contract opportunities.

In addition, we must comply with privacy rights regulations such as The California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), a state statute that became effective January 1,
2020 which enhances the privacy rights and consumer protections for California residents. Among other things, the CCPA establishes statutory damages for victims of data
security breaches, and provides additional rights for consumers to obtain their data from any business that has their personally identifying information. Any actual or
perceived failure to comply with the CCPA could lead to investigations, claims, and proceedings by governmental entities and private parties, damages for breach, and other
significant costs, penalties, and other liabilities, as well as harm to our reputation.

Our operations are geographically concentrated in California

 Although we operate water and wastewater facilities in a number of states, our water and electric operations are concentrated in California, particularly Southern
California.  As a result, our financial results are largely subject to political, water supply, labor, utility cost and regulatory risks, economic conditions, natural disasters and
other risks affecting California. 

We operate in areas subject to natural disasters

We operate in areas that are prone to earthquakes, fires, mudslides, hurricanes, tornadoes, flooding or other natural disasters.  While we maintain insurance policies
to help reduce our financial exposure, a significant seismic event in Southern California, where GSWC's operations are concentrated, wildfires or other natural disasters in
any of the areas that we serve could adversely impact our ability to deliver water and electricity or provide wastewater service and adversely affect our costs of operations. 
With respect to GSWC, the CPUC has historically allowed utilities to establish a catastrophic event memorandum account to potentially recover such costs. With respect to
the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, costs associated with response to natural disasters have been recoverable through requests for equitable adjustment.

 Our operations may be the target of terrorist activities

Terrorists could seek to disrupt service to our customers by targeting our assets.  We have invested in additional security for facilities throughout our regulated
service areas to mitigate the risks of terrorist activities. We also may be prevented from providing water and/or wastewater services at the military bases we serve in times of
military crisis affecting these bases.

The final determination of our income tax liability may be materially different from our income tax provision

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes. Our calculation of the provision for income taxes is subject to our interpretation of
applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file. In addition, our income tax returns are subject to periodic examination by the Internal Revenue Service and other
taxing authorities.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act") was signed into federal law. The provisions of this major tax reform were generally effective
January 1, 2018, including a reduction of the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% - the most significant change for Registrant. To account for the effects of the
Tax Act, Registrant remeasured its deferred tax balances as reflected in its December 31, 2017 and subsequent financial statements. Technical corrections or other forms of
guidance addressing the Tax Act, as well as regulatory or governmental actions, could result in adjustments to Registrant's remeasurement and accounting for the effects of
the Tax Act.

In December 2014, the Company changed its tax method of accounting to permit the expensing of qualifying utility asset improvement costs that were previously
being capitalized and depreciated for tax purposes. Our determination of costs that qualify as a capital asset versus an immediate tax deduction for utility asset improvements
is subject to subsequent
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adjustment arising from review by taxing authorities, and may impact the deductions that were taken on previously filed tax returns.

Although we believe our income tax estimates are appropriate, there is no assurance that the final determination of our current taxes payable will not be materially
different, either higher or lower, from the amounts reflected in our financial statements. In the event we are assessed additional income taxes, our financial condition and cash
flows could be adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

 None.
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Item 2. Properties

Water Properties

As of December 31, 2019, GSWC’s physical properties consisted of water transmission and distribution systems which included 2,791 miles of pipeline together
with services, meters and fire hydrants and approximately 450 parcels of land, generally less than one acre each, on which are located wells, pumping plants, reservoirs and
other water utility facilities, including four surface water treatment plants.  GSWC also has franchises, easements and other rights of way for the purpose of accessing wells
and tanks and constructing and using pipes and appurtenances for transmitting and distributing water. All of GSWC's properties are located in California.

 As of December 31, 2019, GSWC owned 240 wells, of which 186 are active with an aggregate production capacity of approximately 187 million gallons per day.
GSWC has 58 connections to the water distribution facilities of the MWD and other municipal water agencies. GSWC’s storage reservoirs and tanks have an aggregate
capacity of approximately 112.4 million gallons. GSWC owns no dams. The following table provides information regarding the water utility plant of GSWC: 

Pumps  Distribution Facilities  Reservoirs  

Well  Booster  Mains*  Services  Hydrants  Tanks  Capacity*  
240  385  2,791  260,920  26,369  140  112.4 (1)

* Reservoir capacity is measured in millions of gallons. Mains are in miles.

 (1)  GSWC has additional capacity in its Bay Point system and in its Cordova system through exclusive capacity rights to use 4.4 million gallons per day from a treatment
plant owned by the Contra Costa Water District, and a capacity right to use 4.5 million gallons per day from a treatment plant owned by the Carmichael Water District,
respectively.  GSWC also has additional reservoir capacity through an exclusive right to use all of one eight-million-gallon reservoir, one-half of another eight-million-gallon
reservoir, and one-half of a treatment plant’s capacity, all owned by the Three Valleys Municipal Water District and used to serve the cities of Claremont and San Dimas.

Electric Properties

     GSWC’s electric properties are located in the Big Bear area of San Bernardino County, California. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC owned and operated approximately
87.8 miles of overhead 34.5 kilovolt (kv) sub-transmission lines, 6.49 miles of underground 34.5 kv sub-transmission lines, 490.7 miles of 4.16 kv or 2.4 kv distribution lines,
113.3 miles of underground cable, 13 sub-stations and a natural gas-fueled 8.4 MW peaking generation facility. GSWC also has franchises, easements and other rights of way
for the purpose of constructing and using poles, wires and other appurtenances for transmitting electricity.

Adjudicated and Other Water Rights

     GSWC owns groundwater and surface water rights in California.  Groundwater rights are further subject to classification as either adjudicated or unadjudicated rights. 
Adjudicated rights have been established through comprehensive litigation in the courts, and the annual extraction quantities and use of the adjudicated rights are often
subject to the provisions of the judgment for that particular groundwater basin. Additionally, as a result of the adjudication, many of these groundwater basins are managed
by a watermaster that is charged with enforcing the provisions of the judgment, which may include determining operating safe yields based on the water supply conditions of
the groundwater basin. GSWC actively manages its adjudicated groundwater rights portfolio to ensure that this source of supply is optimized and is sustainable.
Unadjudicated rights are subject to further regulation by the State Water Resources Control Board (“SWRCB”) and the California Department of Water Resources. Surface
water rights are quantified and managed by the SWRCB, unless the surface water rights originated prior to 1914. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC had adjudicated
groundwater rights and surface water rights of 72,399 and 11,335 acre-feet per year, respectively. GSWC also has a number of unadjudicated groundwater rights, which have
not been quantified, but are typically measured by historical usage. 

Office Buildings

     GSWC owns its general headquarters facility in San Dimas, California. GSWC also owns and leases customer service offices and office space throughout California.
ASUS leases office facilities in Georgia, Virginia, Texas and North Carolina, and owns service centers in Maryland, South Carolina, Virginia, North Carolina and Kansas.

Mortgage and Other Liens

     As of December 31, 2019, neither AWR, GSWC, ASUS, nor any of its subsidiaries, had any mortgage debt or liens securing indebtedness outstanding. Under the terms of
certain debt instruments, AWR and GSWC are prohibited from issuing any secured debt, without providing equal and ratable security to the holders of this existing debt.

20



Table of Contents

Condemnation of Properties

     The laws of the state of California provide for the acquisition of public utility property by governmental agencies through their power of eminent domain, also known as
condemnation, where doing so constitutes a more necessary use. In addition, these laws provide that the owner of utility property (i) may contest whether the condemnation is
actually necessary, and (ii) is entitled to receive the fair market value of its property if the property is ultimately taken.

Environmental Clean-Up and Remediation of Properties

GSWC has been involved in environmental remediation and clean-up at a plant site ("Chadron Plant") that contained an underground storage tank which was used to
store gasoline for its vehicles. This tank was removed from the ground in July 1990 along with the dispenser and ancillary piping. Since then, GSWC has been involved in
various remediation activities at this site.

GSWC has accrued an estimated liability which includes costs for two years of continued activities of cleanup and monitoring, and site-closure-related activities.
The ultimate cost may vary as there are many unknowns in remediation of underground gasoline spills and this is an estimate based on currently available information.
Management believes it is probable that the estimated additional costs will be approved for inclusion in rate base by the CPUC.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Registrant is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, some of which may include claims for compensatory and punitive damages.
Management believes that rate recovery, proper insurance coverage and reserves are in place to insure against, among other things, property, general liability, employment,
and workers’ compensation claims incurred in the ordinary course of business. Insurance coverage may not cover certain claims involving punitive damages.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative 5-year total return on American States Water Company's Common Shares relative to the cumulative total returns of the
S&P 500 index and a peer group of seven publicly traded companies headquartered in the United States. The seven companies included in the Company's customized peer
group are: American Water Works Company Inc., Aqua America Inc., Artesian Resources Corporation, California Water Service Group, Middlesex Water Company, York
Water Company and SJW Group.

An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our Common Shares, and in the common stock in the index and in the
peer group on December 31, 2014. Relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2019.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
among American States Water Company, the S&P 500 Index,

and a Peer Group
 

*$100 invested on December 31, 2014 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
 
Copyright© 2020 Standard & Poor's, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved

 
12/2014  12/2015  12/2016  12/2017  12/2018  12/2019

American States Water Company $ 100.00  $ 113.91  $ 126.45  $ 164.09  $ 193.48  $ 253.82
S&P 500 $ 100.00  $ 101.38  $ 113.51  $ 138.29  $ 132.23  $ 173.86
Peer Group $ 100.00  $ 112.91  $ 138.99  $ 177.99  $ 175.95  $ 237.45
 

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Market Information Relating to Common Shares

Common Shares of American States Water Company are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “AWR.” The intra-day high and low
NYSE prices on the Common Shares for each quarter during the past two years were:

 
Stock Prices

 
High  Low

2019   
 

First Quarter $ 72.50  $ 63.27
Second Quarter $ 76.43  $ 67.52
Third Quarter $ 94.39  $ 73.64
Fourth Quarter $ 96.00  $ 82.54
    

2018
 

 
 

First Quarter $ 60.00  $ 50.16
Second Quarter $ 58.82  $ 51.30
Third Quarter $ 61.66  $ 57.13
Fourth Quarter $ 69.61  $ 58.48

The closing price of the Common Shares of American States Water Company on the NYSE on February 20, 2020 was $90.23.

Approximate Number of Holders of Common Shares

As of February 20, 2020, there were 2,135 holders of record of the 36,859,505 outstanding Common Shares of American States Water Company. AWR owns all of
the outstanding Common Shares of GSWC and ASUS. ASUS owns all of the outstanding stock of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.

Frequency and Amount of Any Dividends Declared and Dividend Restrictions

For the last two years, AWR has paid dividends on its Common Shares on or about March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1. The following table lists the
amounts of dividends paid on Common Shares of American States Water Company:

 
2019  2018

First Quarter $ 0.275  $ 0.255
Second Quarter $ 0.275  $ 0.255
Third Quarter $ 0.305  $ 0.275
Fourth Quarter $ 0.305  $ 0.275
Total $ 1.160  $ 1.060

AWR’s ability to pay dividends is subject to the requirement in its revolving credit facility to maintain compliance with all covenants described in footnote (14) to
the table in the section entitled “Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” included in Part II, Item 7, in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. GSWC’s maximum ability to pay dividends is restricted by certain Note Agreements to the sum of $21.0 million
plus 100% of consolidated net income from certain dates plus the aggregate net cash proceeds received from capital stock offerings or other instruments convertible into
capital stock from various dates. Under the most restrictive of the Note Agreements, $473.9 million was available from GSWC to pay dividends to AWR as of December 31,
2019. GSWC is also prohibited under the terms of senior notes from paying dividends if, after giving effect to the dividend, its total indebtedness to capitalization ratio (as
defined) would be more than 0.6667-to-1.  GSWC would have to issue additional debt of $661.4 million to invoke this covenant as of December 31, 2019.

Under California law, AWR, GSWC and ASUS are each permitted to distribute dividends to its shareholders and repurchase its shares so long as the Board of
Directors determines, in good faith, that either: (i) the value of the corporation’s assets equals or exceeds the sum of its total liabilities immediately after the dividend, or
(ii) its retained earnings equals or exceeds the amount of the distribution.  
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Under the least restrictive of the California tests, approximately $346.0 million was available to pay dividends to AWR’s common shareholders and repurchase
shares from AWR’s common shareholders at December 31, 2019. Approximately $257.4 million was available for GSWC to pay dividends to AWR at December 31, 2019
and approximately $62.1 million was available for ASUS to pay dividends to AWR at December 31, 2019. However, ASUS's ability to pay dividends is further subject to the
ability of each of its subsidiaries to pay dividends to it, which may, in turn, be restricted by the laws under the state in which the applicable subsidiary was formed.

AWR paid $42.7 million in dividends to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $38.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
GSWC paid dividends of $20.2 million and $68.9 million to AWR in 2019 and 2018, respectively. ASUS paid dividends of $22.5 million and $10.1 million to AWR in 2019
and 2018, respectively.

Other Information

The shareholders of AWR have approved the material features of all equity-compensation plans under which AWR directly issues equity securities. AWR did not
directly issue any unregistered equity securities during 2019.

The following table provides information about AWR repurchases of its Common Shares during the fourth quarter of 2019:

Period  
Total Number of

Shares Purchased  
Average Price Paid

per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

(1)  

Maximum Number
of Shares That May
Yet Be Purchased

under the Plans or Programs (1)
(3)

October 1 - 31, 2019  473  $ 93.99  —  —
November 1 - 30, 2019  20,763  $ 88.05  —  —
December 1 - 31, 2019  2,670  $ 85.25  —  —
Total  23,906 (2) $ 87.85  —  

(1)         None of the Common Shares were repurchased pursuant to any publicly announced stock repurchase program.

(2)         Of this amount, 20,235 Common Shares were acquired on the open market for employees pursuant to the 401(k) Plan and the remainder of the Common Shares were acquired on the
open market for participants in the Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

(3)         Neither the 401(k) plan nor the Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan contains a maximum number of common shares that may be purchased in the open market.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY (AWR):

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  2019  2018  2017 (1)  2016  2015

Income Statement Information:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Total Operating Revenues  $ 473,869  $ 436,816  $ 440,603  $ 436,087  $ 458,641
Total Operating Expenses (2)  346,796  335,833  313,508  321,895  339,721
Operating Income (2)  127,073  100,983  127,095  114,192  118,920
Interest Expense  24,586  23,433  22,582  21,992  21,088
Interest Income  3,249  3,578  1,790  757  458
Net Income  $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 69,367  $ 59,743  $ 60,484
Basic Earnings per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.73  $ 1.88  $ 1.63  $ 1.61
Fully Diluted Earnings per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 1.88  $ 1.62  $ 1.60
Average Shares Outstanding  36,814  36,733  36,638  36,552  37,389
Average number of Diluted Shares Outstanding  36,964  36,936  36,844  36,750  37,614
Dividends paid per Common Share  $ 1.160  $ 1.060  $ 0.994  $ 0.914  $ 0.874
           
Balance Sheet Information:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Total Assets (3)  $ 1,641,331  $ 1,501,433  $ 1,416,734  $ 1,470,493  $ 1,343,959
Common Shareholders’ Equity  601,530  558,223  529,945  494,297  465,945
Long-Term Debt (3)  280,996  281,087  321,039  320,981  320,900
Total Capitalization  $ 882,526  $ 839,310  $ 850,984  $ 815,278  $ 786,845

GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY (GSWC):

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017 (1)  2016  2015

Income Statement Information:           
Total Operating Revenues  $ 359,378  $ 329,608  $ 340,301  $ 338,702  $ 364,550
Total Operating Expenses (2)  254,286  249,046  234,430  243,515  263,887
Operating Income (2)  105,092  80,562  105,871  95,187  100,663
Interest Expense  23,399  22,621  22,055  21,782  20,998
Interest Income  1,867  2,890  1,766  749  440
Net Income  $ 66,663  $ 48,012  $ 53,757  $ 46,969  $ 47,591
           

Balance Sheet Information:           
Total Assets (3)  $ 1,522,454  $ 1,389,222  $ 1,326,823  $ 1,384,178  $ 1,271,879
Common Shareholder’s Equity  551,188  503,575  474,374  446,770  423,730
Long-Term Debt (3)  280,996  281,087  321,039  320,981  320,900
Total Capitalization  $ 832,184  $ 784,662  $ 795,413  $ 767,751  $ 744,630

(1) 2017 results include an $8.3 million pretax gain, or $0.13 per share, from the sale of GSWC's Ojai water system.

(2) Registrant adopted Accounting Standards Update ASU 2017-07, Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost, as of January 1, 2018 on a retrospective basis. As a result, service costs
for defined benefit pension plans and other retirement benefits continue to be reflected as operating expenses, while all other components of net benefit cost for retirement plans (such as interest
cost, expected return on assets, and the amortization of prior service costs and actuarial gains and losses) are presented outside of operating income. Total Operating Expenses and Operating
Income have been restated for all periods presented above.

(3) Registrant adopted Accounting Standard Update 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs as of December 31, 2016, whereby debt issuance costs and redemption premiums
are presented as a direct reduction from the carrying value of the associated debt rather than as an asset. Total Assets and Long-Term Debt have been restated for 2015 presented above.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

The following discussion and analysis provides information on AWR’s consolidated operations and assets, and, where necessary, includes specific references to
AWR’s individual segments and/or its subsidiaries: GSWC and ASUS and its subsidiaries.  Included in the following analysis is a discussion of water and electric gross
margins.  Water and electric gross margins are computed by subtracting total supply costs from total revenues.  Registrant uses these gross margins as important measures in
evaluating its operating results.  Registrant believes these measures are useful internal benchmarks in evaluating the performance of GSWC.

The discussions and tables included in the following analysis also present Registrant’s operations in terms of earnings per share by business segment.  Registrant
believes that the disclosure of earnings per share by business segment provides investors with clarity surrounding the performance of its different services.  Furthermore, the
retroactive earnings impact for fiscal 2018 resulting from the CPUC's final decision on the electric general rate case issued in August 2019, has been excluded when
communicating the electric segment's 2019 financial results to help facilitate comparisons of the company’s performance from period to period.

Registrant reviews these measurements regularly and compares them to historical periods and to its operating budget. However, these measures, which are not
presented in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other enterprises and should
not be considered as an alternative to operating income or earnings per share, which are determined in accordance with GAAP. A reconciliation of water and electric gross
margins to the most directly comparable GAAP measures is included in the table under the section titled “Operating Expenses: Supply Costs.”  Reconciliations to AWR’s
diluted earnings per share are included in the discussions under the sections titled “Summary Results by Segment.”

Overview

Factors affecting our financial performance are summarized under Forward-Looking Information.

Water and Electric Segments:

GSWC's revenues, operating income and cash flows are earned primarily through delivering potable water to homes and businesses in California and the delivery of
electricity in the Big Bear area of San Bernardino County, California. Rates charged to GSWC customers are determined by the CPUC. These rates are intended to allow
recovery of operating costs and a reasonable rate of return on capital.  GSWC plans to continue to seek additional rate increases in future years from the CPUC to recover
operating and supply costs and receive reasonable returns on invested capital. Capital expenditures in future years at GSWC are expected to remain at higher levels than
depreciation expense. When necessary, GSWC obtains funds from external sources in the capital markets and through bank borrowings.

General Rate Case Filings and Other Matters:

Water Segment:    

In July 2017, GSWC filed a general rate case application for all of its water regions and the general office to determine new rates for the years 2019 - 2021. On May
30, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on GSWC's water general rate case with rates retroactive to January 1, 2019. Among other things, the final decision approves in
its entirety an August 2018 settlement agreement that had been entered into between GSWC and the CPUC’s Public Advocates Office. As a result, the final decision
authorizes GSWC to invest approximately $334.5 million over the rate cycle. The $334.5 million of infrastructure investment includes $20.4 million of capital projects to be
filed for revenue recovery through advice letters when those projects are completed.

Excluding the advice letter project revenues, the new rates approved increased the water gross margin for 2019 by approximately $7.1 million, adjusted for updated
inflation index values since the August 2018 settlement, as compared to the 2018 adopted water gross margin. The 2019 water revenue requirement has been reduced to
reflect a decrease of approximately $7.0 million in depreciation expense, compared to the adopted 2018 depreciation expense, due to a reduction in the overall composite
depreciation rates based on a revised study filed in the general rate case. The decrease in depreciation expense lowers the water gross margin and is offset by a corresponding
decrease in depreciation expense, resulting in no impact to net earnings. In addition, the 2019 water revenue requirement includes a decrease of approximately $2.2 million
for excess deferred tax refunds as a result of the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act"), with a corresponding decrease in income tax expense also resulting in no impact to
net earnings. Had depreciation remained the same as the 2018 adopted amount and there were no excess deferred tax refunds that lowered the 2019 revenue requirement, the
water gross margin for 2019 would have increased by approximately $16.3 million.

As a result of the May 2019 CPUC final decision, GSWC implemented new water rates on June 8, 2019. The CPUC in the final decision also approved the recovery
of previously incurred costs that were being tracked in CPUC-authorized
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memorandum accounts. This resulted in a reduction to administrative and general expense of approximately $1.1 million, or $0.02 per share, which was recorded during the
second quarter of 2019. The final decision also allowed for a water gross margin increase of approximately $10.4 million from new customer rates for 2020, which were
effective January 1, 2020, as well as a potential additional increase of approximately $11.4 million in 2021, subject to the results of an earnings test and changes to the
forecasted inflationary index values.

Electric Segment:

In May 2017, GSWC filed its electric general rate case application with the CPUC to determine new electric rates for the years 2018 through 2021. In November
2018, GSWC and the Public Advocates Office filed a joint motion to adopt a settlement agreement between the two parties resolving all issues in connection with the general
rate case.

On August 15, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on this general rate case, adopting the settlement agreement in its entirety. Among other things, the decision
(i) extends the rate cycle by one year (new rates were effective for 2018 - 2022); (ii) increases the electric gross margin for 2018 by approximately $2.3 million compared to
the 2017 adopted electric gross margin, adjusted for Tax Act changes; (iii) authorizes BVES to construct all the capital projects requested in its application, which are
dedicated to improving system safety and reliability and total approximately $44 million over the 5-year rate cycle; and (iv) increases the adopted electric gross margin by
$1.2 million for each of the years 2019 and 2020, by $1.1 million in 2021, and by $1.0 million in 2022. The rate increases for 2019 - 2022 are not subject to an earnings test.
The decision authorizes a return on equity for GSWC's electric segment of 9.60%, as compared to its previously authorized return of 9.95% and includes a capital structure
and debt cost that is consistent with those approved by the CPUC in March 2018 in connection with GSWC's water segment cost of capital proceeding.

Due to the delay in finalizing the electric general rate case, electric revenues recognized during 2018 were based on 2017 adopted rates. Because the August 2019
CPUC final decision is retroactive to January 1, 2018, the cumulative retroactive earnings impact was recorded as part of fiscal 2019 results, which includes approximately
$0.04 per share relating to fiscal 2018.

Contracted Services Segment:

ASUS's revenues, operating income and cash flows are earned by providing water and/or wastewater services, including operation and maintenance services and
construction of facilities at the water and/or wastewater systems at various military installations, pursuant to 50-year firm fixed-price contracts. The contract price for each of
these 50-year contracts is subject to annual economic price adjustments. Additional revenues generated by contract operations are primarily dependent on new construction
activities under contract modifications with the U.S. government or agreements with other third-party prime contractors.

Fort Riley:    

On July 1, 2018, ASUS assumed the operation, maintenance and construction management of the water distribution and wastewater collection and treatment
facilities at Fort Riley, a United States Army installation located in Kansas, after completing a transition period and a detailed inventory study. The contract was awarded by
the U.S. government in September 2017 with a value of $681 million over a 50-year period. The 50-year contract is also subject to annual economic price adjustments.

Summary Results by Segment
  

The table below sets forth a comparison of diluted earnings per share by business segment for AWR’s operations: 

 
Diluted Earnings per Share

 
Year Ended  

 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE

Water $ 1.61  $ 1.19  $ 0.42
Electric, adjusted (2019 excludes retroactive impact of CPUC decision in the general
rate case related to 2018) 0.15  0.11  0.04
Contracted services 0.47  0.42  0.05
AWR (parent) 0.01  —  0.01

Consolidated diluted earnings per share, adjusted 2.24  1.72  0.52
Retroactive impact of CPUC decision in the electric general rate case related to the
full year of 2018 0.04  —  0.04

Totals from operations, as reported $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 0.56
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Water Segment:

Diluted earnings per share from the water segment for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by $0.42 per share as compared to the same period in 2018
largely due to the approval of the water general rate case in May 2019 and effective January 1, 2019. Also included in the earnings for 2019 was a $1.1 million reduction to
administrative and general expense, positively impacting earnings by $0.02 per share, which reflects the CPUC's approval received in the general rate case for recovery of
costs previously expensed as incurred and tracked in memorandum accounts. Excluding this $0.02 per share impact, diluted earnings per share from the water segment for
2019 increased by $0.40 per share due to the following items (excluding billed surcharges):

• An overall increase in the water gross margin of $0.21 per share, largely as a result of the May 2019 CPUC decision on the general rate case, which approved new
water rates and adopted supply costs for 2019. The 2019 water revenue requirement has also been reduced to reflect a decrease in depreciation expense, due to a
reduction in the overall composite depreciation rates based on a revised study filed in the general rate case. The decrease in depreciation expense lowers the water
gross margin and is offset by a corresponding decrease in depreciation expense, resulting in no impact to net earnings.

• An overall decrease in operating expenses (excluding supply costs) increased earnings by approximately $0.11 per share due, in large part, to lower depreciation
expense. As discussed above, the lower depreciation expense is reflected in the new revenue requirement approved in the general rate case. There was also a
decrease in administrative and general expenses primarily due to lower regulatory-related costs resulting from timing of the rate case cycle and when such costs are
incurred. These decreases were partially offset by an overall increase in labor costs and property and other taxes.

• An increase in interest and other income (net of interest expense), which increased earnings by approximately $0.05 per share due to gains generated during 2019 on
Registrant's investments held to fund a retirement benefit plan, as compared to losses incurred during 2018 due to market conditions. These gains were partially
offset by interest income on a federal tax refund recorded in 2018 with no similar item in 2019, and an increase in interest expense resulting from higher borrowings
to fund a portion of GSWC’s capital expenditures.

• Changes in the water segment’s effective income tax rate resulting from certain flow-through taxes and permanent items for the year ended December 31, 2019 as
compared to the same period in 2018, increased earnings at the water segment by approximately $0.03 per share.

Electric Segment:

The CPUC's August 2019 final decision on the electric general rate case set new rates for 2018 through 2022 and was retroactive to January 1, 2018. As a result, the
retroactive impact of the new electric rates for all of fiscal 2018 has been reflected in the results for 2019. Of the electric segment's $0.19 earnings per share for the year
ended December 31, 2019, approximately $0.04 per share relates to the full year ended December 31, 2018, which is shown on a separate line in the table above.

Excluding the retroactive impact related to 2018, diluted earnings from the electric segment for 2019 were $0.15 per share as compared to $0.11 per share for the
same period in 2018. The increase was due to a higher electric gross margin as a result of new rates authorized by the CPUC's August 2019 final decision, partially offset by
an increase in operating expenses and a higher effective income tax rate as compared to 2018 due to changes in certain flow-through taxes.

Contracted Services Segment:

For the year ended December 31, 2019, diluted earnings from contracted services were $0.47 per share, compared to $0.42 per share for the same period in 2018.
This was due, in part, to the commencement of operations at Fort Riley in July 2018. There was also an increase in management fees at several other military bases due to the
successful resolution of various price adjustments during 2018 and 2019.

AWR (parent):

For the year ended December 31, 2019, diluted earnings from AWR (parent) increased $0.01 per share compared to 2018 due primarily to changes in state unitary
taxes.

The following discussion and analysis for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 provides information on AWR’s consolidated operations and assets and,
where necessary, includes specific references to AWR’s individual segments and subsidiaries: GSWC and ASUS and its subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Results of Operations — Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

 Year Ended  Year Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

OPERATING REVENUES
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Water $ 319,830  $ 295,258  $ 24,572  8.3 %
Electric 39,548  34,350  5,198  15.1 %
Contracted services 114,491  107,208  7,283  6.8 %

Total operating revenues 473,869  436,816  37,053  8.5 %
        
OPERATING EXPENSES

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Water purchased 72,289  68,904  3,385  4.9 %
Power purchased for pumping 8,660  8,971  (311)  -3.5 %
Groundwater production assessment 18,962  19,440  (478)  -2.5 %
Power purchased for resale 11,796  11,590  206  1.8 %
Supply cost balancing accounts (7,026)  (15,649)  8,623  -55.1 %
Other operation 32,756  31,650  1,106  3.5 %
Administrative and general 83,034  82,595  439  0.5 %
Depreciation and amortization 35,397  40,425  (5,028)  -12.4 %
Maintenance 15,466  15,682  (216)  -1.4 %
Property and other taxes 20,042  18,404  1,638  8.9 %
ASUS construction 55,673  53,906  1,767  3.3 %
Gain on sale of assets (253)  (85)  (168)  197.6 %

Total operating expenses 346,796  335,833  10,963  3.3 %
        
OPERATING INCOME 127,073  100,983  26,090  25.8 %
        
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Interest expense (24,586)  (23,433)  (1,153)  4.9 %
Interest income 3,249  3,578  (329)  -9.2 %
Other, net 3,276  760  2,516  331.1 %

 

(18,061)  (19,095)  1,034  -5.4 %
        
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 109,012  81,888  27,124  33.1 %
        

Income tax expense 24,670  18,017  6,653  36.9 %
        
NET INCOME $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 20,471  32.1 %

        
Basic earnings per Common Share $ 2.28  $ 1.73  $ 0.55  31.8 %

        
Fully diluted earnings per Common Share $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 0.56  32.6 %
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Operating Revenues

General

GSWC relies upon approvals by the CPUC of rate increases to recover operating expenses and to provide for a return on invested and borrowed capital used to fund
utility plant. Registrant relies on economic price and equitable adjustments by the U.S. government in order to recover operating expenses and provide a profit margin for
ASUS.  Current operating revenues and earnings can be negatively impacted if the Military Privatization Subsidiaries do not receive adequate price increases or adjustments
in a timely manner.  ASUS’s earnings are also impacted by the level of additional construction projects at the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, which may or may
not continue at current levels in future periods.

Water

For the year ended December 31, 2019, revenues from water operations increased by $24.6 million to $319.8 million, compared to the year ended December 31,
2018. This increase was a result of new CPUC-approved water rates effective January 1, 2019 as part of the May 2019 general rate case final decision. There were also
revenue increases related to CPUC-approved surcharges resulting from the May 2019 decision, as well as surcharges to cover increases in supply costs experienced in most
ratemaking areas. The increase in surcharge revenues was offset by a corresponding increase in operating expenses, resulting in no impact to earnings.

Billed water consumption for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased approximately 6% as compared to 2018. In general, changes in consumption do not have
a significant impact on recorded revenues due to the CPUC-approved WRAM accounts in place in the majority of GSWC's rate-making areas. GSWC records the difference
between what it bills its water customers and that which is authorized by the CPUC in the WRAM accounts as regulatory assets or liabilities.

Electric

For the year ended December 31, 2019, revenues from electric operations were $39.5 million as compared to $34.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
This increase was primarily due to new rates approved in the August 2019 CPUC final decision on the electric general rate case, which were retroactive to January 1, 2018.
Included in revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 was approximately $2.3 million which related to the full year of 2018.

 Billed electric usage for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased 3% as compared to the same period in 2018.  Due to the CPUC-approved base revenue
requirement adjustment mechanism ("BRRAM"), which adjusts base revenues to adopted levels authorized by the CPUC, changes in usage do not have a significant impact
on earnings.

Contracted Services

Revenues from contracted services are composed of construction revenues (including renewal and replacements) and management fees for operating and
maintaining the water and/or wastewater systems at various military bases.  For the year ended December 31, 2019, revenues from contracted services were $114.5 million as
compared to $107.2 million for 2018.  The increase was primarily due to the commencement of operations at Fort Riley in July 2018.

ASUS's subsidiaries continue to enter into U.S. government-awarded contract modifications and agreements with third-party prime contractors for new construction
projects at the military bases served. During 2019, ASUS was awarded approximately $23 million in new construction projects for completion in 2019 and 2020. Earnings
and cash flows from modifications to the original 50-year contracts with the U.S. government and agreements with third-party prime contractors for additional construction
projects may or may not continue in future periods.
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Operating Expenses:

Supply Costs

Supply costs for the water segment consist of purchased water, purchased power for pumping, groundwater production assessments and changes in the water supply
cost balancing accounts. Supply costs for the electric segment consist primarily of purchased power for resale, the cost of natural gas used by BVES’s generating unit, the
cost of renewable energy credits and changes in the electric supply cost balancing account. Water and electric gross margins are computed by subtracting total supply costs
from total revenues. Registrant uses these gross margins and related percentages as an important measure in evaluating its operating results. Registrant believes these
measures are useful internal benchmarks in evaluating the utility business performance within its water and electric segments. Registrant reviews these measurements
regularly and compares them to historical periods and to its operating budget. However, these measures, which are not presented in accordance with GAAP, may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other enterprises and should not be considered as an alternative to operating income, which is determined in accordance with
GAAP.

Total supply costs comprise the largest segment of total operating expenses. Supply costs accounted for 30.2% and 27.8% of total operating expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The table below provides the amounts (in thousands) of increases (decreases) and percent changes in water and electric
revenues, supply costs and gross margins during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. There was an increase in surcharges of $1.4 million recorded in water
revenues to recover previously incurred costs, which did not impact water earnings. Surcharges to recover previously incurred costs are recorded to revenues when billed to
customers and are offset by a corresponding amount in operating expenses, resulting in no impact to earnings.

 Year Ended  Year Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

WATER OPERATING REVENUES (1) $ 319,830  $ 295,258  $ 24,572  8.3 %
WATER SUPPLY COSTS:       

 

Water purchased (1) 72,289  68,904  3,385  4.9 %
Power purchased for pumping (1) 8,660  8,971  (311)  -3.5 %
Groundwater production assessment (1) 18,962  19,440  (478)  -2.5 %
Water supply cost balancing accounts (1) (8,153)  (17,116)  8,963  -52.4 %

TOTAL WATER SUPPLY COSTS $ 91,758  $ 80,199  $ 11,559  14.4 %

WATER GROSS MARGIN (2) $ 228,072  $ 215,059  $ 13,013  6.1 %

       
ELECTRIC OPERATING REVENUES (1) $ 39,548  $ 34,350  $ 5,198  15.1 %
ELECTRIC SUPPLY COSTS:       

Power purchased for resale (1) 11,796  11,590  206  1.8 %
Electric supply cost balancing accounts (1) 1,127  1,467  (340)  -23.2 %

TOTAL ELECTRIC SUPPLY COSTS $ 12,923  $ 13,057  $ (134)  -1.0 %

ELECTRIC GROSS MARGIN (2) $ 26,625  $ 21,293  $ 5,332  25.0 %

(1)         As reported on AWR’s Consolidated Statements of Income, except for supply-cost-balancing accounts. The sums of water and electric supply-cost balancing accounts in the table above
are shown on AWR’s Consolidated Statements of Income and totaled $(7,026,000) and $(15,649,000) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Revenues include
surcharges that have no net earnings impact because they increase both revenues and operating expenses by corresponding amounts.  

(2)         Water and electric gross margins do not include depreciation and amortization, maintenance, administrative and general, property and other taxes, and other operation expenses.

     Two of the principal factors affecting water supply costs are the amount of water produced and the source of the water. Generally, the variable cost of producing water
from wells is less than the cost of water purchased from wholesale suppliers. Under the CPUC-approved Modified Cost Balancing Account ("MCBA"), GSWC tracks
adopted and actual expense levels for purchased water, power purchased for pumping and pump taxes. GSWC records the variances (which include the effects of changes in
both rate and volume) between adopted and actual purchased water, purchased power and pump tax expenses. GSWC recovers from or refunds to customers the amount of
such variances.  GSWC tracks these variances individually for each water ratemaking area.
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The overall actual percentages for purchased water for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 44% and 41%, respectively, as compared to the adopted
percentages of 36% and 28% for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The higher actual percentages of purchased water as compared to adopted percentages resulted primarily from
several wells being out of service. For 2020, the percentage of purchased water is expected to continue being higher than the adopted percentage. Purchased water costs for
the year ended December 31, 2019 increased to $72.3 million as compared to $68.9 million for the same period in 2018 primarily due to the higher mix of purchased water as
compared to pumped water and an increase in wholesale water costs, partially offset by lower customer usage.

     The cost of power purchased for pumping decreased to $8.7 million in 2019 as compared to $9.0 million for the same period in 2018, and groundwater production
assessments decreased to $19.0 million in 2019 as compared to $19.4 million in 2018. The decrease in both of these areas was due, in part, to a higher mix of purchased water
as compared to pumped water resulting from several wells being out of service as previously discussed, as well as lower customer usage.

 The under-collection in the water supply cost balancing account decreased $9.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in
2018 due to updated adopted supply costs approved in the May 2019 general rate case decision, as well as CPUC-approved rate increases to cover increases in supply costs
experienced in most ratemaking areas.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the cost of power purchased for resale to BVES's customers was $11.8 million as compared to $11.6 million for the same
period in 2018 due to an increase in customer usage, partially offset by a lower average price per megawatt-hour ("MWh"). The average price per MWh, including fixed
costs, decreased to $75.47 per MWh in 2019 from $79.90 per MWh for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Other Operation

The primary components of other operation expenses for GSWC include payroll, materials and supplies, chemicals and water-treatment costs, and outside service
costs of operating the regulated water and electric systems, including the costs associated with transmission and distribution, pumping, water quality, meter reading, billing,
and operations of district offices.  Registrant’s contracted services operations incur many of the same types of expenses.  For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
other operation expenses by business segment consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 23,664  $ 22,525  $ 1,139  5.1 %
Electric Services 2,672  2,809  (137)  -4.9 %
Contracted Services 6,420  6,316  104  1.6 %

Total other operation $ 32,756  $ 31,650  $ 1,106  3.5 %

     For the year ended December 31, 2019, there was an increase in billed surcharges at the water segment related to the recovery of previously incurred other operation-
related expenses of $653,000. This increase in billed surcharges has a corresponding increase in other operation expense, resulting in no impact to earnings. The remaining
increase was mostly due to higher labor costs.
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Administrative and General

Administrative and general expenses include payroll related to administrative and general functions, the related employee benefits, insurance expenses, outside legal
and consulting fees, regulatory utility commission expenses, expenses associated with being a public company and general corporate expenses charged to expense accounts.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, administrative and general expenses by business segment, including AWR (parent), consisted of the following amounts (in
thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 51,755  $ 54,212  $ (2,457)  -4.5 %
Electric Services 8,150  7,944  206  2.6 %
Contracted Services 23,120  20,446  2,674  13.1 %
AWR (parent) 9  (7)  16  *

Total administrative and general $ 83,034  $ 82,595  $ 439  0.5 %

* not meaningful     

For the year ended December 31, 2019, administrative and general expenses at the water segment decreased due, in part, to a $1.1 million reduction to reflect the
CPUC's approval in the May 2019 final decision on the water general rate case for recovery of previously incurred costs that were being tracked in CPUC-authorized
memorandum accounts. The remaining decrease was due primarily to lower regulatory-related costs resulting from timing of the rate case cycle and when such costs are
incurred. GSWC will file its next water general rate case in July 2020 and therefore, regulatory costs are expected to increase in 2020 compared to 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, administrative and general expenses for contracted services increased by $2.7 million due to the commencement of
operations at Fort Riley in July 2018, as well as an increase in legal and labor-related costs.

Depreciation and Amortization

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, depreciation and amortization expense by segment consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 29,956  $ 36,137  $ (6,181)  -17.1 %
Electric Services 2,485  2,258  227  10.1 %
Contracted Services 2,956  2,030  926  45.6 %

Total depreciation and amortization $ 35,397  $ 40,425  $ (5,028)  -12.4 %

The final CPUC decision approved in May 2019 in the water general rate case approved lower overall composite depreciation rates based on a revised depreciation
study. The decrease in composite depreciation rates lowers the adopted water gross margin, with a corresponding decrease in adopted depreciation expense, resulting in no
impact to net earnings. The decrease in depreciation expense resulting from the new composite rates was partially offset by increased depreciation from additions to utility
plant.

The increases in depreciation expense at the electric and contracted services segments were due to plant additions in 2018 and 2019.
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Maintenance
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, maintenance expense by segment consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 11,850  $ 12,102  $ (252)  -2.1 %
Electric Services 993  1,002  (9)  -0.9 %
Contracted Services 2,623  2,578  45  1.7 %

Total maintenance $ 15,466  $ 15,682  $ (216)  -1.4 %

Property and Other Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, property and other taxes by segment, consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 17,034  $ 15,750  $ 1,284  8.2%
Electric Services 1,134  1,059  75  7.1%
Contracted Services 1,874  1,595  279  17.5%

Total property and other taxes $ 20,042  $ 18,404  $ 1,638  8.9%

Property and other taxes increased overall by $1.6 million during 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily due to capital additions and the associated higher assessed
property values. Increases in property taxes are reflected in the new adopted water revenue requirement approved by the CPUC in the general rate case.

ASUS Construction
For the year ended December 31, 2019, construction expenses for contracted services were $55.7 million, increasing by $1.8 million compared to the same period in

2018 due to an overall increase in construction activity as compared to 2018 due, in part, to the commencement of operations at Fort Riley in July 2018.

Interest Expense
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, interest expense by segment, including AWR (parent), consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 21,966  $ 21,212  $ 754  3.6%
Electric Services 1,433  1,409  24  1.7%
Contracted Services 587  362  225  62.2%
AWR (parent) 600  450  150  33.3%

Total interest expense $ 24,586  $ 23,433  $ 1,153  4.9%

The overall increase in interest expense is due to higher average borrowings, as well as an overall increase in the weighted average interest rate incurred during 2019
on the revolving credit facility, as compared to 2018. In March 2019, AWR amended this credit facility to increase its borrowing capacity from $150.0 million to $200.0
million, and in October 2019 further amended the credit facility to temporarily increase its borrowing capacity to $225.0 million, effective until June 30, 2020. Borrowings
made during 2019 were used to repay $40.0 million of GSWC's 6.70% senior note, which matured in March 2019, as well as to fund a portion of GSWC's capital
expenditures. In February 2020, AWR received a binding commitment from its lender for the option to revise the temporary increase of the credit facility to $260.0 million
through the end of 2020. When needed, AWR will be able to exercise this commitment and have immediate access to the additional funds. On December 31, 2020, the
borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million. GSWC intends to issue debt in 2020 and use the proceeds to reduce its intercompany borrowings from AWR and to partially
fund capital expenditures. AWR intends to use the proceeds from GSWC to pay down the amounts outstanding under its credit facility.
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Interest Income

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, interest income by business segment, including AWR (parent), consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 1,662  $ 2,809  $ (1,147)  -40.8 %
Electric Services 205  81  124  *
Contracted Services 1,321  689  632  *
AWR (parent) 61  (1)  62  *

Total interest income $ 3,249  $ 3,578  $ (329)  -9.2 %

* not meaningful

For the year ended December 31, 2019, interest income decreased overall by $329,000 as compared to the same period in 2018 due primarily to interest income
related to a federal tax refund recorded at the water segment in 2018, with no similar item in 2019. This was partially offset by interest income recognized in 2019 on certain
initial construction projects performed at the contacted services segment, as well as interest related to regulatory assets for the electric segment as a result of the August 2019
CPUC final decision.

Other, net

For the year ended December 31, 2019, other income increased by $2.5 million primarily due to gains recorded on investments held for a retirement benefit plan
resulting from favorable market conditions, as compared to losses recorded in 2018. This was partially offset by an increase in the non-service cost components of net
periodic benefit costs related to Registrant's defined benefit pension plans and other retirement benefits. However, as a result of GSWC's pension balancing account
authorized by the CPUC, changes in net periodic benefit costs are mostly offset by corresponding changes in revenues, having no material impact to earnings.

 Income Tax Expense

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, income tax expense by segment, including AWR (parent), consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

 
Year

Ended  
Year

Ended  $  %

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  CHANGE  CHANGE

Water Services $ 17,295  $ 12,391  $ 4,904  39.6%
Electric Services 2,882  1,212  1,670  137.8%
Contracted Services 5,202  4,939  263  5.3%
AWR (parent) (709)  (525)  (184)  35.0%

Total income tax expense $ 24,670  $ 18,017  $ 6,653  36.9%

     Consolidated income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $6.7 million primarily due to an increase in pretax income at all segments. AWR's
consolidated effective income tax rate ("ETR") was 22.6% and 22.0% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase was due primarily to the
increase in GSWC's ETR, which was 23.2% for 2019 as compared to 22.1% for 2018 resulting primarily from net changes in certain permanent and flow-through items,
including the amortization of the excess deferred income tax liability brought about by the lower federal corporate income tax rate beginning in 2018. Partially offsetting the
overall increase in GSWC's ETR were lower state taxes at AWR (parent).
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that are important to the portrayal of AWR’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and require
the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments of AWR’s management. The need to make estimates about the effect of items that are uncertain is what makes these
judgments difficult, subjective and/or complex. Management makes subjective judgments about the accounting and regulatory treatment of many items. The following are
accounting policies that are critical to the financial statements of AWR. For more information regarding the significant accounting policies of Registrant, see Note 1 of “Notes
to Financial Statements” included in Part II, Item 8, in Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

 Accounting for Rate Regulation — Because GSWC operates extensively in a regulated business, it is subject to the authoritative guidance for accounting for the
effects of certain types of regulation.  Application of this guidance requires accounting for certain transactions in accordance with regulations adopted by the regulatory
commissions of the states in which rate-regulated operations are conducted.  Utility companies defer costs and credits on the balance sheet as regulatory assets and liabilities
when it is probable that those costs and credits will be recognized in the ratemaking process in a period different from the period in which they would have been reflected in
income by an unregulated company. These deferred regulatory assets and liabilities are then reflected in the income statement in the period in which the same amounts are
reflected in the rates charged for service.

 Regulation and the effects of regulatory accounting have the most significant impact on the financial statements of GSWC. When GSWC files for adjustments to
rates, the capital assets, operating costs and other matters are subject to review, and disallowances may occur. In the event that a portion of GSWC’s operations is no longer
subject to the accounting guidance for the effects of certain types of regulation, GSWC is required to write-off related regulatory assets that are not specifically recoverable
and determine if other assets might be impaired.  If the CPUC determines that a portion of GSWC’s assets are not recoverable in customer rates, GSWC is required to
determine if it has suffered an asset impairment that would require a write-down in the asset valuation.  Management continually evaluates the anticipated recovery,
settlement or refund of regulatory assets, liabilities, and revenues subject to refund and provides for allowances and/or reserves that it believes to be necessary.  In the event
that GSWC’s assessment as to the probability of the inclusion in the ratemaking process is incorrect, the associated regulatory asset or liability will be adjusted to reflect the
change in assessment or the impact of regulatory approval of rates. Reviews by the CPUC may also result in additional regulatory liabilities to refund previously collected
revenues to customers if the CPUC were to disallow costs included in the ratemaking process.

 Registrant also reviews its utility plant in-service for possible impairment in accordance with accounting guidance for regulated entities for abandonments and
disallowances of plant costs.

 Revenue Recognition — GSWC records water and electric utility operating revenues when the service is provided to customers. Operating revenues include
unbilled revenues that are earned (i.e., the service has been provided) but not billed by the end of each accounting period. Unbilled revenues are calculated based on the
number of days and total usage from each customer’s most recent billing record that was billed prior to the end of the accounting period and is used to estimate unbilled
consumption as of the year-end reporting period.  Unbilled revenues are recorded for both monthly and bi-monthly customers.

 The CPUC granted GSWC the authority to implement revenue decoupling mechanisms through the adoption of the WRAM and the BRRAM.  With the adoption of
these alternative revenue programs, GSWC adjusts revenues in the WRAM and BRRAM for the difference between what is billed to its regulated customers and that which is
authorized by the CPUC.

As required by the accounting guidance for alternative revenue programs, GSWC is required to collect its WRAM and BRRAM balances within 24 months
following the year in which they are recorded.  The CPUC has set the recovery period for under-collected balances that are up to 15% of adopted annual revenues at 18
months or less.  For net WRAM under-collected balances greater than 15%, the recovery period is 19 to 36 months. As a result of the accounting guidance and CPUC-
adopted recovery periods, Registrant must estimate if any WRAM and BRRAM revenues will be collected beyond the 24-month period, which can affect the timing of when
such revenues are recognized.

 ASUS's 50-year firm fixed-price contracts with the U.S. government are considered service concession arrangements under ASC 853 Service Concession
Arrangements. Accordingly, the services under these contracts are accounted for under Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the water and/or wastewater
systems are not recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment on Registrant’s balance sheet. Revenues for ASUS's operations and maintenance contracts are recognized when
services have been rendered to the U.S. government pursuant to 50-year contracts. Revenues from construction activities are recognized based on either the percentage-of-
completion or cost-plus methods of accounting.  In accordance with GAAP, revenue recognition under these methods requires management to estimate the progress toward
completion on a contract in terms of efforts, such as costs incurred.  This approach is used because management considers it to be the best available measure of progress on
these contracts. Changes in job performance, job conditions, change orders and estimated profitability, including those arising from any contract penalty provisions, and final
contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income, and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Unbilled receivables from the U.S.
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government represent amounts to be billed for construction work completed and/or for services rendered pursuant to the 50-year contracts with the U.S government, which
are not presently billable but which will be billed under the terms of the contracts.

Income Taxes — Registrant’s income tax calculations require estimates due principally to the regulated nature of the operations of GSWC, the multiple states in
which Registrant operates, and potential future tax rate changes. Registrant uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes under which deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which these temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Changes in regulatory treatment, or significant changes in tax-related estimates, assumptions or law, could have a material
impact on the financial position and results of operations of Registrant.

 As a regulated utility, GSWC treats certain temporary differences as flow-through adjustments in computing its income tax expense consistent with the income tax
approach approved by the CPUC for ratemaking purposes.  Flow-through adjustments increase or decrease tax expense in one period, with an offsetting decrease or increase
occurring in another period. Giving effect to these temporary differences as flow-through adjustments typically results in a greater variance between the effective tax rate and
the statutory federal income tax rate in any given period than would otherwise exist if GSWC were not required to account for its income taxes as a regulated enterprise. As
of December 31, 2019, Registrant’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was zero.

 Pension Benefits — Registrant’s pension benefit obligations and related costs are calculated using actuarial concepts within the framework of accounting guidance
for employers' accounting for pensions and post-retirement benefits other than pensions.  Two critical assumptions, the discount rate and the expected return on plan assets,
are important elements of expense and/or liability measurement. We evaluate these critical assumptions annually. Other assumptions include employee demographic factors
such as retirement patterns, mortality, turnover and rate of compensation increase. The discount rate enables Registrant to state expected future cash payments for benefits as
a present value on the measurement date. The guideline for setting this rate is a high-quality, long-term corporate bond rate. Registrant’s discount rates were determined by
considering the average of pension yield curves constructed using a large population of high-quality corporate bonds. The resulting discount rates reflect the matching of plan
liability cash flows to the yield curves.  A lower discount rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases periodic pension expense. Conversely, a higher
discount rate decreases the present value of benefit obligations and decreases periodic pension expense.  To determine the expected long-term rate of return on the plan assets,
Registrant considers the current and expected asset allocation, as well as historical and expected returns on each plan asset class. A lower expected rate of return on plan
assets will increase pension expense. The long-term expected return on the pension plan's assets was 6.50% in both 2019 and 2018.

     For the pension plan obligation, Registrant decreased the discount rate to 3.43% as of December 31, 2019 from 4.43% as of December 31, 2018 to reflect market interest-
rate conditions at December 31, 2019. A hypothetical 25-basis point decrease in the assumed discount rate would have increased total net periodic pension expense for 2019
by approximately $761,000, or 17.1%, and would have increased the projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) and accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”) at December 31,
2019 by a total of $8.8 million, or 3.8%.  A 25-basis point further decrease in the long-term return on pension-plan-asset assumption would have increased 2019 pension cost
by approximately $399,000, or 9.0%.

 In addition, changes in the fair value of plan assets will impact future pension cost and the Plan’s funded status.  Volatile market conditions can affect the value of
plan assets held to fund its future long-term pension benefits. Any reductions in the value of plan assets will result in increased future expense, an increase in the underfunded
position and increased future contributions.

 The CPUC has authorized GSWC to maintain two-way balancing accounts to track differences between the forecasted annual pension expenses adopted in rates and
the actual annual expense to be recorded by GSWC in accordance with the accounting guidance for pension costs.  As of December 31, 2019, GSWC has a $2.7 million over-
collection in the two-way pension balancing accounts, consisting of a $1.5 million over-collection related to the general office and water regions, and a $1.2 million over-
collection related to BVES.

Funding requirements for qualified defined benefit pension plans are determined by government regulations.  In establishing the contribution amount, Registrant has
considered the potential impact of funding-rule changes under the Pension Protection Act of 2006. Registrant contributes the minimum required contribution as determined
by government regulations or the forecasted annual pension cost authorized by the CPUC and included in customer rates, whichever is higher. In accordance with this
funding policy, for 2020 the pension contribution is expected to be approximately $3.3 million. Any differences between the forecasted annual pension costs in rates and the
actual pension costs are included in the two-way pension balancing accounts.  Additionally, market factors can affect assumptions we use in determining funding
requirements with respect to our pension plan. For example, a relatively modest change in our assumptions regarding discount rates can materially affect our
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calculation of funding requirements. To the extent that market data compels us to reduce the discount rate used in our assumptions, our benefit obligations could materially
increase.

 Changes in demographics, including increased numbers of retirees or increases in life expectancy assumptions may also increase the funding requirements of our
obligations related to the pension and other postretirement benefit plans.  Mortality assumptions are a critical component of benefit obligation amounts and a key factor in
determining the expected length of time for annuity payments. Assuming no changes in actuarial assumptions or plan amendments, the costs over the long term are expected
to decrease due to the closure of Registrant’s defined benefit pension plan to new employees as of January 1, 2011.  Employees hired or rehired after December 31, 2010 are
eligible to participate in a defined contribution plan.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

     AWR

Registrant’s regulated business is capital intensive and requires considerable capital resources. A portion of these capital resources is provided by internally
generated cash flows from operations. AWR anticipates that interest expense will increase in future periods due to the need for additional external capital to fund its
construction program and as market interest rates increase. AWR believes that costs associated with capital used to fund construction at GSWC will continue to be recovered
through water and electric rates charged to customers.

AWR funds its operating expenses and pays dividends on its outstanding Common Shares primarily through dividends from its wholly owned subsidiaries. The
ability of GSWC to pay dividends to AWR is restricted by California law. Under these restrictions, approximately $257.4 million was available for GSWC to pay dividends
to AWR on December 31, 2019. Approximately $62.1 million was available for ASUS to pay dividends to AWR as of December 31, 2019 to the extent that the subsidiaries
of ASUS are able to pay dividends in that amount to ASUS under applicable state laws.

When necessary, Registrant obtains funds from external sources in the capital markets and through bank borrowings. Access to external financing on reasonable
terms depends on the credit ratings of AWR and GSWC and current business conditions, including that of the water utility industry in general, as well as conditions in the
debt and equity capital markets.

AWR borrows under a credit facility, which expires in May 2023, and provides funds to its subsidiaries, GSWC and ASUS, in support of their operations.  The
interest rate charged to GSWC and ASUS is sufficient to cover AWR’s interest expense under the credit facility. In March 2019, AWR amended this credit facility to increase
its borrowing capacity from $150.0 million to $200.0 million, and in October 2019 further amended the credit facility to temporarily increase its borrowing capacity to
$225.0 million, effective until June 30, 2020. In February 2020, AWR received a binding commitment from its lender for the option to revise the temporary increase of the
credit facility to $260.0 million through the end of 2020. When needed, AWR will be able to exercise this commitment and have immediate access to the additional funds. On
December 31, 2020, the borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million. As of December 31, 2019, there was $205.0 million outstanding under this facility. Management
intends to seek additional financing in 2020 through the issuance of long-term debt at GSWC.  GSWC intends to use the proceeds from any additional long-term debt to
reduce its intercompany borrowings and to partially fund capital expenditures.  AWR parent intends to use any financing proceeds from GSWC to pay down the amounts
outstanding under its credit facility.

In December 2019, Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings (“S&P”) affirmed an A+ credit rating with a stable outlook on both AWR and GSWC. S&P’s debt ratings
range from AAA (highest possible) to D (obligation is in default). In May 2019, Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") affirmed its A2 rating with a revised outlook from
positive to stable for GSWC. Securities ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold a security, and are subject to change or withdrawal at any time by the rating
agencies.  Registrant believes that AWR’s sound capital structure and A+ credit rating, combined with its financial discipline, will enable AWR to access the debt and equity
markets.  However, unpredictable financial market conditions in the future may limit its access or impact the timing of when to access the market, in which case Registrant
may choose to temporarily reduce its capital spending.

AWR’s ability to pay cash dividends on its Common Shares outstanding depends primarily upon cash flows from its subsidiaries. AWR intends to continue paying
quarterly cash dividends in the future, on or about March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1, subject to earnings and financial conditions, regulatory requirements and
such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant. Registrant has paid dividends on its Common Shares for over 80 consecutive years.  On January 28, 2020,
AWR's Board of Directors approved a first quarter dividend of $0.305 per share on AWR's Common Shares. Dividends on the Common Shares will be paid on March 2, 2020
to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 14, 2020. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash flows from operating activities have generally provided sufficient cash to fund operating requirements, including a portion of construction expenditures at
GSWC, construction expenses at ASUS and dividend payments. Registrant’s future cash flows from operating activities are expected to be affected by a number of factors,
including utility regulation; changes in tax law and deferred taxes; maintenance expenses; inflation; compliance with environmental, health and safety standards; production
costs; customer growth; per-customer usage of water and electricity; weather and seasonality; conservation efforts; compliance with local governmental requirements,
including mandatory restrictions on water use; and required cash contributions to pension and post-retirement plans.  Future cash flows from contracted services subsidiaries
will depend on new business activities, existing operations, the construction of new and/or replacement infrastructure at military bases, timely economic price and equitable
adjustment of prices and timely collection of payments from the U.S. government and other prime contractors operating at the military bases.    
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The lower federal tax rate and the elimination of bonus depreciation brought about by the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") have and are expected to continue
to reduce Registrant's cash flows from operating activities and result in higher financing costs arising from an increased need to borrow and/or issue equity securities more
frequently. Pursuant to a CPUC directive, the 2018 impact of the Tax Act on the water adopted revenue requirement was tracked in a memorandum account effective January
1, 2018. On July 1, 2018, new lower water rates, which incorporated the new federal income tax rate, were implemented for all water ratemaking areas. As a result of
receiving the May 2019 CPUC final decision on the water general rate case, in the third quarter of 2019 GSWC refunded to water customers approximately $7.2 million of
over-collections recorded in this memorandum account as a one-time surcredit.

ASUS funds its operating expenses primarily through internal operating sources, which include U.S. government funding under 50-year contracts for operations and
maintenance costs and construction activities, as well as investments by, or loans from, AWR. ASUS, in turn, provides funding to its subsidiaries. ASUS's subsidiaries may
also from time to time provide funding to ASUS or its subsidiaries.

Cash flows from operating activities are primarily generated by net income, adjusted for non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization.  Cash generated
by operations varies during the year. Net cash provided by operating activities was $116.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $136.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018.  There was a decrease in cash receipts in 2019 due to lower water customer usage, delays in receiving decisions on the water and electric
general rate cases and also the refunding of $7.2 million to water customers during the third quarter related to the Tax Act. The decrease in water customer usage increases
the under-collection balance in the WRAM regulatory asset, which is filed annually for recovery. These decreases in cash flows were partially offset by an increase in cash
resulting from the timing in billing of and cash receipts for construction work at military bases during 2019. The billings (and cash receipts) for construction work at our
contracted services segment generally occur at completion of the work or in accordance with a billing schedule contractually agreed to with the U.S. government and/or other
prime contractors. Thus, cash flow from construction-related activities may fluctuate from period to period with such fluctuations representing timing differences of when the
work is being performed and when the cash is received for payment of the work. The timing of cash receipts and disbursements related to other working capital items also
affected the change in net cash provided by operating activities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Net cash used in investing activities was $153.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $128.0 million used in 2018. The increase in cash
used in investing activities during 2019 was due to an increase in capital expenditures as compared to 2018. Cash used for other investments consists primarily of cash
invested in a trust for a retirement benefit plan.

Registrant invests capital to provide essential services to its regulated customer base and has an opportunity to earn a fair rate of return on investments in
infrastructure. Registrant’s infrastructure investment plan consists of both infrastructure renewal programs, where infrastructure is replaced as needed, and major capital
investment projects, where new water treatment and delivery facilities are constructed.  GSWC may also be required from time to time to relocate existing infrastructure in
order to accommodate local infrastructure improvement projects.  Projected capital expenditures and other investments are subject to periodic review and revision.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Registrant’s financing activities include primarily: (i) the sale proceeds from the issuance of Common Shares and stock option exercises and the repurchase of
Common Shares; (ii) the issuance and repayment of long-term debt and notes payable to banks; and (iii) the payment of dividends on Common Shares.  In order to finance
new infrastructure, Registrant also receives customer advances (net of refunds) for, and contributions in aid of, construction. Short-term borrowings are used to fund capital
expenditures until long-term financing is arranged.

 Net cash provided by financing activities was $30.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to net cash used of $1.8 million for the same period
in 2018. The increase in cash provided by financing activities in 2019 was due largely to increased borrowings on Registrant's credit facility to partially fund capital
expenditures, as well as repay $40 million in GSWC debt, which became due in 2019.

GSWC

GSWC funds its operating expenses, payments on its debt, dividends on its outstanding common shares and a portion of its construction expenditures through
internal sources. Internal sources of cash flow are provided primarily by retention of a portion of earnings from operating activities. Internal cash generation is influenced by
factors such as weather patterns, conservation efforts, environmental regulation, litigation, changes in tax law and deferred taxes, changes in supply costs and regulatory
decisions affecting GSWC’s ability to recover these supply costs, timing of rate relief, increases in maintenance expenses and capital expenditures, surcharges authorized by
the CPUC to enable GSWC to recover expenses previously incurred from customers and CPUC requirements to refund amounts previously charged to customers.
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GSWC may, at times, utilize external sources, including equity investments and borrowings from AWR, and long-term debt to help fund a portion of its construction
expenditures.

In addition, GSWC receives advances and contributions from customers, homebuilders and real estate developers to fund construction necessary to extend service to
new areas. Advances for construction are generally refundable at a rate of 2.5% in equal annual installments over 40 years.  Amounts that are no longer subject to refund are
reclassified to contributions in aid of construction. Utility plant funded by advances and contributions is excluded from rate base. Generally, GSWC amortizes contributions
in aid of construction at the same composite rate of depreciation for the related property.

As is often the case with public utilities, GSWC’s current liabilities may at times exceed its current assets.  Management believes that internally generated funds,
along with the proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt, borrowings from AWR and common share issuances to AWR, will be adequate to provide sufficient capital to
enable GSWC to maintain normal operations and to meet its capital and financing requirements pending recovery of costs in rates. The CPUC requires GSWC to completely
pay down all intercompany borrowings from AWR within a 24-month period. The end of the next 24-month period in which GSWC is required to completely pay down its
intercompany borrowings will be in November 2020. As a result, GSWC’s intercompany borrowings of $158.8 million as of December 31, 2019 have been classified as a
current liability on GSWC’s balance sheet. GSWC intends to use the proceeds from any new long-term debt to reduce its intercompany borrowings and to partially fund
capital expenditures. AWR parent intends to use any financing proceeds from GSWC to pay down the amounts outstanding under its credit facility.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Net cash provided by operating activities was $96.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $120.4 million for the same period in 2018.  The
decrease in cash receipts in 2019 as compared to 2018 was due to lower water customer usage, delays in receiving decisions on the water and electric general rate cases and
also the refunding of $7.2 million to water customers during the third quarter of 2019 related to the Tax Act. The decrease in water customer usage increases the under-
collection balance in the WRAM regulatory asset, which is filed annually for recovery. The timing of cash receipts and disbursements related to other working capital items
also affected the change in net cash provided by operating activities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Net cash used in investing activities was $144.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $117.9 million for the same period in 2018. The
increase in cash used in investing activities during 2019 was due to an increase in capital expenditures as compared to 2018.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, cash paid for capital expenditures was $142.9 million and $116.4 million, respectively. Capital expenditures
incurred in 2019 and 2018 were consistent with GSWC’s capital investment program. GSWC expects 2020 company-funded capital expenditures to be between $120 and
$135 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Net cash provided by financing activities was $43.8 million for 2019 as compared to net cash used of $1.4 million for 2018. The increase in net cash provided by
financing activities during 2019 was due to an increase in intercompany borrowings as compared to 2018. These proceeds were used to partially fund capital expenditures
and to repay $40.0 million of GSWC debt, which matured in 2019. There was also a decrease in dividends paid by GSWC to AWR parent in 2019 as compared to 2018.
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Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

Registrant has various contractual obligations which are recorded as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.  Other items, such as certain purchase
commitments and operating leases, are not recognized as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements but are required to be disclosed. In addition to contractual
maturities, Registrant has certain debt instruments that contain annual sinking funds or other principal payments. Registrant believes that it will be able to refinance debt
instruments at their maturity through public issuance or private placement of debt or equity. Annual payments to service debt are generally made from cash flows from
operations.

 The following table reflects Registrant’s contractual obligations and commitments to make future payments pursuant to contracts as of December 31, 2019. The
table reflects only financial obligations and commitments. Therefore, performance obligations associated with our 50-year firm, fixed-price contracts with the U.S.
government at our contracted services segment are not included in the amounts below. All obligations and commitments are obligations and commitments of GSWC unless
otherwise noted.

 

 Payments/Commitments Due by Period (1)

($ in thousands)  Total  
Less than 1

Year  1-3 Years  4-5 Years  After 5 Years

Notes/Debentures (2)  $ 187,000  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 187,000
Private Placement Notes (3)  83,000  —  —  —  83,000
Tax-Exempt Obligations (4)  11,293  156  348  378  10,411
Other Debt Instruments (5)  3,406  188  409  453  2,356

Total AWR Long-Term Debt  $ 284,699  $ 344  757  $ 831  $ 282,767
           
Interest on Long-Term Debt (6)  $ 234,813  $ 18,890  $ 37,721  $ 37,648  $ 140,554
Advances for Construction (7)  67,350  3,361  6,708  6,660  50,621
Renewable Energy Credit Agreement (8)  2,323  465  1,858  —  —
Purchased Power Contracts (9)  26,347  6,224  11,157  8,966  —
Capital Expenditures (10)  50,878  50,878  —  —  —
Water Purchase Agreements (11)  4,116  417  834  834  2,031
Operating Leases (12)  15,983  2,709  4,750  3,278  5,246
Employer Contributions (13)  6,469  3,326  3,143  —  —

SUB-TOTAL  $ 408,279  $ 86,270  $ 66,171  $ 57,386  $ 198,452

Other Commitments (14)  214,802         

TOTAL  $ 907,780         

(1) Excludes dividends and facility fees.

(2) The notes and debentures have been issued by GSWC under an Indenture dated September 1, 1993, as amended in December 2008. The notes and debentures do not
contain any financial covenants that Registrant believes to be material or any cross-default provisions.

(3) GSWC issued private placement notes in 1991 in the amount of $28 million pursuant to the terms of note purchase agreements with substantially similar terms. These
agreements contain restrictions on the payment of dividends, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum debt-to-capitalization ratio, and a negative pledge.
Pursuant to the terms of these agreements, GSWC must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of two times interest expense.  In addition, a senior note in the amount
of $40 million was issued by GSWC in October 2005 to CoBank, ACB. A senior note in the amount of $15 million was issued to The Prudential Insurance Company of
America in December 2014. Under the terms of these senior notes, GSWC may not incur any additional debt or pay any distributions to its shareholders if, after giving
effect thereto, it would have a debt to capitalization ratio in excess of 0.6667-to-1 or a debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ratio of more
than 8-to-1. GSWC is in compliance with these covenant provisions as of December 31, 2019.  GSWC does not currently have any outstanding mortgages or other liens on
indebtedness on its properties.

(4) Consists of obligations at GSWC related to (i) a loan agreement supporting $7.7 million in outstanding debt issued by the California Pollution Control Financing
Authority, and (ii) $3.6 million of obligations with respect to GSWC's 500 acre-foot entitlement to water from the State Water Project (“SWP”). These obligations do not
contain any financial covenants
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believed to be material to Registrant or any cross-default provisions. In regard to its SWP entitlement, GSWC has entered into agreements with various developers for a
portion of its 500 acre-foot entitlement to water from the SWP.

(5) Consists of the outstanding debt portion of funds received under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act for reimbursements of capital costs related to the
installation of meters for conversion of non-metered service to metered service in GSWC's Arden-Cordova District.

(6) Consists of expected interest expense payments based on the assumption that GSWC’s long-term debt remains outstanding until maturity. 

(7) Advances for construction represent contract refunds by GSWC to developers for the cost of water systems paid for by the developers. The advances are generally
refundable in equal annual installments over 40-year periods.

(8) Consists of an agreement by GSWC to purchase renewable energy credits through 2023. These renewable energy credits are used by GSWC's electric division to meet
California's renewables portfolio standard.

(9) Consists of BVES fixed-cost purchased power contracts executed in September 2019 with Exelon Generation Company, LLC and Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc.

(10) Consists primarily of capital expenditures estimated to be required under signed contracts at GSWC as of December 31, 2019. 

(11) Water purchase agreements consist of (i) a remaining amount of $2.1 million under an agreement expiring in 2028 to use water rights from a third party, and (ii) an
aggregate amount of $2.0 million of other water purchase commitments with other third parties, which expire through 2038.

(12) Reflects future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases for both GSWC and ASUS.

(13) Consists of expected contributions to Registrant's defined benefit pension plan for the years 2020 through 2021. Contribution to the pension plan are expected to be the
higher of the minimum required contribution under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) or the amounts that are recovered in customer rates and
approved by the CPUC. These amounts are estimates and are subject to change based on, among other things, the limits established for federal tax deductibility (pension
plan) and the significant impact that returns on plan assets and changes in discount rates have on such amounts.

(14) Other commitments consist primarily of (i) a $225 million revolving credit facility, of which $205.0 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2019; (ii) a $8.9
million asset retirement obligation of GSWC that reflects the retirement of wells by GSWC, which by law need to be properly capped at the time of removal; (iii) an
irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $340,000 for the deductible in Registrant’s business automobile insurance policy; (iv) an irrevocable letter of credit issued on
behalf of GSWC in the amount of $585,000 as security for the purchase of power by BVES under an energy scheduling agreement with Automated Power Exchange; and
(v) a $15,000 irrevocable letter of credit issued on behalf of GSWC pursuant to a franchise agreement with the City of Rancho Cordova. In February 2020, AWR received
a binding commitment from its lender for the option to temporarily increase the revolving credit facility to $260.0 million through the end of 2020. When needed, AWR
will be able to exercise this commitment and have immediate access to the additional funds. On December 31, 2020, the borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million.
All of the letters of credit are issued pursuant to the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility contains restrictions on prepayments, disposition of property,
mergers, liens and negative pledges, indebtedness and guaranty obligations, transactions with affiliates, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum debt-to-
capitalization ratio, and a minimum debt rating. Pursuant to the credit agreement, AWR must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.25 times interest expense, a
maximum total funded debt ratio of 0.65-to-1.00 and a minimum debt rating from Moody’s or S&P of Baa3 or BBB-, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, AWR was in
compliance with these covenants with an interest coverage ratio of 6.89 times interest expense, a debt ratio of 0.45-to-1.00 and debt ratings of A+ and A2.

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

Registrant has various contractual obligations that are recorded as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.  Other items, such as certain purchase
commitments, are not recognized as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements but are required to be disclosed.  Except for those disclosed above in the table,
Registrant does not have any other off-balance-sheet arrangements.
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Effects of Inflation

The rates of GSWC are established to provide recovery of costs and a fair return on shareholders’ investment.  Recovery of the effects of inflation through higher
water rates is dependent upon receiving adequate and timely rate increases; however, authorized rates charged to customers are usually based on a forecast of expenses and
capital costs for GSWC. Rates may lag increases in costs caused by unanticipated inflation.  During periods of moderate to low inflation, as has been experienced for the last
several years, the effects of inflation on operating results have not been significant.  Furthermore, the CPUC approves projections for a future test year in general rate cases
which reduces the impact of inflation to the extent that GSWC’s inflation forecasts are accurate.

For the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, under the terms of the contracts with the U.S. government, the contract price is subject to an economic price
adjustment on an annual basis.  ASUS has experienced delays in some of its economic price adjustments. However, when adjustments are finalized, they are implemented
retroactively to the effective date of the economic price adjustment.

Climate Change

Water - GSWC considers the potential impacts of climate change in its water supply portfolio planning and its overall infrastructure replacement plans. In addition,
GSWC considers the impacts of greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental concerns in its operations and infrastructure investments.

Electric - California has established a cap-and-trade program applicable to greenhouse gas emissions.  While BVES’s power-plant emissions are below the reporting
threshold, as a “Covered Entity” BVES has an obligation to file a report in June of each year under the Greenhouse Gas Mandatory Reporting Regulation.

The State of California and the CPUC have also established renewable energy procurement targets. BVES has entered into a CPUC-approved ten-year contract for
renewable energy credits. Because of this agreement, BVES believes it will comply through at least 2023 with California’s renewable energy statutes that address this issue.

BVES is also required to comply with the CPUC’s greenhouse gas emission performance standards. Under these standards, BVES must file an annual attestation
with the CPUC stating that BVES is in compliance. Specifically, BVES must attest to having no new ownership investment in generation facilities exceeding the emission
performance standards and no long-term commitments for generation exceeding the standards. In February 2020, BVES filed an attestation that BVES complied with the
standards for 2019. At this time, management cannot estimate the impact, if any, that these regulations may have on future costs over BVES’s power plant operations or the
cost of BVES’s purchased power from third party providers.

BVES Power-Supply Arrangements

BVES began taking power pursuant to purchased power contracts approved by the CPUC effective in the fourth quarter of 2019 at a fixed cost over three and five-
year terms depending on the amount of power and period during which the power is purchased under the contracts. In addition to the purchased power contracts, BVES buys
additional energy to meet peak demand as needed and sells surplus power when necessary. The average price per MWh, including fixed costs, decreased to $75.47 per MWh
in 2019 from $79.90 per MWh for the year ended December 31, 2018. BVES’s average energy costs are impacted by pricing fluctuations on the spot market. However,
BVES has implemented an electric-supply-cost balancing account, as approved by the CPUC, to alleviate any impacts to earnings.

Construction Program

GSWC maintains an ongoing water distribution main replacement program throughout its customer service areas based on the age and type of distribution-system
materials, priority of leaks detected, remaining productive life of the distribution system and an underlying replacement schedule. In addition, GSWC upgrades its electric
and water supply facilities in accordance with industry standards, local and CPUC requirements, and new legislation.  In September 2018, the California legislature enacted
Senate Bill (SB) 901 mandating investor-owned electric utilities to submit an annual wildfire mitigation plan to the CPUC for approval. SB 901 requires all electric utilities
to prepare plans on constructing, maintaining, and operating their electrical lines and equipment to minimize the risk of catastrophic wildfire.

As of December 31, 2019, GSWC has unconditional purchase obligations for capital projects of approximately $50.9 million.  During the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, GSWC had capital expenditures of $140.8 million, $125.1 million and $115.3 million, respectively.  A portion of these capital expenditures was funded
by developers through contributions in aid of construction, which are not required to be repaid, and refundable advances. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, capital expenditures funded by developers were $4.7 million, $4.1 million and $3.5 million, respectively. During 2020, GSWC's company-funded capital
expenditures are estimated to be approximately $120 - $135 million.
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Contracted Services

     Under the terms of the current and future utility privatization contracts with the U.S. government, each contract's price is subject to an economic price adjustment (“EPA”)
on an annual basis. In the event that ASUS (i) is managing more assets at specific military bases than were included in the U.S. government’s request for proposal, (ii) is
managing assets that are in substandard condition as compared to what was disclosed in the request for proposal, (iii) prudently incurs costs not contemplated under the terms
of the utility privatization contract, and/or (iv) becomes subject to new regulatory requirements, such as more stringent water-quality standards, ASUS is permitted to file,
and has filed, requests for equitable adjustment (“REA”). The timely filing for and receipt of EPAs and/or REAs continues to be critical in order for the Military Utility
Privatization Subsidiaries to recover increasing costs of operating, maintaining, renewing, and replacing the water and/or wastewater systems at the military bases it serves.

Under the Budget Control Act of 2011 (the “2011 Act”), substantial automatic spending cuts, known as "sequestration," have impacted the expected levels of
Department of Defense budgeting. The Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries have not experienced any earnings impact to their existing operations and maintenance and
renewal and replacement services, as utility privatization contracts are an "excepted service" within the 2011 Act. While the ongoing effects of sequestration have been
mitigated through the passage of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 for fiscal years 2018 and 2019, similar issues may arise as part of fiscal uncertainty and/or future debt-
ceiling limits imposed by Congress. However, any future impact on ASUS and its operations through the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries will likely be limited to
(a) the timing of funding to pay for services rendered, (b) delays in the processing of EPAs and/or REAs, (c) the timing of the issuance of contract modifications for new
construction work not already funded by the U.S. government, and/or (d) delays in the solicitation for and/or awarding of new contracts under the Department of Defense
utility privatization program. Furthermore, from December 22, 2018 until January 25, 2019, the U.S. government shutdown impacted non-essential government employees
due to the lack of an approved appropriations bill to fund the operations of the federal government for fiscal year 2019. However, the shutdown did not have any meaningful
impact on ASUS due to the fact that funding for military operations (including military bases) is provided by the Department of Defense, which is fully funded for fiscal year
2019 and was not part of the government shutdown. There were no further shutdowns during the remainder of 2019 and the start of 2020 as two continuing resolutions and a
spending package were passed allowing the federal government funding to continue for 2020.

At times, the DCAA and/or the DCMA may, at the request of a contracting officer, perform audits/reviews of contractors for compliance with certain government
guidance and regulations, such as the Federal Acquisition Regulations and Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplements. Certain audit/review findings, such as
system deficiencies for government-contract-business-system requirements, may result in delays in the resolution of filings submitted to and/or the ability to file new
proposals with the U.S. government.

Below is a summary of current and projected EPA filings for price adjustments to operations and maintenance fees and renewal and replacement fees for the Military
Utility Privatization Subsidiaries in fiscal 2020.

Military Base  EPA period  Filing Date
Fort Bliss (FBWS)  October 2019 - September 2020  Third Quarter 2019
Andrews Air Force Base (TUS)  February 2020 - January 2021  Fourth Quarter 2019
Fort Lee (ODUS)  February 2020 - January 2021  Fourth Quarter 2019
Joint Base Langley Eustis and Joint Expeditionary Base Little Creek Fort Story (ODUS)  April 2020 - March 2021  First Quarter of 2020
Fort Jackson (PSUS)  February 2020 - January 2021  Fourth Quarter 2019
Fort Bragg (ONUS)  March 2020 - February 2021  First Quarter 2020
Eglin Air Force Base (ECUS)  June 2020 - May 2021  Second Quarter 2020
Fort Riley (FRUS)  July 2020 - June 2021  Second Quarter 2020

ASUS assumed the operation of the water distribution and wastewater collection and treatment facilities at Fort Riley on July 1, 2018. The value of this contract is
approximately $681.0 million over its 50-year term, subject to annual economic price adjustments.
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Regulatory Matters

Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity

GSWC holds Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity (“CPCN”) granted by the CPUC in each of the ratemaking areas it serves. ASUS is regulated, if
applicable, by the state in which it primarily conducts water and/or wastewater operations. FBWS holds a CPCN from the Public Utilities Commission of Texas.  The
Virginia State Corporation Commission exercises jurisdiction over ODUS as a public service company. The Maryland Public Service Commission approved the right of TUS
to operate as a water and wastewater utility at Joint Base Andrews, Maryland, based on certain conditions. The South Carolina Public Service Commission exercises
jurisdiction over PSUS as a public service company.  ONUS is regulated by the North Carolina Public Service Commission. ECUS and FRUS are not subject to regulation by
their respective states' utility commissions.

Rate Regulation

GSWC is subject to regulation by the CPUC which has broad authority over service and facilities, rates, classification of accounts, valuation of properties, the
purchase, disposition and mortgaging of properties necessary or useful in rendering public utility service, the issuance of securities, the granting of certificates of public
convenience and necessity as to the extension of services and facilities and various other matters.

Rates that GSWC is authorized to charge are determined by the CPUC in general rate cases and are derived using rate base, cost of service and cost of capital, as
projected for a future test year. Rates charged to customers vary according to customer class and rate jurisdiction and are generally set at levels allowing for recovery of
prudently incurred costs, including a fair return on rate base.  Rate base generally consists of the original cost of utility plant in service, plus certain other assets, such as
working capital and inventory, less accumulated depreciation on utility plant in service, deferred income tax liabilities and certain other deductions.

GSWC is required to file a water general rate case application every three years according to a schedule established by the CPUC. General rate cases typically
include an increase in the first test year with inflation-rate adjustments for expenses for the second and third years of the rate case cycle.  For capital projects, there are two
test years. Rates are based on a forecast of expenses and capital costs for each test year. Electric general rate cases are typically filed every four years. Rates may also be
increased by offsets for certain expense increases, including, but not limited to, supply-cost offset and balancing-account amortization, advice letter filings related to certain
plant additions and other operating cost increases.

Neither the operations nor rates of AWR and ASUS are directly regulated by the CPUC. The CPUC does, however, regulate certain transactions between GSWC and
ASUS and between GSWC and AWR. 

General Rate Case Filings

Water Segment:    

In July 2017, GSWC filed a general rate case application for all of its water regions and the general office to determine new rates for the years 2019 - 2021. On May
30, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on GSWC's water general rate case with rates retroactive to January 1, 2019. Among other things, the final decision approves in
its entirety an August 2018 settlement agreement that had been entered into between GSWC and the CPUC’s Public Advocates Office. As a result, the final decision
authorizes GSWC to invest approximately $334.5 million over the rate cycle. The $334.5 million of infrastructure investment includes $20.4 million of capital projects to be
filed for revenue recovery through advice letters when those projects are completed.

Excluding the advice letter project revenues, the new rates approved increased the adopted water gross margin for 2019 by approximately $7.1 million, adjusted for
updated inflation index values since the August 2018 settlement, as compared to the 2018 adopted water gross margin. The 2019 water revenue requirement has been reduced
to reflect a decrease of approximately $7.0 million in depreciation expense, compared to the adopted 2018 depreciation expense, due to a reduction in the overall composite
depreciation rates based on a revised study filed in the general rate case. The decrease in depreciation expense lowers the water gross margin and is offset by a corresponding
decrease in depreciation expense, resulting in no impact to net earnings. In addition, the 2019 water revenue requirement includes a decrease of approximately $2.2 million
for excess deferred tax refunds as a result of the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act"), with a corresponding decrease in income tax expense also resulting in no impact to
net earnings. Had depreciation remained the same as the 2018 adopted amount and there were no excess deferred tax refunds that lowered the 2019 revenue requirement, the
water gross margin for 2019 would have increased by approximately $16.3 million.

As a result of the May 2019 CPUC final decision, GSWC implemented new water rates on June 8, 2019. The final decision also allowed for a water gross margin
increase of approximately $10.4 million from new customer rates for 2020, which were effective January 1, 2020, as well as an additional increase of approximately $11.4
million in 2021, subject to the results of an earnings test and changes to the forecasted inflationary index values.
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Electric Segment:

In May 2017, GSWC filed its electric general rate case application with the CPUC to determine new electric rates for the years 2018 through 2021. In November
2018, GSWC and the Public Advocates Office filed a joint motion to adopt a settlement agreement between the two parties resolving all issues in connection with the general
rate case.

On August 15, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on this general rate case, adopting the settlement agreement in its entirety. Among other things, the decision
(i) extends the rate cycle by one year (new rates will be effective for 2018 - 2022); (ii) increases the adopted electric gross margin for 2018 by approximately $2.3 million
compared to the 2017 adopted electric gross margin, adjusted for Tax Act changes; (iii) authorizes BVES to construct all the capital projects requested in its application,
which are dedicated to improving system safety and reliability and total approximately $44 million over the 5-year rate cycle; and (iv) increases the adopted electric gross
margin by $1.2 million for each of the years 2019 and 2020, by $1.1 million in 2021, and by $1.0 million in 2022. The rate increases for 2019 - 2022 are not subject to an
earnings test. The decision authorizes a return on equity for GSWC's electric segment of 9.60%, as compared to its previously authorized return of 9.95% and includes a
capital structure and debt cost that is consistent with those approved by the CPUC in March 2018 in connection with GSWC's water segment cost of capital proceeding.

Cost of Capital Proceedings    

In March 2018, the CPUC issued a final decision in the cost of capital proceeding for GSWC and three other water utilities serving California for the years 2018 -
2020. Among other things, the final decision adopted for GSWC's water segment a return on equity of 8.90%, with a return on rate base of 7.91%. The previously authorized
return on equity for GSWC’s water segment was 9.43%, with a return on rate base of 8.34%.

Investor-owned water utilities serving California are required to file their cost of capital applications on a triennial basis with the next scheduled filing to take place
on May 1, 2020 effective for the years 2021 - 2023. In January 2020, GSWC, along with the three other water utilities, requested an extension of the date by which each of
them must file its 2020 cost of capital applications. If approved, the request would postpone this filing date by one year until May 1, 2021, with a corresponding effective
date of January 1, 2022. As part of this request, the joint parties agreed to leave the current Water Cost of Capital Mechanism in place, but that there will be no changes to the
respective costs of capital during the one-year extension, regardless of what the mechanism might otherwise indicate. The joint parties are currently awaiting the CPUC's
response to the joint request.

Other Regulatory Matters

Application to Transfer Electric Utility Operations to New Subsidiary:

GSWC filed applications with the CPUC and the FERC in December 2018 and July 2019, respectively, to transfer the assets and liabilities of the BVES division of
GSWC to Bear Valley Electric Service, Inc., a newly created separate legal entity and stand-alone subsidiary of AWR.  Due to the differences in operations, regulations, and
risks, management believes a separate electric legal entity and stand-alone subsidiary of AWR is in the best interests of customers, employees, and the communities served. 
The FERC and CPUC approved GSWC's application for reorganization in October and December of 2019, respectively. The reorganization plan is pending the completion of
certain closing procedures to effectuate the transfer of assets and liabilities including, among other things, an additional FERC approval for tariffs. When completed, the
reorganization plan is not expected to result in a substantive change to AWR's operations and business segments.

Wildfire Mitigation Plan and New California Legislation:

In September 2018, the California legislature enacted Senate Bill (SB) 901 mandating investor-owned electric utilities to submit an annual wildfire mitigation plan
(WMP) to the CPUC for approval. SB 901 requires all electric utilities to prepare plans on constructing, maintaining, and operating their electrical lines and equipment to
minimize the risk of catastrophic wildfire. In February 2019 BVES filed its first WMP, which was subsequently approved by the CPUC in June 2019. Among other things,
the WMP approves capital projects and programs dedicated to improving system safety and reliability and, specifically, aimed at reducing the possibility of wildfires. Upon
approval in June 2019, BVES commenced executing its WMP immediately. BVES filed its second WMP with the CPUC on February 7, 2020.

Additionally, the California legislature enacted Assembly Bill (AB) 1054 in July 2019, which among other things, changed the burden of proof applicable in CPUC
proceedings in which an electric utility with a valid safety certification seeks to recover wildfire costs. Traditionally, an electric utility seeking to recover costs has the burden
to prove that it acted reasonably. Under AB 1054, if an electric utility has a valid safety certification, it will be presumed to have acted reasonably unless a party to the
relevant proceeding creates a “serious doubt” as to the reasonableness of the utility’s conduct. BVES received its initial safety certification from the CPUC on February 4,
2020.
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AB 1054 also establishes a Wildfire Fund to pay eligible claims arising from a covered wildfire under certain circumstances.  The Wildfire Fund is expected to be
funded partially by electrical corporation shareholders, and partly by ratepayers.  California's three largest electric utilities are participating in the Wildfire Fund. Other
investor-owned electric utilities (referred to as “regional” utilities), including GSWC's BVES division have decided not to participate.  It is highly unlikely that the Wildfire
Fund will have any financial value for regional utilities such as BVES because withdrawals by a regional utility are capped per wildfire at three times the regional utility’s
aggregate initial and annual contributions and withdrawals may only be made if and to the extent that the amount of the claims against the utility (which must be settled or
finally adjudicated) in a given year exceed the greater of the amount of the utility’s insurance or $1 billion dollars. It is remote that claims within BVES's service territory
from a wildfire will reach the $1 billion minimum, and if they did, the claims would likely exceed the amount that the electric division would be able to access from the
Wildfire Fund.

Solar Energy Project:

BVES is subject to the California renewables portfolio standard (“RPS”) law, which requires BVES to meet certain targets for purchases of energy from qualified
renewable energy resources. BVES has purchased renewable energy credits from sources outside its service territory, which are being used towards meeting the RPS
requirements. However, to ensure local area reliability and help meet its RPS requirements over the long-term, in December 2019, BVES filed an application with the CPUC
for the development of a turn-key solar project within its service territory. BVES has selected a 7.9-megawatt solar generation project that will be constructed by a third party
and will be connected directly with BVES’s existing distribution system, which will help in achieving California’s energy and environmental goals. BVES estimates the total
cost of this solar project to be approximately $14.3 million. In December 2019, BVES filed a joint motion to adopt a settlement agreement between BVES and the CPUC’s
Public Advocates Office for approval to acquire, own and operate the solar generation project upon completion. The CPUC is scheduled to issue a proposed decision in this
proceeding during the second quarter of 2020.

For more information regarding significant regulatory matters, see Note 3 of “Notes to Financial Statements” included in Part II, Item 8, in Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Environmental Matters

AWR’s subsidiaries are subject to stringent environmental regulations. GSWC is required to comply with the safe drinking water standards established by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (“U.S. EPA”) and the Division of Drinking Water ("DDW"), under the State Water Resources Control Board ("SWRCB").  The U.S. EPA
regulates contaminants that may have adverse health effects that are known or likely to occur at levels of public health concern, and the regulation of which will provide a
meaningful opportunity for health risk reduction. The DDW, acting on behalf of the U.S. EPA, administers the U.S. EPA’s program in California. Similar state agencies
administer these rules in the other states in which Registrant operates.

GSWC currently tests its water supplies and water systems according to, among other things, requirements listed in the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act (“SDWA”).
GSWC works proactively with third parties and governmental agencies to address issues relating to known contamination threatening GSWC water sources. GSWC also
incurs operating costs for testing to determine the levels, if any, of the constituents in its sources of supply and additional expense to treat contaminants in order to meet the
federal and state maximum contaminant level standards and consumer demands. GSWC expects to incur additional capital costs as well as increased operating costs to
maintain or improve the quality of water delivered to its customers in light of anticipated stress on water resources associated with watershed and aquifer pollution, as well as
to meet future water quality standards and consumer expectations. The CPUC ratemaking process provides GSWC with the opportunity to recover prudently incurred capital
and operating costs in future filings associated with achieving water quality standards. Management believes that such incurred and expected future costs should be
authorized for recovery by the CPUC.

Matters Relating to Environmental Cleanup

GSWC has been involved in environmental remediation and cleanup at a plant site (“Chadron Plant”) that contained an underground storage tank that was used to
store gasoline for its vehicles. This tank was removed from the ground in July 1990 along with the dispenser and ancillary piping. Since then, GSWC has been involved in
various remediation activities at this site. 

As of December 31, 2019, the total spent to cleanup and remediate GSWC’s plant facility was approximately $6.3 million, of which $1.5 million has been paid by
the State of California Underground Storage Tank Fund. Amounts paid by GSWC have been included in rate base and approved by the CPUC for recovery. As of
December 31, 2019, GSWC has a regulatory asset and an accrued liability for the estimated additional cost of $1.3 million to complete the cleanup at the site. The estimate
includes costs for continued activities of groundwater cleanup and monitoring, future soil treatment, and site closure related activities. The ultimate cost may vary as there are
many unknowns in remediation of underground gasoline spills and this is an estimate based on currently available information. Management also believes it is probable that
the estimated additional costs will be approved for inclusion in rate base by the CPUC.
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Drinking Water Notification and Response Levels

In July 2018, DDW issued drinking water notification levels for certain fluorinated organic chemicals used to make certain fabrics and other materials, and used in
various industrial processes.  These chemicals were also present in certain fire suppression agents. These chemicals are referred to as perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS).
Notification levels are health-based advisory levels established for contaminants in drinking water for which maximum contaminant levels have not been established. The US
EPA has also established health advisory levels for these compounds. Notification to consumers and stakeholders is required when the advisory levels or notification levels
are exceeded.  Assembly Bill 756, signed into law in July 2019 and effective in January 2020, requires, among other things, additional notification requirements for water
systems detecting levels of PFAS above response levels. GSWC is in the process of collecting and analyzing samples for PFAS under the direction of DDW. GSWC has
removed some wells from service, and expects to incur additional treatment costs to treat impacted wells. GSWC has provided customers with information regarding PFAS
detections, and provided updated information via its website. In February 2020, DDW established new response levels for two of the PFAS compounds: 10 parts per trillion
for perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and 40 parts per trillion for perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS).

Lead Testing in Schools

In January 2017, the California State Water Resources Control Board - Division of Drinking Water (DDW) issued a permit amendment that required all community
water systems to test the schools in their service area for lead, if sampling is requested in writing by the institution’s officials. In addition, the California Assembly passed
Assembly Bill 746 in October 2017, which required all community water systems that serve a school site of a local educational agency with a building constructed before
January 1, 2010, to test for lead in the potable water system of the school site on or before July 1, 2019. GSWC worked extensively with the schools in its service areas. As a
result of concerted outreach to the schools, GSWC completed lead sampling at all schools that were subject to Assembly Bill 746 in its service area in 2019.

Matters Relating to Military Privatization Contracts

Each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries is responsible for testing the water and wastewater systems on the military bases on which it operates in
accordance with applicable law.

Each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries has the right to seek an equitable adjustment to its contract in the event that there are changes in environmental
laws, a change in the quality of water used in providing water service or wastewater discharged by the U.S. government, or contamination of the air or soil not caused by the
fault or negligence of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiary. These changes can impact operations and maintenance and renewal and replacement costs under the
contracts. The U.S. government is responsible for environmental contamination due to its fault or negligence and for environmental contamination that occurred prior to the
execution of a contract. 

Security Issues

GSWC has security systems and infrastructure in place intended to prevent unlawful intrusion, service disruption and cyber-attacks.  GSWC utilizes a variety of
physical security measures to protect its facilities.  GSWC also considers advances in security and emergency preparedness technology and relevant industry developments in
developing its capital-improvement plans. GSWC intends to seek approval of the CPUC to recover any additional costs that it incurs in enhancing the security, reliability and
resiliency of its water and electric systems.

The Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries operate facilities within the boundaries of military bases, which provide limited access to the general public.  To
further enhance security, in prior years, certain upgrades were completed at various military bases through contract modifications funded by the U.S. government.

Registrant has evaluated its cyber-security systems and continues to address identified areas of improvement with respect to U.S. government regulations regarding
cyber-security of government contractors. These improvements include the physical security at all of the office and employee facilities it operates. Registrant believes it is in
compliance with these regulations. 

Despite its efforts, Registrant cannot guarantee that intrusions, cyber-attacks or other attacks will not cause water or electric system problems, disrupt service to
customers, compromise important data or systems or result in unintended release of customer or employee information.
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GSWC’s Water Supply

During 2019, GSWC delivered approximately 59.5 million hundred cubic feet (“ccf”) of water to its customers, which is an average of about 374 acre-feet per day
(an acre-foot is approximately 435.6 ccf or 326,000 gallons).  Approximately 53% of GSWC's supply came from groundwater production wells situated throughout GSWC’s
service areas.  GSWC supplemented its groundwater production with wholesale purchases from Metropolitan Water District ("MWD") member agencies and regional water
suppliers (roughly 44% of total demand) and with authorized diversions from rivers (roughly 3%) under contracts with the United States Bureau of Reclamation (“Bureau”)
and the Sacramento Municipal Utility District (“SMUD”).  GSWC also utilizes recycled water supplies to serve recycled water customers in several service areas. GSWC
continually assesses its water rights and groundwater storage assets.

Groundwater

GSWC has a diverse water supply portfolio which includes adjudicated groundwater rights, surface water rights, and a number of unadjudicated water rights to help
meet supply requirements.  The productivity of GSWC’s groundwater resources varies from year to year depending upon a variety of factors, including natural replenishment
from snow-melt or rainfall, the availability of imported replenishment water, the amount of water previously stored in groundwater basins, natural or man-made
contamination, legal production limitations, and the amount and seasonality of water use by GSWC’s customers and others. GSWC actively participates in efforts to protect
groundwater basins from over-use and from contamination.  In some periods, these efforts may require reductions in groundwater pumping and increased reliance on
alternative water resources. GSWC also participates in implementation of California’s Sustainable Groundwater Management Act.

From time to time, GSWC may purchase or temporarily use water rights from others for delivery to customers. GSWC has contracts to purchase water or water
rights for an aggregate amount of $4.1 million as of December 31, 2019.  Included in the $4.1 million is a remaining commitment of $2.1 million under an agreement with
the City of Claremont (“the City”) to lease water rights that were ascribed to the City as part of the Six Basins adjudication. The initial term of the agreement expires in 2028.
GSWC may exercise an option to renew this agreement for 10 additional years. The remaining $2.0 million is for commitments for purchased water with other third parties,
which expire through 2038.

Imported Water

GSWC also manages a portfolio of water supply arrangements with water wholesalers who may import water from outside the immediate service area.  For
example, GSWC has contracts with various governmental entities (principally MWD member agencies) and other parties to purchase water through a total of 58 connections
for distribution to customers, in addition to numerous emergency connections.  MWD is a public agency organized and managed to provide a supplemental, imported supply
to its member public agencies.  There are 26 such member agencies, consisting of 14 cities, 11 municipal water districts and one county water authority.  GSWC has 45
connections to MWD’s water distribution facilities and those of member agencies. GSWC purchases MWD water through six separate member agencies aggregating 49,973
acre-feet annually.  MWD’s principal source of water is the SWP and the Colorado River via the Colorado River Aqueduct.

Drought Impact

In May 2018, the California Legislature passed two bills that provide a framework for long-term water-use efficiency standards and drought planning and resiliency.
The initial steps in implementation of this legislation has been laid out in a summary document by the California Department of Water Resources ("DWR") and State Water
Resources Control Board ("SWQCB"). Over the next several years, State agencies, water suppliers and other entities will be working to meet the requirements and timelines
of plan implementation. A notable milestone is the establishment of indoor water use standard of 55 gallons per capita per day (gpcd) until 2025 at which time the standard
may be reduced to 52.5 gpcd or a new standard as recommend by DWR.

California's recent period of multi-year drought resulted in reduced recharge to the state's groundwater basins. GSWC utilizes groundwater from numerous
groundwater basins throughout the state. Several of these basins, especially smaller basins, experienced lower groundwater levels because of the drought. Several of GSWC's
service areas rely on groundwater as their only source of supply. Given the critical nature of the groundwater levels in California’s Central Coast area, GSWC implemented
mandatory water restrictions in certain service areas, in accordance with CPUC procedures. In the event of water supply shortages beyond the locally available supply,
GSWC would need to transport additional water from other areas, increasing the cost of water supply.

The 2018-2019 water year was a normal year, with rainfall in northern California being above normal levels. Precipitation to date in 2020 has been slightly below
normal levels with statewide snowpack at about 75% of average. As of February 18, 2020, the U.S. Drought Monitor reported that approximately 10% of California was
considered in a "Moderate Drought" as compared to approximately 4% one year ago. If dry conditions continue or get worse, the SWQCB or other regulatory agencies may
impose emergency drought actions. Due to local conditions, water-use restrictions and allocations
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remain in place for customers in some of GSWC’s service areas.  GSWC continues assessing water supply conditions and water-use restrictions in these service areas and
will make appropriate adjustments as needed.

Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries

The U.S. government is responsible for providing the source of supply for all water on each of the bases served by the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries at
no cost to the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries. Once received from the U.S. government, ASUS is responsible for ensuring the continued compliance of the
provided source of supply with all federal, state and local regulations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Registrant is subject to newly issued accounting requirements as well as changes in existing requirements issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. See
Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Registrant is exposed to certain market risks, including fluctuations in interest rates, and commodity price risk primarily relating to changes in the market price of
electricity. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in prevailing market rates and prices.

Interest Rate Risk

A significant portion of Registrant’s capital structure is comprised of fixed-rate debt. Market risk related to our fixed-rate debt is deemed to be the potential increase
in fair value resulting from a decrease in interest rates.  At December 31, 2019, the fair value of Registrant’s long-term debt was $376.5 million. A hypothetical ten percent
decrease in market interest rates would have resulted in an $11.6 million increase in the fair value of Registrant’s long-term debt.

At December 31, 2019, Registrant did not believe that its short-term debt was subject to interest-rate risk due to the fair market value being approximately equal to
the carrying value.

Commodity/Derivative Risk

GSWC's electric division, BVES, is exposed to commodity price risk primarily relating to changes in the market price of electricity. To manage its exposure to
energy price risk, BVES from time to time executes purchased power contracts that qualify as derivative instruments, requiring mark-to-market derivative accounting under
the accounting guidance for derivatives.  A derivative financial instrument or other contract derives its value from another investment or designated benchmark.

 In August 2019, the CPUC authorized BVES to execute long-term purchased power contracts with energy providers, which became effective during the fourth
quarter of 2019. BVES began taking power under these long-term contracts at a fixed cost over three- and five-year terms depending on the amount of power and period
during which the power is purchased under the contracts.

The long-term contracts executed in 2019 qualify for derivative accounting treatment. Among other things, the CPUC also authorized BVES to establish a
regulatory memorandum account to offset the mark-to-market entries required by the accounting guidance.  Accordingly, all unrealized gains and losses generated from these
purchased power contracts are deferred on a monthly basis into a non-interest bearing regulatory memorandum account that tracks the changes in fair value of the derivative
throughout the term of the contract. As a result, the unrealized gains and losses on these contracts do not impact GSWC’s earnings. As of December 31, 2019, there was a
$3.2 million unrealized loss in the memorandum account reflected as a regulatory asset as a result of a drop in energy prices since the execution of the contracts. 

Except as discussed above, Registrant has had no other derivative financial instruments, financial instruments with significant off-balance sheet risks or financial
instruments with concentrations of credit risk.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of American States Water Company

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and statements of capitalization of American States Water Company and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, of changes in common shareholders' equity and of cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2019, including the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs to Complete Long-term Contracts

As described in Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, $114 million of the Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 was generated
from operating, maintaining and performing construction activities (including renewal and replacement capital work) on water and wastewater systems at various U.S.
military bases pursuant to 50-year firm fixed-price contracts. As disclosed by management, a portion of the revenue from construction activities is recognized based on a
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. These revenues are recognized over time, with progress toward completion measured based on the input method using costs
incurred relative to the total estimated costs (cost-to-cost method). Changes in job performance, job site conditions, change orders and/or estimated profitability may result in
revisions to costs and income, and are recognized in the period in which any such revisions are determined.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition on construction contracts where estimates are made on the cost
to complete long term contracts is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment by management when developing the estimate of total estimated costs, which in
turn led to significant auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing audit procedures and evaluating audit evidence obtained relating to management’s estimate of
total estimated costs.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process, including controls over the determination of estimated costs to
complete long-term contracts. The procedures also included, among others, (i) evaluating management’s process for developing the estimates of progress towards completion
and the total estimated costs, (ii) inquiring with project personnel regarding construction progress and status, and (iii) testing contracts, subcontractor bids, underlying
contract costs, and other supporting documents. In addition, procedures were performed to evaluate changes in total estimated costs by (i) comparing changes in total
estimated costs with prior period estimates and (ii) evaluating management’s methodologies and assumptions for changing the cost estimates.

Accounting for the Effects of Rate Regulation

As described in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records regulatory assets, which represent probable future recovery of costs from
customers through the ratemaking process, and regulatory liabilities, which represent probable future refunds that are to be credited to customers through the ratemaking
process. Accounting for such activities as regulatory assets and liabilities is in accordance with the guidance for accounting for the effects of rate regulation. In determining
the probability of costs being recognized in other periods, management considers regulatory rules and decisions, past practices and other facts or circumstances that would
indicate if recovery is probable. As of December 31, 2019, there were $21 million of regulatory assets and $23 million of regulatory liabilities.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to accounting for the effects of rate regulation is a critical audit matter are there was
significant judgment by management related to the accounting for regulatory assets and liabilities, including assessing the probability that costs will be recovered or that
amounts will be refunded and the timing of recognition of regulatory assets and liabilities as a result of established practice, new or changes in regulatory and legislative
proceedings, or other relevant facts and circumstances. This in turn led to significant auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing audit procedures and evaluating
audit evidence obtained relating to management’s accounting for regulatory assets and liabilities.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s assessment and consideration of regulatory and legislative proceedings and other
evidence informing the probability that costs will be recovered, amounts will be refunded, and the timing of the inclusion of these deferrals in rates as well as the disclosure
impacts. These procedures also included, among others, evaluating the reasonableness of management’s judgments regarding the probability and timing of recovery of
regulatory assets and refund of regulatory liabilities based on the Company’s correspondence with regulators, status of regulatory proceedings, past practices, and other
relevant information; evaluating the related accounting and disclosure implications; and calculating regulatory assets and liabilities balances based on provisions and
formulas outlined in rate orders and other correspondence with the Company’s regulator.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 24, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of Golden State Water Company

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets and statements of capitalization of Golden State Water Company (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and
the related statements of income, of common shareholder’s equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, including the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on
our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
 
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 24, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

 

 December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018

Assets  
 

 
 

     
Utility Plant  

 

 
 

Regulated utility plant, at cost:  
 

 
 

   Water  $ 1,700,442  $ 1,649,535
   Electric  108,425  106,064

Total  1,808,867  1,755,599
Non-regulated utility property, at cost  30,554  24,511
Total utility plant, at cost  1,839,421  1,780,110

Less — accumulated depreciation  (543,263)  (561,855)

 

 1,296,158  1,218,255
Construction work in progress  119,547  78,055

Net utility plant  1,415,705  1,296,310
     
Other Property and Investments  

 

 
 

Goodwill  1,116  1,116
Other property and investments  30,293  25,356

Total other property and investments  31,409  26,472
     
Current Assets  

 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,334  7,141
Accounts receivable — customers, less allowance for doubtful accounts  20,907  23,395
Unbilled revenue — receivable  20,482  23,588
Receivable from U.S. government, less allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 2)  22,613  21,543
Other accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts  3,096  3,103
Income taxes receivable  5,685  2,164
Materials and supplies  6,429  5,775
Regulatory assets — current  20,930  16,527
Prepayments and other current assets  5,413  6,063
Contract assets (Note 2)  15,567  22,169

Total current assets  122,456  131,468
     
Other Assets  

 

 
 

Unbilled revenue — receivable from U.S. government  8,621  —
Receivable from U.S. government (Note 2)  42,206  39,583
Contract assets (Note 2)  64  2,278
Operating lease right-of-use assets  13,168  —
Other  7,702  5,322

Total other assets  71,761  47,183

Total Assets  $ 1,641,331  $ 1,501,433
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

 December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018

Capitalization and Liabilities  
 

 
 

     
Capitalization  

 

 
 

Common shareholders’ equity  $ 601,530  $ 558,223
Long-term debt  280,996  281,087

Total capitalization  882,526  839,310
     
Current Liabilities  

 

 
 

Notes payable to banks  5,000  —
Long-term debt — current  344  40,320
Accounts payable  55,616  59,532
Income taxes payable  95  360
Accrued other taxes  11,110  10,094
Accrued employee expenses  14,255  13,842
Accrued interest  3,050  3,865
Unrealized loss on purchased power contracts  3,171  311
Contract liabilities (Note 2)  11,167  7,530
Operating lease liabilities  1,849  —
Other  10,341  10,731

Total current liabilities  115,998  146,585
     
Other Credits  

 

 
 

Notes payable to banks  200,000  95,500
Advances for construction  63,989  66,305
Contributions in aid of construction — net  134,706  124,385
Deferred income taxes  125,304  114,216
Regulatory liabilities  23,380  44,867
Unamortized investment tax credits  1,295  1,367
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits  68,469  57,636
Operating lease liabilities  11,739  —
Other  13,925  11,262

Total other credits  642,807  515,538
     
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 14 and 15)  

—

 
—

     

Total Capitalization and Liabilities  $ 1,641,331  $ 1,501,433
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

 

 December 31,

(in thousands, except share data)  2019  2018

Common Shareholders’ Equity:  
 

 
 

Common Shares, no par value:  
 

 
 

Authorized: 60,000,000 shares  
 

 
 

Outstanding: 36,846,614 shares in 2019 and 36,757,842 shares in 2018  $ 255,566  $ 253,689
Reinvested earnings in the business  345,964  304,534

 

 601,530  558,223
     
Long-Term Debt (All are of GSWC)  

 

 
 

Notes/Debentures:  
 

 
 

6.81% notes due 2028  15,000  15,000
6.59% notes due 2029  40,000  40,000
7.875% notes due 2030  20,000  20,000
7.23% notes due 2031  50,000  50,000
6.00% notes due 2041  62,000  62,000

Private Placement Notes:  
 

 
 

3.45% notes due 2029  15,000  15,000
9.56% notes due 2031  28,000  28,000
5.87% notes due 2028  40,000  40,000
6.70% notes due 2019  —  40,000

Tax-Exempt Obligations:  
 

 
 

5.50% notes due 2026  7,730  7,730
State Water Project due 2035  3,563  3,667

Other Debt Instruments:  
 

 
 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act Obligation due 2033  3,406  3,581

 

 284,699  324,978
Less: Current maturities  (344)  (40,320)

    Debt issuance costs  (3,359)  (3,571)

 

 280,996  281,087
Total Capitalization  $ 882,526  $ 839,310

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

 

 For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  2019  2018  2017

Operating Revenues  
 

 
 

 
 

Water  $ 319,830  $ 295,258  $ 306,332
Electric  39,548  34,350  33,969
Contracted services  114,491  107,208  100,302

Total operating revenues  473,869  436,816  440,603
       
Operating Expenses  

 

 
 

 
 

Water purchased  72,289  68,904  68,302
Power purchased for pumping  8,660  8,971  8,518
Groundwater production assessment  18,962  19,440  18,638
Power purchased for resale  11,796  11,590  10,720
Supply cost balancing accounts  (7,026)  (15,649)  (17,939)
Other operation  32,756  31,650  29,994
Administrative and general  83,034  82,595  81,643
Depreciation and amortization  35,397  40,425  39,031
Maintenance  15,466  15,682  15,176
Property and other taxes  20,042  18,404  17,905
ASUS construction  55,673  53,906  49,838
Gain on sale of assets  (253)  (85)  (8,318)

Total operating expenses  346,796  335,833  313,508
       
Operating Income  127,073  100,983  127,095
       
Other Income and Expenses  

 

 
 

 
 

Interest expense  (24,586)  (23,433)  (22,582)
Interest income  3,249  3,578  1,790
Other, net  3,276  760  2,038

Total other income and expenses  (18,061)  (19,095)  (18,754)
       
Income before income tax expense  109,012  81,888  108,341
       

Income tax expense  24,670  18,017  38,974
       
Net Income  $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 69,367

       
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding  36,814  36,733  36,638
Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.73  $ 1.88
       
Weighted Average Number of Diluted Shares  36,964  36,936  36,844
Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 1.88
       
Dividends Paid Per Common Share  $ 1.160  $ 1.060  $ 0.994

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES
IN COMMON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 

 Common Shares  Reinvested  
 

 

 Number  
 

 Earnings  
 

 

 of  
 

 in the  
 

(in thousands)  Shares  Amount  Business  Total

Balances at December 31, 2016  36,571  $ 247,232  $ 247,065  $ 494,297
Add:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  
 

 
 

 69,367  69,367
Exercise of stock options and other issuance of Common Shares  110  909  

 

 909
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements  

 

 1,789  
 

 1,789
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 194  
 

 194
Deduct:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Dividends on Common Shares  
 

 
 

 36,417  36,417
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 
 

 194  194
Balances at December 31, 2017  36,681  250,124  279,821  529,945
Add:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income      63,871  63,871
Exercise of stock options and other issuance of Common Shares  77  546    546
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements    2,798    2,798
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash    221    221

Deduct:         
Dividends on Common Shares      38,937  38,937
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash      221  221

Balances at December 31, 2018  36,758  253,689  304,534  558,223
Add:         

Net income    84,342  84,342
Exercise of stock options and other issuance of Common Shares  89  519   519
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements   1,148   1,148
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash   210   210

Deduct:     
Dividends on Common Shares    42,702  42,702
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash    210  210

Balances at December 31, 2019  36,847  $ 255,566  $ 345,964  $ 601,530
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 

 For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 69,367
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Depreciation and amortization  35,713  40,663  39,273
Provision for doubtful accounts  608  841  989
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits  6,623  (5,773)  12,153
Stock-based compensation expense  2,517  3,851  2,885
Gain on sale of assets  (253)  (85)  (8,318)

       (Gain) loss on investments held in a trust  (3,580)  558  (1,743)
Other — net  526  97  218

Changes in assets and liabilities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Accounts receivable — customers  1,882  1,882  (7,671)
Unbilled revenue — receivable  (5,515)  2,823  (2,020)
Other accounts receivable  214  5,151  (1,671)
Receivables from the U.S. government  1,144  (20,976)  4,742
Materials and supplies  (654)  (980)  (501)
Prepayments and other assets  3,978  (519)  (1,641)
Contract assets  3,979  5,941  —
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on contracts  —  —  (2,881)
Regulatory assets/liabilities  (11,597)  33,834  24,626
Accounts payable  (249)  1,282  4,358
Income taxes receivable/payable  (3,786)  2,708  13,206
Contract liabilities / Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on contracts  3,637  3,619  1,648
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits  1,994  (1,086)  (878)
Other liabilities  (4,659)  (928)  (1,589)

Net cash provided  116,864  136,774  144,552
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Capital expenditures  (151,940)  (126,561)  (113,126)
Proceeds from sale of assets  169  72  34,324
Other investments  (1,424)  (1,553)  (1,229)

Net cash used  (153,195)  (128,042)  (80,031)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Proceeds from stock option exercises  519  546  909
Receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of construction  10,171  5,551  7,275
Refunds on advances for construction  (5,005)  (3,886)  (3,889)
Retirement or repayments of long-term debt  (40,325)  (326)  (329)
Net change in notes payable to banks  109,500  36,500  (31,000)
Dividends paid  (42,702)  (38,937)  (36,417)
Other  (1,634)  (1,253)  (1,292)

Net cash provided (used)  30,524  (1,805)  (64,743)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (5,807)  6,927  (222)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  7,141  214  436
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 1,334  $ 7,141  $ 214

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS

 

 December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018

Assets  
 

 
 

     
Utility Plant, at cost  

 

 
 

Water  $ 1,700,442  $ 1,649,535
Electric  108,425  106,064

Total  1,808,867  1,755,599
Less — accumulated depreciation  (531,801)  (551,244)

 

 1,277,066  1,204,355
Construction work in progress  117,676  76,737

Net utility plant  1,394,742  1,281,092
     

Other Property and Investments  28,212  23,263

 

 28,212  23,263
Current Assets  

 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  401  4,187
Accounts receivable — customers, less allowance for doubtful accounts  20,907  23,395
Unbilled revenue — receivable  18,636  17,892
Other accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts  1,857  1,959
Income taxes receivable from Parent  7,727  5,617
Materials and supplies  4,920  4,797
Regulatory assets — current  20,930  16,527
Prepayments and other current assets  4,497  5,275

Total current assets  79,875  79,649
     
Other Assets  

 

 
 

Operating lease right-of-use assets  12,745  —
Other  6,880  5,218

Total other assets  19,625  5,218
Total Assets  $ 1,522,454  $ 1,389,222

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS

 

 December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018

Capitalization and Liabilities  
 

 
 

     
Capitalization  

 

 
 

Common shareholder’s equity  $ 551,188  $ 503,575
Long-term debt  280,996  281,087

Total capitalization  832,184  784,662
     
Current Liabilities  

 

 
 

Intercompany payable to Parent  158,845  —
Long-term debt — current  344  40,320
Accounts payable  45,756  47,865
Accrued other taxes  10,640  9,911
Accrued employee expenses  12,386  11,910
Accrued interest  2,736  3,550
Unrealized loss on purchased power contracts  3,171  311
Operating lease liabilities  1,612  —
Other  9,745  9,432

Total current liabilities  245,235  123,299
     
Other Credits  

 

 
 

Intercompany payable to Parent  —  57,289
Advances for construction  63,989  66,305
Contributions in aid of construction — net  134,706  124,385
Deferred income taxes  127,806  118,241
Regulatory liabilities  23,380  44,867
Unamortized investment tax credits  1,295  1,367
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits  68,469  57,636
Operating lease liabilities  11,588  —
Other  13,802  11,171

Total other credits  445,035  481,261
     
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 14 and 15)     
     

Total Capitalization and Liabilities  $ 1,522,454  $ 1,389,222
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

 

 December 31,

(in thousands, except share data)  2019  2018

Common Shareholder’s Equity:  
 

 
 

Common Shares, no par value:
    Authorized: 1,000 shares
    Outstanding: 165 shares in 2019 and 2018  $ 293,754  $ 292,412
Reinvested earnings in the business  257,434  211,163

 

 551,188  503,575
     
Long-Term Debt  

 

 
 

Notes/Debentures:  
 

 
 

6.81% notes due 2028  15,000  15,000
6.59% notes due 2029  40,000  40,000
7.875% notes due 2030  20,000  20,000
7.23% notes due 2031  50,000  50,000
6.00% notes due 2041  62,000  62,000

Private Placement Notes:  
 

 
 

3.45% notes due 2029  15,000  15,000
9.56% notes due 2031  28,000  28,000
5.87% notes due 2028  40,000  40,000
6.70% notes due 2019  —  40,000

Tax-Exempt Obligations:  
 

 
 

5.50% notes due 2026  7,730  7,730
State Water Project due 2035  3,563  3,667

Other Debt Instruments:  
 

 
 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act Obligation due 2033  3,406  3,581
 

 284,699  324,978
Less: Current maturities  (344)  (40,320)

    Debt issuance costs  (3,359)  (3,571)
 

 280,996  281,087
Total Capitalization  $ 832,184  $ 784,662

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

 

 

 For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Operating Revenues  
 

 
 

 
 

Water  $ 319,830  $ 295,258  $ 306,332
Electric  39,548  34,350  33,969

Total operating revenues  359,378  329,608  340,301
       
Operating Expenses  

 

 
 

 
 

Water purchased  72,289  68,904  68,302
Power purchased for pumping  8,660  8,971  8,518
Groundwater production assessment  18,962  19,440  18,638
Power purchased for resale  11,796  11,590  10,720
Supply cost balancing accounts  (7,026)  (15,649)  (17,939)
Other operation  26,336  25,334  24,877
Administrative and general  59,905  62,156  62,408
Depreciation and amortization  32,441  38,395  37,852
Maintenance  12,843  13,104  12,970
Property and other taxes  18,168  16,809  16,402
Gain on sale of assets  (88)  (8)  (8,318)

Total operating expenses  254,286  249,046  234,430
       

Operating Income  105,092  80,562  105,871
       
Other Income and Expenses  

 

 
 

 
 

Interest expense  (23,399)  (22,621)  (22,055)
Interest income  1,867  2,890  1,766
Other, net  3,280  784  2,234

Total other income and expenses  (18,252)  (18,947)  (18,055)
       

Income from operations before income tax expense  86,840  61,615  87,816
       

Income tax expense  20,177  13,603  34,059
       

Net Income  $ 66,663  $ 48,012  $ 53,757
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN
COMMON SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

 

 Common Shares  Reinvested  
 

 

 Number  
 

 Earnings  
 

 

 of  
 

 in the  
 

(in thousands, except number of shares)  Shares  Amount  Business  Total

Balances at December 31, 2016  146  $ 240,482  $ 206,288  $ 446,770
Add:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  
 

 
 

 53,757  53,757
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements  

 

 1,527  
 

 1,527
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 172  
 

 172
Deduct:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Dividends on Common Shares  
 

 
 

 27,680  27,680
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 
 

 172  172
         

Balances at December 31, 2017  146  242,181  232,193  474,374
Add:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  
 

 
 

 48,012  48,012
Issuance of Common Shares to Parent  19  47,500    47,500
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements  

 

 2,539  
 

 2,539
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 192  
 

 192
Deduct:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Dividends on Common Shares  
 

 
 

 68,850  68,850
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 
 

 192  192
         

Balances at December 31, 2018  165  292,412  211,163  503,575
Add:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  
 

   66,663  66,663
Stock-based compensation, net of taxes paid from shares withheld from employees
related to net share settlements  

 

 1,150    1,150
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

 192    192
Deduct:  

 

     
 

Dividends on Common Shares  
 

   20,200  20,200
Dividend equivalent rights on stock-based awards not paid in cash  

 

   192  192
         

Balances at December 31, 2019  165  $ 293,754  $ 257,434  $ 551,188
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 

 For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Net income  $ 66,663  $ 48,012  $ 53,757
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Depreciation and amortization  32,757  38,633  38,094
Provision for doubtful accounts  606  850  816
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits  5,081  (6,817)  13,970
Stock-based compensation expense  2,253  3,397  2,420
Gain on sale of assets  (88)  (8)  (8,318)
(Gain) loss on investments held in a trust  (3,580)  558  (1,743)
Other — net  58  27  130

Changes in assets and liabilities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Accounts receivable — customers  1,882  1,882  (7,671)
Unbilled revenue — receivable  (744)  960  (1,152)
Other accounts receivable  311  4,140  (544)
Materials and supplies  (123)  (751)  (322)
Prepayments and other assets  4,230  (154)  (1,450)
Regulatory assets/liabilities  (11,597)  33,834  24,626
Accounts payable  1,558  (1,907)  4,927
Inter-company receivable/payable  1,056  (47)  (390)
Income taxes receivable/payable from/to Parent  (2,110)  973  15,266
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits  1,994  (1,086)  (878)
Other liabilities  (3,579)  (2,057)  (1,930)

Net cash provided  96,628  120,439  129,608
       
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Capital expenditures  (142,852)  (116,354)  (110,487)
Proceeds from sale of assets  88  9  34,324
Other investments  (1,424)  (1,553)  (1,229)

Net cash used  (144,188)  (117,898)  (77,392)
       
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:  

 

 
 

 
 

Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares to Parent  —  47,500  —
Receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of construction  10,171  5,551  7,275
Refunds on advances for construction  (5,005)  (3,886)  (3,889)
Retirement or repayments of long-term debt  (40,325)  (326)  (329)
Net change in inter-company borrowings  100,500  22,500  (26,500)
Dividends paid  (20,200)  (68,850)  (27,680)
Other  (1,367)  (1,057)  (1,088)

Net cash provided (used)  43,774  1,432  (52,211)
       
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (3,786)  3,973  5
       
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  4,187  214  209
       
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 401  $ 4,187  $ 214

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: American States Water Company (“AWR”) is the parent company of Golden State Water Company (“GSWC”) and American States Utility
Services, Inc. (“ASUS”) (and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Fort Bliss Water Services Company (“FBWS”), Terrapin Utility Services, Inc. (“TUS”), Old Dominion Utility
Services, Inc. (“ODUS”), Palmetto State Utility Services, Inc. (“PSUS”), Old North Utility Services, Inc. (“ONUS”), Emerald Coast Utility Services, Inc. (“ECUS”), and
Fort Riley Utility Services, Inc. ("FRUS")).  AWR and its subsidiaries may be collectively referred to as “Registrant” or “the Company.”  The subsidiaries of ASUS are
collectively referred to as the “Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.” AWR, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, serves over one million people in nine states.

GSWC is a public utility engaged principally in the purchase, production, distribution and sale of water in California serving approximately 261,000 customers.
GSWC also distributes electricity in several San Bernardino County mountain communities in California serving approximately 24,000 customers through its Bear Valley
Electric Service (“BVES”) division. The California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) regulates GSWC’s water and electric businesses in matters including properties,
rates, services, facilities, and transactions by GSWC with its affiliates. GSWC filed applications with the CPUC and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") in
December 2018 and July 2019, respectively, to transfer the assets and liabilities of the BVES division of GSWC to Bear Valley Electric Service, Inc., a newly created
separate legal entity and stand-alone subsidiary of AWR.  The FERC and CPUC approved GSWC's application for reorganization in October and December of 2019,
respectively.  The reorganization plan is pending the completion of certain closing procedures to effectuate the transfer of assets and liabilities including, among other things,
an additional FERC approval for tariffs. When completed, the reorganization plan is not expected to result in a substantive change to AWR's operations and business
segments.

ASUS, through its Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries, operates, maintains and performs construction activities (including renewal and replacement capital
work) on water and/or wastewater systems at various U.S. military bases pursuant to 50-year firm fixed-price contracts. These contracts are subject to annual economic price
adjustments and modifications for changes in circumstances, changes in laws and regulations and additions to the contract value for new construction of facilities at the
military bases.

There is no direct regulatory oversight by the CPUC over AWR or the operations, rates or services provided by ASUS or the Military Utility Privatization
Subsidiaries.

 Basis of Presentation:  The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are presented in a combined report filed by two separate Registrants: AWR and
GSWC. References in this report to “Registrant” are to AWR and GSWC, collectively, unless otherwise specified. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified on the
statements of cash flows to conform to current year presentation.

 AWR owns all of the outstanding Common Shares of GSWC and ASUS. ASUS owns all of the outstanding Common shares of the Military Utility Privatization
Subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements of AWR include the accounts of AWR and its subsidiaries. These financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in the AWR consolidated financial
statements.  

Related-Party Transactions:  GSWC and ASUS provide and/or receive various support services to and from their parent, AWR, and among themselves. GSWC also
allocates certain corporate office administrative and general costs to its affiliate, ASUS, using allocation factors approved by the CPUC. During the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, GSWC allocated to ASUS approximately $4.7 million, $4.2 million and $4.0 million, respectively, of corporate office administrative and
general costs. 

AWR borrows under a credit facility, which expires in May 2023, and provides funds to its subsidiaries, GSWC and ASUS, in support of their operations.  The
interest rate charged to GSWC and ASUS is sufficient to cover AWR’s interest expense under the credit facility. In March 2019, AWR entered into an amendment to this
credit facility to increase its borrowing capacity from $150.0 million to $200.0 million. In October 2019 AWR entered into another amendment to the credit facility to
temporarily increase its borrowing capacity to $225.0 million, effective until June 30, 2020. In February 2020, AWR received a binding commitment from its lender for the
option to revise the temporary increase of the credit facility to $260.0 million through the end of 2020. AWR will be able to exercise this commitment and have immediate
access to the additional funds when needed. On December 31, 2020, the borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million. As of December 31, 2019, there was $205.0 million
outstanding under this facility, of which $5.0 million has been reflected as a current liability on the consolidated balance sheet of AWR. Management intends to seek
additional financing in 2020 through the issuance of long-term debt at GSWC. 
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The CPUC requires GSWC to completely pay down all intercompany borrowings from AWR within a 24-month period. The end of the next 24-month period in
which GSWC is required to completely pay down its intercompany borrowings will be in November 2020. As a result, GSWC’s intercompany borrowings of $158.8 million
as of December 31, 2019 have been classified as a current liability on GSWC’s balance sheet. GSWC intends to use the proceeds from any new long-term debt to reduce its
intercompany borrowings and to partially fund capital expenditures. AWR parent intends to use any financing proceeds from GSWC to pay down the amounts outstanding
under its credit facility.    

Utility Accounting:  Registrant’s accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), including
the accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises, which reflect the ratemaking policies of the CPUC and the FERC. GSWC has incurred various costs and received
various credits reflected as regulatory assets and liabilities. Accounting for such costs and credits as regulatory assets and liabilities is in accordance with the guidance for
accounting for the effects of certain types of regulation.  This guidance sets forth the application of U.S. GAAP for those companies whose rates are established by or are
subject to approval by an independent third-party regulator.

Under such accounting guidance, rate-regulated entities defer costs and credits on the balance sheet as regulatory assets and liabilities when it is probable that those
costs and credits will be recognized in the ratemaking process in a period different from the period in which they would have been reflected in income by an unregulated
company. These regulatory assets and liabilities are then recognized in the income statement in the period in which the same amounts are reflected in the rates charged for
service. The amounts included as regulatory assets and liabilities that will be collected or refunded over a period exceeding one year are classified as long-term assets and
liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

 Property and Depreciation: Registrant's property consists primarily of regulated utility plant at GSWC. GSWC capitalizes, as utility plant, the cost of construction
and the cost of additions, betterments and replacements of retired units of property. Such cost includes labor, material and certain indirect charges. Water systems acquired are
recorded at estimated original cost of utility plant when first devoted to utility service and the applicable depreciation is recorded to accumulated depreciation. The difference
between the estimated original cost, less accumulated depreciation, and the purchase price, if recognized by the regulator, is recorded as an acquisition adjustment within
utility plant.

 Depreciation is computed on the straight-line, remaining-life basis, group method, in accordance with the applicable ratemaking process. GSWC's provision for
depreciation expressed as a percentage of the aggregate depreciable asset balances was 2.2% for 2019, 2.7% for 2018, and 2.6% for 2017.  Depreciation expense for GSWC,
excluding amortization expense and depreciation on transportation equipment, totaled $31.7 million, $37.3 million and $36.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017. Depreciation computed on GSWC’s transportation equipment is recorded in other operating expenses and totaled $316,000, $238,000 and $242,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.  Retired property costs, including costs of
removal, are charged to the accumulated provision for depreciation. 

Estimated useful lives of GSWC’s utility plant, as authorized by the CPUC, are as follows:

Source of water supply 30 years to 50 years
Pumping 25 years to 40 years
Water treatment 20 years to 35 years
Transmission and distribution 25 years to 55 years
Generation 40 years
Other plant 7 years to 40 years

Non-regulated property consists primarily of equipment utilized by ASUS and its subsidiaries for its operations. This property is stated at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation, which is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets.

Asset Retirement Obligations:  GSWC has a legal obligation for the retirement of its wells, which by law need to be properly capped at the time of removal.  As
such, GSWC incurs asset retirement obligations.  GSWC records the fair value of a liability for these asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred.
When the liability is initially recorded, GSWC capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its
present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, GSWC either settles the obligation
for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon settlement. Retirement costs have historically been recovered through rates subsequent to the retirement costs being
incurred. Accordingly, recoverability of GSWC’s asset retirement obligations are reflected as a regulatory asset. GSWC also reflects the loss or gain at settlement as a
regulatory asset or liability on the balance sheet.
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 With regards to removal costs associated with certain other long-lived assets, such as water mains, distribution and transmission assets, asset retirement obligations
have not been recognized as GSWC believes there is no legal obligation to do so. There are no CPUC rules or regulations that require GSWC to remove any of its other long-
lived assets. In addition, GSWC’s water pipelines are not subject to regulation by any federal regulatory agency. GSWC has franchise agreements with various municipalities
in order to use the public right of way for utility purposes (i.e., operate water distribution and transmission assets), and if certain events occur in the future, GSWC could be
required to remove or relocate certain of its pipelines. However, it is not possible to estimate an asset retirement amount since the timing and the amount of assets that may be
required to be removed, if any, is not known.

Amounts recorded for asset retirement obligations are subject to various assumptions and determinations, such as determining whether a legal obligation exists to
remove assets, estimating the fair value of the costs of removal, when final removal will occur and the credit-adjusted risk-free interest rates to be utilized on discounting
future liabilities. Changes that may arise over time with regard to these assumptions will change amounts recorded in the future. Revisions in estimates for timing or
estimated cash flows are recognized as changes in the carrying amount of the liability and the related capitalized asset. The estimated fair value of the costs of removal was
based on third-party costs. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be fully recoverable in accordance with accounting guidance for impairment or disposal of long-lived assets.  Registrant would recognize an impairment loss
on its regulated assets only if the carrying value amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable from customer rates authorized by the CPUC.  Impairment loss is measured as
the excess of the carrying value over the amounts recovered in customer rates.  For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, no impairment loss was incurred.

 Goodwill:  At December 31, 2019 and 2018, AWR had approximately $1.1 million of goodwill.  The $1.1 million goodwill arose from ASUS’s acquisition of a
subcontractor’s business at some of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.  In accordance with the accounting guidance for testing goodwill, AWR annually assesses
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. For 2019, AWR’s assessment of qualitative factors did not indicate that an impairment had occurred for goodwill at ASUS.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include short-term cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less. At times, cash and
cash equivalent balances may be in excess of federally insured limits. Cash and cash equivalents are held with financial institutions with high credit standings. 

Accounts Receivable:  Accounts receivable is reported on the balance sheet net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
Registrant’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in Registrant’s existing accounts receivable from its water and electric customers, and is determined based
on historical write-off experience and the aging of account balances. Registrant reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts quarterly. Account balances are written off
against the allowance when it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. When utility customers request extended payment terms, credit is extended based on
regulatory guidelines, and collateral is not required.

Receivables from the U.S. government include amounts due under contracts with the U.S. government to operate and maintain, and/or provide construction services
for the water and/or wastewater systems at military bases. Other accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from third parties (non-utility customers) for various
reasons, including amounts due from contractors, amounts due under settlement agreements and amounts due from other third-party prime government contractors pursuant
to agreements for construction of water and/or wastewater facilities for such third-party prime contractors. The allowance for these other accounts receivable is based on
Registrant’s evaluation of the receivable portfolio under current conditions and a review of specific problems and such other factors that, in Registrant’s judgment, should be
considered in estimating losses. 

Allowances for doubtful accounts are disclosed in Note 18. Registrant adopted Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic
326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments effective January 1, 2020, which did not have an impact on Registrant's allowance for doubtful accounts.

 Materials and Supplies: Materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is computed using average cost. Major classes of materials
include pipe, hydrants and valves.

 Interest: Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets has generally not been capitalized for financial reporting purposes as such policy is not followed
in the ratemaking process. Interest expense is generally recovered through the regulatory process.  However, the CPUC has authorized certain capital projects to be filed for
revenue recovery with advice letters when those projects are completed. During the time that such projects are under development and construction, GSWC may accrue an
allowance for funds used during construction (“AFUDC”) on the incurred expenditures to offset the cost of
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financing project construction. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the amount of AFUDC recorded has been immaterial.

Debt Issuance Costs and Redemption Premiums: Original debt issuance costs are deducted from the carrying value of the associated debt liability and amortized
over the lives of the respective issues. Premiums paid on the early redemption of debt, which is reacquired through refunding, are deferred and amortized over the life of the
debt issued to finance the refunding as GSWC normally receives recovery of these costs in rates. 

 Advances for Construction and Contributions in Aid of Construction: Advances for construction represent amounts advanced by developers for the cost to construct
water system facilities in order to extend water service to their properties. Advances are refundable in equal annual installments, generally over 40 years. In certain instances,
GSWC makes refunds on these advances over a specific period of time based on operating revenues related to the main or as new customers are connected to receive service
from the main.  Contributions in aid of construction are similar to advances but require no refunding. Generally, GSWC depreciates contributed property and amortizes
contributions in aid of construction at the composite rate of the related property. Utility plant funded by advances and contributions is excluded from rate base.

 Fair Value of Financial Instruments: For cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-term debt, the carrying amount is assumed to
approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the amounts. The table below estimates the fair value of long-term debt issued by GSWC. Rates available to GSWC at
December 31, 2019 and 2018 for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities were used to estimate fair value for long-term debt. Changes in the assumptions will
produce differing results.

 

 2019  2018

(dollars in thousands)  Carrying Amount  Fair Value  Carrying Amount  Fair Value

Long-term debt—GSWC (1)  $ 284,699  $ 376,467  $ 324,978  $ 387,889

                                        

(1)  Excludes debt issuance costs and redemption premiums.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements applies to all financial assets and financial liabilities that are being measured and reported on a fair value
basis. Under the accounting guidance, GSWC makes fair value measurements on its publicly issued notes, private placement notes and other long-term debt using current
U.S. corporate bond yields for similar debt instruments. Under the fair value guidance, these are classified as Level 2, which consists of quoted prices in markets that are not
active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, GSWC’s long-term debt measured at fair value as of December 31, 2019:

(dollars in thousands)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Long-term debt—GSWC  —  $ 376,467  —  $ 376,467

Stock-Based Awards: AWR has issued stock-based awards to its employees under stock incentive plans. AWR has also issued stock-based awards to its Board of
Directors under non-employee directors stock plans.  Registrant applies the provisions in the accounting guidance for share-based payments in accounting for all of its stock-
based awards. See Note 13 for further discussion.

 Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in 2019

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued a new lease accounting standard, Leases (Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC")
842), which replaces the prior lease guidance, (ASC 840). Under the new standard, lessees will recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for virtually all leases (other
than leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease). For income statement purposes, leases will be classified as either operating or finance. Operating leases will result
in straight-line expense while finance leases will result in a front-loaded expense pattern. Registrant adopted the new lease accounting standard as of January 1, 2019 and did
not adjust comparative periods for it. There was no cumulative-effect impact to the opening balance of retained earnings as a result of this adoption. Registrant elected the
practical expedient under Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2018-01 Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842 and did not review existing
easements entered into prior to January 1, 2019. Leases with terms of twelve months or less were not recorded on the balance sheet. The adoption of the new lease guidance
did not have a material impact on Registrant's results of operations or liquidity but resulted in the recognition of operating lease liabilities and operating lease
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right-of-use assets on its balance sheets. The adoption of this guidance as of January 1, 2019 resulted in the recognition of $7.6 million in right-of-use assets and $8.0 million
in operating lease liabilities (see Note 16).

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15-Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. Under this ASU, entities that enter into cloud computing service
arrangements are required to apply existing internal-use software guidance to determine which implementation costs are eligible for capitalization. Under that guidance,
implementation costs are capitalized or expensed depending on the nature of the costs and the project stage during which they are incurred. Registrant adopted this guidance
effective January 1, 2019. The adoption of this accounting standard did not have a significant impact on Registrant's financial statements.

Accounting Pronouncements to be Adopted in Future Periods

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments and issued
further guidance in November 2018 and May 2019 related to the impairment of financial instruments effective January 1, 2020. The new guidance provides an impairment
model, known as the current expected credit loss model, which is based on expected credit losses rather than incurred losses over the remaining life of most financial assets
measured at amortized cost, including trade and other receivables. Registrant's adoption of the new guidance effective January 1, 2020 did not have an impact on its financial
statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14-Compensation-Retirement Benefits-Defined Benefit Plans-General (Subtopic 715-20): Disclosure Framework-
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans. This ASU removes disclosures to pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans that no longer are
considered cost beneficial, clarifies the specific disclosure requirements and adds disclosure requirements deemed relevant. This ASU is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2020 and will be applied by Registrant on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. Registrant is still evaluating the ASU and has not yet determined the
effect on its financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The amendments in this update
simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions and clarifying certain requirements regarding franchise taxes, goodwill, consolidated tax expenses,
and annual effective tax rate calculations. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. Registrant is evaluating the
impact of this ASU on its financial statements.
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Note 2 — Revenues

Most of Registrant's revenues are accounted for under the revenue recognition accounting standard, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers - (Topic 606)." The
adoption of this accounting standard effective January 1, 2018 did not have a material impact on Registrant's measurement or timing of revenue recognition.

GSWC provides water and electric utility services to customers as specified by the CPUC. The transaction prices for water and electric revenues are based on tariff
rates authorized by the CPUC, which include both quantity-based and flat-rate charges. Tariff revenues represent the adopted revenue requirement authorized by the CPUC
intended to provide GSWC with an opportunity to recover its costs and earn a reasonable return on its net capital investment. The annual revenue requirements are comprised
of operation and maintenance costs, administrative and general costs, depreciation and taxes in amounts authorized by the CPUC and a return on rate base consistent with the
capital structure authorized by the CPUC.

Water and electric revenues are recognized over time as customers simultaneously receive and use the utility services provided. Water and electric revenues include
amounts billed to customers on a cyclical basis, nearly all of which are based on meter readings for services provided. Customer bills also include surcharges for cost-
recovery activities, which represent CPUC-authorized balancing and memorandum accounts that allow for the recovery of previously incurred operating costs. Revenues
from these surcharges do not impact earnings as they are offset by corresponding increases in operating expenses to reflect the recovery of the associated costs. Customer
payment terms are approximately 20 business days from the billing date. Unbilled revenues are amounts estimated to be billed for usage since the last meter-reading date to
the end of the accounting period. The most recent customer billed usage forms the basis for estimating unbilled revenue.

GSWC bills certain sales and use taxes levied by state or local governments to its customers. Included in these sales and use taxes are franchise fees, which GSWC
pays to various municipalities and counties (based on their ordinances) in order to use public rights of way for utility purposes. GSWC bills these franchise fees to its
customers based on a CPUC-authorized rate for each ratemaking area as applicable. These franchise fees, which are required to be paid regardless of GSWC’s ability to
collect them from its customers, are accounted for on a gross basis. GSWC’s franchise fees billed to customers and recorded as operating revenue were approximately $4.0
million, $3.6 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. When GSWC acts as an agent, and a tax is not required to be
remitted if it is not collected from customers, the tax is accounted for on a net basis.

As authorized by the CPUC, GSWC records in revenues the difference between the adopted level of volumetric revenues as authorized by the CPUC for metered
accounts (volumetric revenues) and the actual volumetric revenues recovered in customer rates.  The difference is tracked under the Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanism
(“WRAM”) regulatory accounts for its water segment, and the Base Revenue Requirement Adjustment Mechanism ("BRRAM") regulatory account for its electric segment.
If this difference results in an under-collection of revenues, GSWC records the additional revenue only to the extent that they are expected to be collected within 24 months
following the year in which they are recorded in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 980, Regulated Operations.

ASUS's 50-year firm fixed-price contracts with the U.S. government are considered service concession arrangements under ASC 853 Service Concession
Arrangements. Accordingly, the services under these contracts are accounted for under Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the water and/or wastewater
systems are not recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment on Registrant’s balance sheet. For ASUS, performance obligations consist of (i) performing ongoing operation and
maintenance of the water and/or wastewater systems and treatment plants for each military base served, and (ii) performing construction activities (including renewal and
replacement capital work) on each military base served. The transaction price for each performance obligation is either delineated in, or initially derived from, the applicable
50-year contract and/or any subsequent contract modifications. Depending on the state in which operations are conducted, the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries are
also subject to certain state non-income tax assessments which are accounted for on a gross basis and have been immaterial to date.

The ongoing performance of operation and maintenance of the water and/or wastewater systems and treatment plants is viewed as a single performance obligation
for each 50-year contract with the U.S. government. Registrant recognizes revenue for operations and maintenance fees monthly using the "right to invoice" practical
expedient under ASC Topic 606. ASUS has a right to consideration from the U.S. government in an amount that corresponds directly to the value to the U.S. government of
ASUS’s performance completed to-date. The contractual operations and maintenance fees are firm-fixed, and the level of effort or resources expended in the performance of
the operations-and-maintenance-fees performance obligation is largely consistent over the 50-year term. Therefore, Registrant has determined that the monthly amounts
invoiced for operations and maintenance performance are a fair reflection of the value transferred to the U.S. government. Invoices to the U.S. government for operations and
maintenance service, as well as construction activities, are due upon receipt.

ASUS's construction activities consist of various projects to be performed. Each of these projects' transaction prices are delineated either in the 50-year contract or
through a specific contract modification for each construction project, which includes the transaction price for that project. Each construction project is viewed as a separate,
single performance obligation.

75



Table of Contents

Therefore, it is generally unnecessary to allocate a construction transaction price to more than one construction performance obligation. Revenues for construction activities
are recognized over time, with progress toward completion measured based on the input method using costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs (cost-to-cost
method). Due to the nature of these construction projects, Registrant has determined the cost-to-cost input measurement to be the best method to measure progress towards
satisfying its construction contract performance obligations, as compared to using an output measurement such as units produced. Changes in job performance, job site
conditions, change orders and/or estimated profitability may result in revisions to costs and income for ASUS, and are recognized in the period in which any such revisions
are determined. Pre-contract costs for ASUS, which consist of design and engineering labor costs, are deferred if recovery is probable, and are expensed as incurred if
recovery is not probable.  Deferred pre-contract costs have been immaterial to date.

Contracted services revenues recognized during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods were not
material.

Although GSWC has a diversified base of residential, commercial, industrial and other customers, revenues derived from residential and commercial customers
account for nearly 90% of total water revenues, and 90% of total electric revenues. The vast majority of ASUS's revenues are from the U.S. government. For the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, disaggregated revenues from contracts with customers by segment are as follows:

(dollar in thousands)  
For The Year Ended December

31, 2019  
For The Year Ended December

31, 2018

Water:     
Tariff-based revenues  $ 305,244  $ 298,818
CPUC-approved surcharges (cost-recovery activities)  4,322  2,962
Other  2,006  1,813

Water revenues from contracts with customers  311,572  303,593
WRAM under/(over)-collection (alternative revenue program)  8,258  (8,335)

Total water revenues  319,830  295,258
     

Electric:     
Tariff-based revenues  36,628  34,501
CPUC-approved surcharges (cost-recovery activities)  410  214

Electric revenues from contracts with customers  37,038  34,715
BRRAM under/(over)-collection (alternative revenue program)  2,510  (365)
Total electric revenues  39,548  34,350

     

Contracted services:     
Water  59,868  62,273
Wastewater  54,623  44,935

Contracted services revenues from contracts with customers  114,491  107,208
     

Total revenues  $ 473,869  $ 436,816

The opening and closing balances of the receivable from the U.S. government, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers, which related
entirely to ASUS, are as follows:    

(dollar in thousands)  December 31, 2019  December 31, 2018

     

Unbilled receivables  $ 10,467  $ 5,696
Receivable from the U.S. government  $ 64,819  $ 61,126
Contract assets  $ 15,631  $ 24,447
Contract liabilities  $ 11,167  $ 7,530

Unbilled receivables from the U.S. government represent receivables where the right to payment is conditional only by the passage of time. The increase in unbilled
receivables as of December 31, 2019 as compared to December 31, 2018 was due
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to the completion in 2019 of construction projects at Fort Riley, which will be collected in installments from the U.S. government over a 5-year period.

Contract Assets - Contract assets are those of ASUS and consist of unbilled revenues recognized from work-in-progress construction projects where the right to
payment is conditional on something other than the passage of time. The classification of this asset as current or noncurrent is based on the timing of when ASUS expects to
bill these amounts.

Contract Liabilities - Contract liabilities are those of ASUS and consist of billings in excess of revenue recognized. The classification of this liability as current or
noncurrent is based on the timing of when ASUS expects to recognize revenue. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 that were included in contract liabilities at
the beginning of the period were $7.3 million.

As of December 31, 2019, Registrant's aggregate remaining performance obligations, all of which are for the contracted services segment, was $3.2 billion.
Registrant expects to recognize revenue on these remaining performance obligations over the remaining terms of each of the 50-year contracts, which range from 36 to 50
years. Each of the contracts with the U.S. government is subject to termination, in whole or in part, prior to the end of its 50-year term for the convenience of the
U.S. government.

Note 3 — Regulatory Matters

In accordance with accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises, Registrant records regulatory assets, which represent probable future recovery of costs from
customers through the ratemaking process, and regulatory liabilities, which represent probable future refunds that are to be credited to customers through the ratemaking
process. At December 31, 2019, Registrant had approximately $43.1 million of regulatory liabilities, net of regulatory assets, not accruing carrying costs. Of this amount, (i)
$79.9 million of regulatory liabilities relates to the creation of an excess deferred income tax liability brought about by a lower federal income tax rate as a result of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (see Note 11) that is expected to be refunded to customers, (ii) $12.4 million relates to flow-through deferred income taxes including the gross-up portion
on the deferred tax resulting from the excess deferred income tax regulatory liability (also see Note 11), and (iii) $43.4 million of regulatory assets relates to the underfunded
position in Registrant's pension and other post-retirement obligations (not including the two-way pension balancing accounts). The remainder relates to other items that do
not provide for or incur carrying costs.

Regulatory assets represent costs incurred by GSWC for which it has received or expects to receive rate recovery in the future. In determining the probability of
costs being recognized in other periods, GSWC considers regulatory rules and decisions, past practices, and other facts or circumstances that would indicate if recovery is
probable. If the CPUC determines that a portion of GSWC’s assets are not recoverable in customer rates, GSWC must determine if it has suffered an asset impairment that
requires it to write down the asset's value. Regulatory assets are offset against regulatory liabilities within each rate-making area. Amounts expected to be collected or
refunded in the next twelve months have been classified as current assets and current liabilities by rate-making area. Regulatory assets, less regulatory liabilities, included in
the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

 

 December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018

GSWC  
 

 
 

Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanism and Modified Cost Balancing Account  $ 22,535  $ 17,763
Costs deferred for future recovery on Aerojet case  8,292  9,516
Pensions and other post-retirement obligations (Note 12)  40,693  33,124
Derivative unrealized loss (Note 5)  3,171  311
General rate case memorandum accounts  4,820  5,054
Other regulatory assets  18,842  18,440
Excess deferred income taxes (Note 11)  (79,886)  (81,465)
Flow-through taxes, net (Note 11)  (12,439)  (15,273)
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") memorandum accounts  —  (8,293)
Various refunds to customers  (8,478)  (7,517)

Total  $ (2,450)  $ (28,340)
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Alternative-Revenue Programs:

Under the WRAM, GSWC records the difference between the adopted level of volumetric revenues as authorized by the CPUC for metered accounts (adopted
volumetric revenues) and the actual volumetric revenues recovered in customer rates.  While the WRAM tracks volumetric-based revenues, the revenue requirements
approved by the CPUC include service charges, flat rate charges, and other items that are not subject to the WRAM. The adopted volumetric revenues consider the
seasonality of consumption of water based upon historical averages. The variance between adopted volumetric revenues and actual billed volumetric revenues for metered
accounts is recorded as a component of revenue with an offsetting entry to an asset or liability balancing account (tracked individually for each rate making area). The
variance amount may be positive or negative and represents amounts that will be billed or refunded to customers in the future.  The WRAM only applies to customer classes
with conservation rates in place.  The majority of GSWC’s water customers have conservation rate structures.

Under the Modified Cost Balancing Account (“MCBA”), GSWC tracks adopted expense levels for purchased water, purchased power and pump taxes, as
established by the CPUC. Variances (which include the effects of changes in both rate and volume) between adopted and actual purchased water, purchased power, and pump
tax expenses are recorded as a component of the MCBA to be recovered from or refunded to GSWC’s customers at a later date. This is reflected with an offsetting entry to an
asset or liability balancing account (tracked individually for each rate-making area).  Unlike the WRAM, the MCBA applies to all customer classes.

The recovery or refund of the WRAM is netted against the MCBA over- or under-collection for the corresponding rate-making area and bears interest at the current
90-day commercial-paper rate. During the year ended December 31, 2019, $11.6 million of pre-2019 WRAM/MCBA balances were recovered.  During 2019, GSWC
recorded an additional $16.3 million net under-collection in the WRAM/MCBA.  The majority of this balance represents an under-collection of supply costs incurred and
recorded in the MCBA due to a higher volume of purchased water as compared to adopted. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC had an aggregated regulatory asset of $22.5
million, which is comprised of an $11.0 million under-collection in the WRAM accounts and an $11.5 million under-collection in the MCBA accounts. In February 2020,
GSWC filed with the CPUC for recovery of the 2019 WRAM/MCBA balances.

As required by the accounting guidance for alternative revenue programs, GSWC is required to collect its WRAM balances within 24 months following the year in
which an under-collection is recorded.  As of December 31, 2019, there were no WRAM under-collections that were estimated to be collected over more than 24 months.

Costs Deferred for Future Recovery:

The CPUC authorized a memorandum account to allow for the recovery of costs incurred by GSWC related to contamination lawsuits brought against Aerojet-
General Corporation ("Aerojet") and the state of California.  In July 2005, the CPUC authorized GSWC to recover approximately $21.3 million of the Aerojet litigation
memorandum account, through a rate surcharge, which will continue for no longer than 20 years. Beginning in October 2005, a surcharge went into effect to begin amortizing
the memorandum account over a 20-year period. 

Aerojet also agreed to reimburse GSWC $17.5 million, plus interest accruing from January 1, 2004, for GSWC’s past legal and expert costs, which is included in the
Aerojet litigation memorandum account. The reimbursement of the $17.5 million is contingent upon the issuance of land use approvals for development in a defined area
within Aerojet property in Eastern Sacramento County and the receipt of certain fees in connection with such development.  It is management’s intention to offset any
proceeds from the housing development by Aerojet in this area against the balance in this litigation memorandum account.  At this time, management believes the full
balance of the Aerojet litigation memorandum account will be collected either from customers or Aerojet.

Pensions and Other Post-retirement Obligations:

A regulatory asset has been recorded at December 31, 2019 and 2018 for the costs that would otherwise be charged to “other comprehensive income” within
shareholders’ equity for the underfunded status of Registrant’s pension and other post-retirement benefit plans because the cost of these plans has historically been recovered
through rates.  As discussed in Note 12, as of December 31, 2019, Registrant’s underfunded position for these plans that have been recorded as a regulatory asset totaled
$43.4 million.  Registrant expects this regulatory asset to be recovered through rates in future periods.

The CPUC has authorized GSWC to use two-way balancing accounts to track differences between the forecasted annual pension expenses adopted in both water and
electric rates and the actual annual expense to be recorded by GSWC in accordance with the accounting guidance for pension costs.  The two-way balancing accounts bear
interest at the current 90-day commercial paper rate. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC has a net $2.7 million over-collection in the two-way pension balancing accounts,
consisting of a $1.5 million over-collection related to the general office and water regions, and a $1.2 million over-collection related to BVES.

78



Table of Contents

General Rate Case Memorandum Accounts:

The balance in the general rate case memorandum accounts represents the revenue differences between interim rates and final rates authorized by the CPUC due to
delays in receiving decisions on various general rate case applications.    As of December 31, 2019, there is a net aggregate $4.8 million under-collection in these accounts,
primarily related to the revenue difference between interim rates and final rates authorized by the CPUC in the May 2019 decision, as further discussed below. GSWC has
implemented surcharges ranging from 12-36 months to collect the $4.8 million balance.

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") Memorandum Accounts:

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into federal law. The provisions of this major tax reform were generally effective January 1, 2018. The most
significant provisions of the Tax Act impacting GSWC are the reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% and the elimination of bonus depreciation
for regulated utilities. Pursuant to a CPUC directive, the 2018 impact of the Tax Act on the water segment’s adopted revenue requirement was tracked in a memorandum
account effective January 1, 2018. For 2018, over-collections of approximately $7.1 million related to the water segment were tracked and recorded as a regulatory liability.
On July 1, 2018, new lower water rates, which incorporate the new federal income tax rate, were implemented for all water ratemaking areas. GSWC refunded the $7.1
million to water customers in 2019.

The electric general rate case approved by the CPUC in August 2019 was retroactive to January 1, 2018. The new rates approved in this general rate case
incorporate the effects of the Tax Act.

Reductions in the water and electric revenue requirements resulting from the impacts of the Tax Act are largely offset by decreases in GSWC's income tax expense,
resulting in minimal impact to net earnings (see Note 11).

Other Regulatory Assets:

Other regulatory assets represent costs incurred by GSWC for which it has received or expects to receive rate recovery in the future.  These regulatory assets are
supported by regulatory rules and decisions, past practices, and other facts or circumstances that indicate recovery is probable. 

Other Regulatory Matters:

Renewables Portfolio Standard:

BVES is subject to the renewables portfolio standard (“RPS”) law, which requires BVES to meet certain targets for purchases of energy from qualified renewable
energy resources. In December 2012, GSWC entered into a ten-year agreement with a third party to purchase renewable energy credits (“RECs”) whereby GSWC agreed to
purchase approximately 578,000 RECs over a ten-year period, which would be used towards meeting California's RPS requirements. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC
believes it has purchased sufficient RECs to be in compliance for all periods through 2019. Accordingly, no provision for loss or potential penalties has been recorded in the
financial statements as of December 31, 2019. The cost of these RECs has been included as part of the electric supply cost balancing account as of December 31, 2019.

Cost of Capital Proceeding:    

In March 2018, the CPUC issued a final decision in the cost of capital proceeding for GSWC and three other water utilities for the years 2018 - 2020. Among other
things, the final decision adopted for GSWC's water segment a return on equity of 8.90%, with a return on rate base of 7.91%. The previously authorized return on equity for
GSWC’s water segment was 9.43%, with a return on rate base of 8.34%. In April 2018, GSWC implemented new water rates to incorporate the cost of capital decision. For
the year ended December 31, 2019, GSWC recorded a regulatory liability with a corresponding decrease in water revenues of approximately $982,000 representing the
revenue difference between the old and new cost of capital rates through April 2018.

General Rate Case Filings:

Water Segment:

In July 2017, GSWC filed a general rate case application for all of its water regions and the general office to determine new rates for the years 2019 - 2021. On May
30, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on GSWC's water general rate case with rates retroactive to January 1, 2019. As a result of the May 2019 CPUC final decision,
GSWC implemented new water rates on June 8, 2019. The CPUC in the final decision also approved the recovery of previously incurred costs that were being tracked in
CPUC-authorized memorandum accounts. This resulted in a reduction to administrative and general expense of approximately $1.1 million, which was recorded during the
second quarter of 2019.
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Electric Segment:

In May 2017, GSWC filed its electric general rate case application with the CPUC to determine new electric rates for the years 2018 through 2021. In November
2018, GSWC and the Public Advocates Office filed a joint motion to adopt a settlement agreement between the two parties resolving all issues in connection with the general
rate case.

On August 15, 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision on this general rate case, adopting the settlement agreement in its entirety. As a result of the decision, which
was retroactive to January 1, 2018, Registrant recorded approximately $2.3 million of pretax income in 2019 which related to 2018. Among other things, the decision (i)
authorizes a new return on equity for GSWC's electric segment of 9.60%, as compared to its previously authorized return of 9.95%; (ii) includes a capital structure and debt
cost similar to those approved by the CPUC in March 2018 in connection with GSWC's water segment cost of capital proceeding; and (iii) extends the rate cycle by an
additional year (new rates will be effective for 2018 - 2022).
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Note 4 — Utility Plant and Intangible Assets

The following table shows Registrant’s utility plant (regulated utility plant and non-regulated utility property) by major asset class:

  
AWR

December 31,  
GSWC

December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2019  2018

Water         
Land  $ 18,066  $ 14,890  $ 18,066  $ 14,890
Intangible assets  28,578  29,412  28,578  29,413
Source of water supply  91,685  91,349  91,685  91,349
Pumping  178,058  182,673  178,058  182,673
Water treatment  78,048  82,198  78,048  82,198
Transmission and distribution  1,219,285  1,142,105  1,219,285  1,142,105
Other  117,276  131,419  86,722  106,907

  1,730,996  1,674,046  1,700,442  1,649,535
Electric         

Transmission and distribution  84,018  82,257  84,018  82,257
Generation  12,583  12,583  12,583  12,583
Other (1)  11,824  11,224  11,824  11,224

  108,425  106,064  108,425  106,064
         

Less — accumulated depreciation  (543,263)  (561,855)  (531,801)  (551,244)
Construction work in progress  119,547  78,055  117,676  76,737

Net utility plant  $ 1,415,705  $ 1,296,310  $ 1,394,742  $ 1,281,092

(1)         Includes intangible assets of $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 for studies performed in association with the electricity segment of the
Registrant’s operations.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, intangible assets consist of the following:

 

 
Weighted Average

 Amortization  
AWR

 December 31,  
GSWC

 December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  Period  2019  2018  2019  2018

Intangible assets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Conservation programs  3 years  $ 9,486  $ 9,486  $ 9,486  $ 9,486
Water and service rights (2)  30 years  8,695  8,695  8,124  8,124
Water planning studies  14 years  11,808  12,641  11,808  12,641

Total intangible assets  
 

 29,989  30,822  29,418  30,251
Less — accumulated amortization  

 

 (24,309)  (24,399)  (24,166)  (24,268)

Intangible assets, net of amortization  
 

 $ 5,680  $ 6,423  $ 5,252  $ 5,983

           

Intangible assets not subject to amortization (3)  
 

 $ 402  $ 422  $ 402  $ 404

(2)         Includes intangible assets of $571,000 for contracted services included in "Other Property and Investments" on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019
and 2018.

(3)         The intangible assets not subject to amortization primarily consist of organization and consent fees.
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For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, amortization of intangible assets was $1.3 million, $1.1 million and $1.5 million, respectively, for both
AWR and GSWC.  Estimated future consolidated amortization expenses related to intangible assets for the succeeding five years are (in thousands):

 

 
Amortization

Expense

2020  $ 90
2021  12
2022  12
2023  12
2024  12
Total  $ 138

Asset Retirement Obligations:

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount of asset retirement obligations, which are included in “Other Credits” on
the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

(dollars in thousands)  GSWC

Obligation at December 31, 2017  $ 4,963
Additional liabilities incurred  256
Liabilities settled  (46)
Accretion  55

Obligation at December 31, 2018  $ 5,228
Additional liabilities incurred  271
Liabilities settled  (173)
Accretion  86

  Revision of previous estimates  3,451
Obligation at December 31, 2019  $ 8,863

Revision of previous estimates reflect updated estimated costs for the retirement of wells, which GSWC is legally required to cap at the time of removal. Wells have
an estimated useful life of 50 years.

Note 5 — Derivative Instruments

GSWC's electric division, BVES, purchases power under long-term contracts at a fixed cost depending on the amount of power and the period during which the
power is purchased under such contracts.  In August 2019, the CPUC approved an application that allowed BVES to enter into new long-term purchased power contracts
with energy providers, which BVES executed in September 2019. BVES began taking power under these long-term contracts during the fourth quarter of 2019 at a fixed cost
over three and five-year terms depending on the amount of power and period during which the power is purchased under the contracts.

These long-term contracts are subject to the accounting guidance for derivatives and require mark-to-market derivative accounting. Among other things, the CPUC
also authorized BVES to establish a regulatory asset and liability memorandum account to offset the mark-to-market entries required by the accounting guidance. 
Accordingly, all unrealized gains and losses generated from these purchased power contracts are deferred on a monthly basis into a non-interest bearing regulatory
memorandum account that tracks the changes in fair value of the derivative throughout the term of the contract. As a result, these unrealized gains and losses do not impact
GSWC’s earnings. As of December 31, 2019, there was a $3.2 million unrealized loss in the memorandum account, with a corresponding unrealized loss liability for the three
and five-year purchased power contract as a result of the fixed prices being greater than the futures energy prices. The notional volume of derivatives remaining under these
long-term contracts as of December 31, 2019 was approximately 638,000 megawatt hours.

As previously discussed in Note 1, the accounting guidance for fair value measurements establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires fair value
measurements to be classified and disclosed in one of three levels. Registrant’s valuation model utilizes various inputs that include quoted market prices for energy over the
duration of the contracts. The market prices used to determine the fair value for these derivative instruments were estimated based on independent sources such as broker
quotes and publications that are not observable in or corroborated by the market.  When such inputs have a significant impact on the measurement of fair value, the
instrument is categorized as Level 3. Accordingly, the valuation of the
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derivatives on Registrant’s purchased power contracts have been classified as Level 3 for all periods presented. The following table presents changes in the fair value of
GSWC’s derivatives for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018

Balance, at beginning of the period  $ (311)  $ (2,941)
Unrealized (loss) gain on purchased power contracts  (2,860)  2,630

Balance, at end of the period  $ (3,171)  $ (311)

Note 6 — Military Privatization

Each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries have entered into a service contract(s) with the U.S. government to operate and maintain, as well as perform
construction activities to renew and replace, the water and/or wastewater systems at a military base or bases. The amounts charged for these services are based upon the terms
of the 50-year contract between ASUS or the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries and the U.S. government. Under the terms of each of these agreements, the Military
Utility Privatization Subsidiaries agree to operate and maintain the water and/or wastewater systems for: (i) a monthly net fixed-price for operation and maintenance, and
(ii) an amount to cover renewal and replacement capital work.  In addition, these contracts may also include firm, fixed-priced initial capital upgrade projects to upgrade the
existing infrastructure. Contract modifications are also issued for other necessary capital upgrades to the existing infrastructure approved by the U.S. government.

Under the terms of each of these contracts, prices are subject to an economic price adjustment ("EPA") provision, on an annual basis. Prices may also be equitably
adjusted for changes in law and other circumstances.  During 2018, the U.S. government issued contract modifications for the majority of ASUS's 50-year contracts
addressing the impacts of the Tax Act. The modifications did not result in a material impact to ASUS's results for the year ended December 31, 2018. ASUS is permitted to
file, and has filed, requests for equitable adjustment.

Each of the contracts may be subject to termination, in whole or in part, prior to the end of the 50-year term for convenience of the U.S. government or as a result of
default or nonperformance by the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries. 

On July 1, 2018, ASUS assumed the operation, maintenance and construction management of the water distribution and wastewater collection and treatment
facilities at Fort Riley, a United States Army installation located in Kansas. The 50-year contract is subject to annual economic price adjustments.

ASUS has experienced delays in receiving EPAs as provided for under its 50-year contracts. Because of the delays, EPAs, when finally approved, are retroactive.
During 2019, the U.S. government approved EPAs at eight of the bases served. In some cases, these EPAs included retroactive operation and maintenance management fees
for prior periods. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, retroactive operation and maintenance management fees related to prior periods were immaterial. For the
year ended December 31, 2017, ASUS recorded approximately $1.0 million in retroactive operation and maintenance management fees and pretax operating income related
to periods prior to 2017.

Note 7 — Earnings Per Share and Capital Stock
 

In accordance with the accounting guidance for participating securities and earnings per share (“EPS”), Registrant uses the “two-class” method of computing EPS.
The “two-class” method is an earnings allocation formula that determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating security. AWR has participating securities
related to restricted stock units that earn dividend equivalents on an equal basis with AWR’s Common Shares that have been issued under AWR’s 2016 employee plans and
the 2003 and 2013 directors' plans. In applying the “two-class” method, undistributed earnings are allocated to both common shares and participating securities.
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The following is a reconciliation of Registrant’s net income and weighted average Common Shares outstanding for calculating basic net income per share:

Basic:  For The Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  2019  2018  2017

Net income  $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 69,367
Less: (a) Distributed earnings to common shareholders  42,702  38,937  36,417

 Distributed earnings to participating securities  180  204  197
Undistributed earnings  41,460  24,730  32,753
       

(b) Undistributed earnings allocated to common shareholders  41,285  24,601  32,577
 Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities  175  129  176

Total income available to common shareholders, basic (a)+(b)  $ 83,987  $ 63,538  $ 68,994

       

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding, basic  36,814  36,733  36,638
       

Basic earnings per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.73  $ 1.88

 Diluted EPS is based upon the weighted average number of Common Shares, including both outstanding shares and shares potentially issuable in connection with
restricted stock units granted under AWR’s 2016 employee plans, and the 2003 and 2013 directors' plans, and net income. At December 31, 2019, there were also 159,720
restricted stock units outstanding including performance shares awarded to officers of the Registrant.

The following is a reconciliation of Registrant’s net income and weighted average Common Shares outstanding for calculating diluted net income per share:

Diluted:  For The Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  2019  2018  2017

Common shareholders earnings, basic  $ 83,987  $ 63,538  $ 68,994
Undistributed earnings for dilutive stock options and restricted stock units  175  129  176
Total common shareholders earnings, diluted  $ 84,162  $ 63,667  $ 69,170

       

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding, basic  36,814  36,733  36,638
Stock-based compensation (1)  150  203  206
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding, diluted  36,964  36,936  36,844
  

 

 
 

 
 

Diluted earnings per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 1.88
 

(1)         In applying the treasury stock method of reflecting the dilutive effect of outstanding stock-based compensation in the calculation of diluted EPS, 159,720 restricted
stock units, including performance awards, at December 31, 2019 were deemed to be outstanding in accordance with accounting guidance on earnings per share.

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, AWR issued Common Shares totaling 88,772, 44,906 and 56,498, respectively, under AWR's employee
stock incentive plans and the non-employee directors' plans.  In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, AWR issued 30,998, 32,142 and 52,936
Common Shares for approximately $519,000, $546,000 and $909,000, respectively, as a result of the exercise of stock options.  During 2019, 2018 and 2017, no cash
proceeds received by AWR as a result of the exercise of stock options were distributed to any of AWR's subsidiaries. AWR has not issued any Common Shares during 2019,
2018 and 2017 under AWR's Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan ("DRP") and the 401(k) Plan. Shares reserved for the 401(k) Plan are in relation to
AWR’s matching contributions and investment by participants.  As of December 31, 2019, there were 1,055,948 and 387,300 Common Shares authorized for issuance
directly by AWR but unissued under the DRP and the 401(k) Plan, respectively. 

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, AWR and GSWC made payments to taxing authorities on employees' behalf for shares withheld related
to net share settlements. These payments are included in the stock-based compensation caption of the statements of equity. GSWC’s outstanding Common Shares are owned
entirely by its parent, AWR.  To the extent GSWC does not reimburse AWR for stock-based compensation awarded under various stock compensation plans, such amounts
increase the value of GSWC’s common shareholder’s equity.
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Note 8 — Dividend Limitations

GSWC is subject to contractual restrictions on its ability to pay dividends. GSWC’s maximum ability to pay dividends is restricted by certain Note Agreements to
the sum of $21.0 million plus 100% of consolidated net income from various dates plus the aggregate net cash proceeds received from capital stock offerings or other
instruments convertible into capital stock from various dates. Under the most restrictive of the Note Agreements, $473.9 million was available to pay dividends to AWR as of
December 31, 2019. GSWC is also prohibited from paying dividends if, after giving effect to the dividend, its total indebtedness to capitalization ratio (as defined) would be
more than 0.6667-to-1. Dividends in the amount of $20.2 million, $68.9 million and $27.7 million were paid to AWR by GSWC during the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively. 

 The ability of AWR, ASUS and GSWC to pay dividends is also restricted by California law. Under California law, AWR, GSWC and ASUS are each permitted to
distribute dividends to its shareholders so long as the Board of Directors determines, in good faith, that either: (i) the value of the corporation’s assets equals or exceeds the
sum of its total liabilities immediately after the dividend, or (ii) its retained earnings equals or exceeds the amount of the distribution.  Under the least restrictive of the
California tests, approximately $346.0 million was available to pay dividends to AWR’s shareholders at December 31, 2019. Approximately $257.4 million was available for
GSWC to pay dividends to AWR at December 31, 2019. Approximately $62.1 million was available for ASUS to pay dividends to AWR as of December 31, 2019 to the
extent that the subsidiaries of ASUS are able to pay dividends in that amount to ASUS under applicable state laws.

Note 9 — Bank Debt

AWR has access to a credit facility in order to provide funds to its subsidiaries, GSWC and ASUS, in support of their operations. In March 2019, AWR amended
this credit facility to increase its borrowing capacity from $150.0 million to $200.0 million. In October 2019, AWR further amended the credit facility to temporarily increase
its borrowing capacity to $225.0 million, effective until June 30, 2020, upon which the borrowing capacity reverts to $200.0 million. In February 2020, AWR received a
binding commitment from its lender for the option to revise the temporary increase of the credit facility to $260.0 million through the end of 2020. AWR will be able to
exercise this commitment and have immediate access to the additional funds when needed. On December 31, 2020, the borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million. At
December 31, 2019, there was $205.0 million outstanding under the credit facility.  Amounts due are generally priced off a spread to LIBOR. The aggregate effective amount
that may be outstanding under letters of credit is $25.0 million.  AWR has obtained letters of credit, primarily for GSWC, in the aggregate amount of $940,000, with fees of
0.65% including: (i) letters of credit in an aggregate amount of $340,000 as security for GSWC’s business automobile insurance policy; (ii) a letter of credit, in an amount of
$585,000 as security for the purchase of power; and (iii) a $15,000 irrevocable letter of credit pursuant to a franchise agreement with the City of Rancho Cordova. Letters of
credit outstanding reduce the amount that may be borrowed under the revolving credit facility. AWR is not required to maintain any compensating balances.

Loans may be obtained under this credit facility at the option of AWR and bear interest at rates based on credit ratings and Euro rate margins.  In December 2019,
Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings (“S&P”) affirmed an A+ credit rating with a stable outlook on both AWR and GSWC. S&P’s debt ratings range from AAA (highest
possible) to D (obligation is in default). In May 2019, Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") affirmed its A2 rating with a revised outlook from positive to stable for GSWC.

 At times, AWR borrows under this facility and provides loans to its subsidiaries in support of their operations, on terms that are similar to that of the credit facility.
AWR’s borrowing activities (excluding letters of credit) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

 

 December 31,

(in thousands, except percent)  2019  2018

Balance Outstanding at December 31,  $ 205,000  $ 95,500
Interest Rate at December 31,  2.44%  3.19%
Average Amount Outstanding  $ 167,392  $ 69,559
Weighted Average Annual Interest Rate  2.88%  2.66%
Maximum Amount Outstanding  $ 205,500  $ 95,500

 All of the letters of credit are issued pursuant to the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility contains restrictions on prepayments, disposition of
property, mergers, liens and negative pledges, indebtedness and guaranty obligations, transactions with affiliates, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum debt
to capitalization ratio and a minimum debt rating. Pursuant to the credit agreement, AWR must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.25 times interest expense, a
maximum total funded debt ratio of 0.65 to 1.00 and a minimum Moody’s Investor Service or S&P debt
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rating of Baa3 or BBB-, respectively.  As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, AWR was in compliance with these requirements. As of December 31, 2019, AWR had an
interest coverage ratio of 6.89 times interest expense, a debt ratio of 0.45 to 1.00 and a debt rating of A+ by S&P. 

Note 10 — Long-Term Debt

Registrant’s long-term debt consists primarily of notes and debentures of GSWC. Registrant summarizes its long-term debt in the Statements of Capitalization.
GSWC does not currently have any outstanding mortgages or other encumbrances on its properties.

In March of 2019, GSWC repaid $40 million of its 6.7% senior note, which matured in that month. GSWC increased its intercompany borrowings from AWR to
fund the repayment of this note.

Each of the private placement notes issued by GSWC contain various restrictions. Private placement notes issued in the amount of $28 million due in 2031 contain
restrictions on the payment of dividends, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum total indebtedness to capitalization ratio and a negative pledge. Pursuant to
the terms of these notes, GSWC must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of two times interest expense.  As of December 31, 2019, GSWC had an interest coverage
ratio of over four times interest expense.

In December 2014, GSWC issued $15.0 million in 3.45% private placement senior notes due in 2029. In 2005, GSWC issued senior private placement notes due in
2028. Pursuant to the terms of these notes, GSWC must maintain a total indebtedness to capitalization ratio (as defined) of less than 0.6667-to-1 and a total indebtedness to
earnings before income taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") of less than 8-to-1. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC had a total indebtedness to capitalization
ratio of 0.4445-to-1 and a total indebtedness to EBITDA of 3.1-to-1.

Certain long-term debt issues outstanding as of December 31, 2019 can be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of GSWC subject to redemption schedules
embedded in the agreements particular to each redeemable issue. The 9.56% notes are subject to a make-whole premium based on 55 basis points above the applicable
Treasury Yield if redeemed prior to 2021. After 2021, the maximum redemption premium is 3% of par value. The 5.87% senior note is subject to a make-whole premium
based on the difference between the bank's cost of funds on the date of purchase and the bank's cost of funds on the date of redemption plus 0.5%. The $15.0 million, 3.45%
senior notes due in 2029 have similar redemption premiums.

 In October 2009, GSWC entered into an agreement with the California Department of Public Health (“CDPH”) whereby CDPH agreed to provide funds to GSWC
of up to $9.0 million under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act.  Proceeds from the funds received were used to reimburse GSWC for capital costs incurred to
install water meters to convert customers in GSWC’s Arden-Cordova district from non-metered service to metered service.  GSWC received a total of $8.6 million in
reimbursements from the CDPH, half of which was recorded as a contribution in aid of construction and the other half as long-term debt in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.  The loan portion bears interest at a rate of 2.5% and is payable over 20 years beginning in 2013.  A surcharge to recover from customers the debt service cost on
this loan was approved by the CPUC and implemented in 2013.

Annual maturities of all long-term debt at December 31, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

2020 $ 344
2021 365
2022 392
2023 406
2024 425
Thereafter 282,767
Total $ 284,699

Note 11 — Taxes on Income

Registrant records deferred income taxes for temporary differences pursuant to the accounting guidance that addresses items recognized for income tax purposes in a
different period from when these items are reported in the financial statements.  These items include differences in net asset basis (primarily related to differences in
depreciation lives and methods, and differences in capitalization methods) and the treatment of certain regulatory balancing accounts and construction contributions and
advances.  The accounting guidance for income taxes requires that rate-regulated enterprises record deferred income taxes and offsetting regulatory liabilities and assets for
temporary differences where the rate regulator has prescribed flow-through treatment for ratemaking purposes (Note 3).  Deferred investment tax credits (“ITC”) are
amortized ratably to deferred tax expense over the remaining lives of the property that gave rise to these credits.
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GSWC is included in both AWR’s consolidated federal income tax and its combined California state franchise tax returns.  The impact of California’s unitary
apportionment on the amount of AWR’s California income tax liability is a function of both the profitability of AWR’s non-California activities and the proportion of AWR’s
California sales to its total sales. GSWC’s income tax expense is computed as if GSWC were autonomous and separately files its income tax returns, which is consistent with
the method adopted by the CPUC in setting GSWC’s customer rates.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act") was signed into federal law. The provisions of this major tax reform were generally effective on
January 1, 2018. Among its significant provisions, the Tax Act (i) reduced the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%; (ii) eliminated bonus depreciation for
regulated utilities, while allowing 100% expensing for the cost of qualified property for non-regulated businesses; (iii) eliminated the provision that treated contributions in
aid of construction provided to regulated water utilities as non-taxable; (iv) eliminated the domestic production activities deduction, and (v) limits the amount of net interest
that can be deducted; however, this limitation is not applicable to regulated utilities and, therefore has not had, nor is it anticipated to have, a material impact to Registrant’s
ability to deduct net interest.

Pursuant to ASC Topic 740, "Income Taxes", the effects of changes in tax laws must be recognized within the period in which the tax law is enacted. This required
AWR and GSWC to record an adjustment in its 2017 financial statements to reflect the impact of the reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% on its
cumulative deferred income-tax balances and its tax-related regulatory assets/liabilities. The remeasurement of Registrant’s deferred income-tax balances and its tax-related
regulatory assets/liabilities did not have a significant impact to Registrant's consolidated results of operations in 2017 since the majority of the remeasurement was related to
GSWC’s rate-regulated activities and was offset by a corresponding increase to a regulatory liability (Note 3). There were no material updates during the year ended
December 31, 2018 to the remeasurement of Registrant's deferred income-tax balances and its tax-related regulatory assets/liabilities in accordance with Staff Accounting
Bulletin 118.

The significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as reflected in the balance sheets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are:

 

 AWR  GSWC

 

 December 31,  December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2019  2018

Deferred tax assets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Regulatory-liability-related (1)  $ 33,080  $ 33,419  $ 33,080  $ 33,419
Contributions and advances  5,777  5,281  6,158  5,666
Other  5,792  2,988  6,618  3,310

Total deferred tax assets  $ 44,649  $ 41,688  $ 45,856  $ 42,395
Deferred tax liabilities:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Fixed assets  $ (144,444)  $ (131,413)  $ (147,759)  $ (135,617)
Regulatory-asset-related: depreciation and other  (20,641)  (18,146)  (20,641)  (18,146)
Balancing and memorandum accounts (non-flow-through)  (4,868)  (6,325)  (5,262)  (6,873)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (169,953)  (155,884)  (173,662)  (160,636)
Accumulated deferred income taxes - net  $ (125,304)  $ (114,196)  $ (127,806)  $ (118,241)

 (1) Primarily represents the gross-up portion of the deferred income tax (on the excess-deferred-tax regulatory liability) brought about by the Tax Act’s reduction in the
federal income tax rate.
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The current and deferred components of income tax expense are as follows:

 

 AWR

 

 Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Current  
 

 
 

 
 

Federal  $ 12,507  $ 17,252  $ 20,978
State  5,540  6,538  5,844

Total current tax expense  $ 18,047  $ 23,790  $ 26,822
Deferred  

 

 
 

 
 

Federal  $ 6,407  $ (4,334)  $ 11,543
State  216  (1,439)  609

Total deferred tax (benefit) expense  6,623  (5,773)  12,152
Total income tax expense  $ 24,670  $ 18,017  $ 38,974

 

 GSWC

 

 Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Current  
 

 
 

 
 

Federal  $ 9,616  $ 14,488  $ 15,044
State  5,480  5,932  5,045

Total current tax expense  $ 15,096  $ 20,420  $ 20,089
Deferred  

 

 
 

 
 

Federal  $ 4,924  $ (5,531)  $ 11,770
State  157  (1,286)  2,200

Total deferred tax (benefit) expense  5,081  (6,817)  13,970
Total income tax expense  $ 20,177  $ 13,603  $ 34,059

The AWR and GSWC effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory tax rate primarily due to (i) state taxes; (ii) permanent differences including the excess tax
benefits from share-based payments, which were reflected in the income statements and resulted in a reduction to income tax expense; (iii) amortization, commencing in
2018, of the excess deferred income tax liability brought about by the lower federal corporate income tax rate, and (iv) differences between book and taxable income that are
treated as flow-through adjustments in accordance with regulatory requirements (principally from plant, rate-case, and compensation expenses). As a regulated utility, GSWC
treats certain temporary differences as flow-through in computing its income tax expense consistent with the income tax method used in its CPUC-jurisdiction ratemaking. 
Flow-through items either increase or decrease tax expense and thus impact the ETR. The reconciliations of the effective tax rates to the federal statutory rate are as follows:
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 AWR

 

 Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Federal taxes on pretax income at statutory rate (21% in 2019 and 2018; 35% in 2017)  $ 22,872  $ 17,196  $ 37,919
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:      

 

State income tax, net of federal benefit  4,758  3,693  4,382
Change in tax rate  —  (14)  (82)
Excess deferred tax amortization  (1,579)  (2,101)  —
Flow-through on fixed assets  1,244  429  845
Flow-through on removal costs  (1,582)  (1,445)  (1,980)
Domestic production activities deduction  —  (26)  (1,421)
Investment tax credit  (71)  (69)  (93)
Other – net  (972)  354  (596)

Total income tax expense from operations  $ 24,670  $ 18,017  $ 38,974
Pretax income from operations  $ 109,012  $ 81,888  $ 108,341

Effective income tax rate  22.6%  22.0%  36.0%

 

 GSWC

  Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Federal taxes on pretax income at statutory rate (21% in 2019 and 2018; 35% in 2017)  $ 18,236  $ 12,939  $ 30,736
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:      

 

State income tax, net of federal benefit  4,656  3,335  4,924
Change in tax rate  —  —  1,063
Excess deferred tax amortization  (1,579)  (2,101)  —
Flow-through on fixed assets  1,244  429  845
Flow-through on removal costs  (1,582)  (1,445)  (1,980)
Domestic production activities deduction  —  (25)  (1,148)
Investment tax credit  (71)  (69)  (93)
Other – net  (727)  540  (288)

Total income tax expense from operations  $ 20,177  $ 13,603  $ 34,059
Pretax income from operations  $ 86,840  $ 61,615  $ 87,816

Effective income tax rate  23.2%  22.1%  38.8%

AWR and GSWC had no unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Registrant’s policy is to classify interest on income tax over/underpayments in interest income/expense and penalties in “other operating expenses.” Registrant did
not have any material interest receivables/payables from/to taxing authorities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, nor did it recognize any material interest income/expense or
accrue any material tax-related penalties during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Registrant files federal, California and various other state income tax returns.  AWR's 2016 - 2018 tax years remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service. AWR filed refund claims with the California Franchise Tax Board ("FTB") for the 2002 through 2008 tax years in connection with the matters reflected on the
federal refund claims along with other state tax items. In the first quarter of 2017, the FTB issued a refund to AWR for the 2002 - 2004 claims of approximately $2.2 million.
The FTB continues to review the 2005 - 2008 refund claims. The 2009 - 2018 tax years remain subject to examination by the FTB.

89



Table of Contents

Note 12 — Employee Benefit Plans

Pension and Post-Retirement Medical Plans:

Registrant maintains a defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) that provides eligible employees (those aged 21 and older, hired before January 1, 2011)
monthly benefits upon retirement based on average salaries and length of service. The eligibility requirement to begin receiving these benefits is 5 years of vested service.
The normal retirement benefit is equal to 2% of the 5 highest consecutive years’ average earnings multiplied by the number of years of credited service, up to a maximum of
40, reduced by a percentage of primary Social Security benefits. There is also an early retirement option. Annual contributions are made to the Pension Plan, which comply
with the funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”). At December 31, 2019, Registrant had 939 participants in the Pension Plan.

Employees hired or rehired after December 31, 2010 are eligible to participate in a defined contribution plan. Registrant's existing 401(k) Investment Incentive
Program was amended to include this defined contribution plan.  Under this plan, Registrant provides a contribution ranging from 3% to 5.25% of eligible pay each pay
period into investment vehicles offered by the plan’s trustee.  Full vesting under this plan occurs upon 3 years of service.  Employees hired before January 1, 2011 continue to
participate in and accrue benefits under the terms of the Pension Plan. 

Registrant also provides post-retirement medical benefits for all active employees hired before February of 1995 through a medical insurance plan. Eligible
employees, who retire prior to age 65, and/or their spouses, are able to retain the benefits under the plan for active employees until reaching age 65. Eligible employees upon
reaching age 65, and those eligible employees retiring at or after age 65, and/or their spouses, receive coverage through a Medicare supplement insurance policy paid for by
Registrant subject to an annual cap limit. Registrant’s post-retirement medical plan does not provide prescription drug benefits to Medicare-eligible employees and is not
affected by the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.

In accordance with the accounting guidance for the effects of certain types of regulation, Registrant has established a regulatory asset for its underfunded position in
its pension and post-retirement medical plans that is expected to be recovered through rates in future periods. The changes in actuarial gains and losses, prior service costs
and transition assets or obligations pertaining to the regulatory asset are recognized as an adjustment to the regulatory asset account as these amounts are recognized as
components of net periodic pension costs each year and in the rate-making process.

The following table sets forth the Pension Plan’s and post-retirement medical plan’s funded status and amounts recognized in Registrant’s balance sheets and the
components of net pension cost and accrued liability at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

 

 Pension Benefits  
Post-Retirement Medical

Benefits

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2019  2018

Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 196,082  $ 207,690  $ 7,886  $ 8,491
Service cost  4,441  5,342  186  218
Interest cost  8,527  7,646  285  292
Plan amendment  —  3,626  —  —
Actuarial (gain) loss  29,784  (21,717)  (538)  (701)
Benefits/expenses paid  (6,982)  (6,505)  (424)  (414)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year  $ 231,852  $ 196,082  $ 7,395  $ 7,886
         
Changes in Plan Assets:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ 162,529  $ 173,648  $ 10,010  $ 11,053
Actual return on plan assets  33,018  (10,626)  1,685  (629)
Employer contributions  3,913  6,012  170  —
Benefits/expenses paid  (6,983)  (6,505)  (594)  (414)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 192,477  $ 162,529  $ 11,271  $ 10,010
         
Funded Status:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net amount recognized as accrued pension cost  $ (39,375)  $ (33,553)  $ 3,876  $ 2,124
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  Pension Benefits  
Post-Retirement
Medical Benefits

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2019  2018

Amounts recognized on the balance sheets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Non-current assets  $ —  $ —  $ 3,876  $ 2,124
Current liabilities  —  —  —  —
Non-current liabilities  (39,375)  (33,553)  —  —

Net amount recognized  $ (39,375)  $ (33,553)  $ 3,876  $ 2,124
Amounts recognized in regulatory assets consist of:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Prior service cost (credit)  $ 3,191  $ 3,626  $ —  $ —
Net (gain) loss  37,309  31,587  (5,432)  (4,459)

Regulatory assets (liabilities)  40,500  35,213  (5,432)  (4,459)
Unfunded accrued pension cost  (1,125)  (1,660)  1,556  2,335

Net liability (asset) recognized  $ 39,375  $ 33,553  $ (3,876)  $ (2,124)

         

Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in regulatory assets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Regulatory asset at beginning of year  $ 35,213  $ 32,761  $ (4,459)  $ (5,650)
Net loss (gain)  7,140  81  (1,775)  421
New prior service cost  —  3,626  —  —
Amortization of prior service (cost) credit  (434)  —  —  —
Amortization of net gain (loss)  (1,419)  (1,255)  802  770

Total change in regulatory asset  5,287  2,452  (973)  1,191

Regulatory asset (liability) at end of year  $ 40,500  $ 35,213  $ (5,432)  $ (4,459)

         

Net periodic pension costs  $ 4,447  $ 3,070  $ (779)  $ (752)
Change in regulatory asset  5,287  2,452  (973)  1,191

Total recognized in net periodic pension cost and regulatory asset (liability)  $ 9,734  $ 5,522  $ (1,752)  $ 439

         

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from regulatory asset over the next
fiscal year:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Prior service (cost) credit  $ (434)  $ (434)  $ —  $ —
Net gain (loss)  $ (1,768)  $ (1,435)  $ 796  $ 598

         

Additional year-end information for plans with an accumulated benefit obligation
in excess of plan assets:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Projected benefit obligation  $ 231,852  $ 196,082  $ 7,395  $ 7,886
Accumulated benefit obligation  $ 215,996  $ 183,036  N/A  N/A
Fair value of plan assets  $ 192,477  $ 162,529  $ 11,271  $ 10,010

         

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at
December 31:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Discount rate  3.43%  4.43%  3.12%  4.20%
Rate of compensation increase  *  *  N/A  N/A

* Age-graded ranging from 3.0% to 8.0%.
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The components of net periodic pension and post-retirement benefits cost, before allocation to the overhead pool, for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

  Pension Benefits  
Post-Retirement
 Medical Benefits

(dollars in thousands, except percent)  2019  2018  2017  2019  2018  2017

Components of Net Periodic Benefits Cost:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Service cost  $ 4,441  $ 5,342  $ 4,999  $ 186  $ 218  $ 227
Interest cost  8,527  7,646  7,904  285  292  324
Expected return on plan assets  (10,374)  (11,172)  (9,705)  (449)  (493)  (466)
Amortization of prior service cost (credit)  434  —  —  —  —  —
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss  1,419  1,254  923  (801)  (769)  (775)

Net periodic pension cost under accounting standards  $ 4,447  $ 3,070  $ 4,121  $ (779)  $ (752)  $ (690)
Regulatory adjustment  (593)  —  465  —  —  —

Total expense recognized, before surcharges and allocation to
overhead pool  $ 3,854  $ 3,070  $ 4,586  $ (779)  $ (752)  $ (690)

             

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic
cost:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Discount rate  4.43%  3.76%  4.44%  4.20%  3.52%  3.97%
Expected long-term return on plan assets  6.50%  6.50%  6.50%  *  *  *
Rate of compensation increase  **  **  **  N/A  N/A  N/A

*6.0% for union plan and 4.2% for non-union (net of income taxes) in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
 ** Age-graded ranging from 3.0% to 8.0%.

Regulatory Adjustment:
The CPUC authorized GSWC to track differences between the forecasted annual pension expenses adopted in rates for its water and electric regions and the general

office and the actual annual expense to be recorded by GSWC in accordance with the accounting guidance for pension costs.  During the year ended December 31, 2019,
GSWC's actual expense was higher than the amounts included in customer rates by $593,000. In 2018 and 2017, GSWC's actual expense was lower than the amounts
included in water and electric customer rates (including surcharges) by $1.7 million and $583,000, respectively.  In 2017 the annual over-collections were used to recover
previously incurred under-collections. The cumulative amounts recorded in the two-way pension balancing accounts are included within the pensions and other post-
retirement obligations regulatory assets discussed in Note 3. As of December 31, 2019, the two-way pension balancing accounts had a $2.7 million cumulative net over-
collection included within regulatory assets.

Plan Funded Status:
The Pension Plan was underfunded at December 31, 2019 and 2018.  Registrant’s market related value of plan assets is equal to the fair value of plan assets. Past

volatile market conditions have affected the value of GSWC’s trust established to fund its future long-term pension benefits. These benefit plan assets and related obligations
are measured annually using a December 31 measurement date. Changes in the Pension Plan’s funded status will affect the assets and liabilities recorded on the balance sheet
in accordance with accounting guidance on employers’ accounting for defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans.  Due to Registrant’s regulatory recovery
treatment, the recognition of the underfunded status for the Pension Plan has been offset by a regulatory asset pursuant to guidance on the accounting for the effects of certain
types of regulation.

Plan Assets:

The assets of the pension and post-retirement medical plans are managed by a third party trustee. The investment policy allocation of the assets in the trust was
approved by Registrant’s Administrative Committee (the “Committee”) for the pension and post-retirement medical funds, which has oversight responsibility for all
retirement plans.  The primary objectives underlying the investment of the pension and post-retirement plan assets are: (i) attempt to maintain a fully funded status with a
cushion for unexpected developments, possible future increases in expense levels and/or a reduction in the expected return on investments; (ii) seek to earn long-term returns
that compare favorably to appropriate market indexes, peer group universes and the policy asset allocation index; (iii) seek to provide sufficient liquidity to pay current
benefits and expenses; (iv) attempt to limit risk exposure through prudent diversification; and (v) seek to limit costs of administering and managing the plans.
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The Committee recognizes that risk and volatility are present to some degree with all types of investments.  High levels of risk may be avoided through
diversification by asset class, style of each investment manager and sector and industry limits.  Investment managers are retained to manage a pool of assets and allocate
funds in order to achieve an appropriate, diversified and balanced asset mix. The Committee’s strategy balances the requirement to maximize returns using potentially higher-
return generating assets, such as equity securities, with the need to control the risk of its benefit obligations with less volatile assets, such as fixed-income securities.

The Committee approves the target asset allocations.  Registrant’s pension and post-retirement plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2019 and
2018, by asset category are as follows:

  Pension Benefits  
Post-Retirement
Medical Benefits

Asset Category  2019  2018  2019  2018

Actual Asset Allocations:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Equity securities  56%  53%  61%  59%
Debt securities  39%  43%  38%  39%
Real Estate Funds  5%  4%  —%  —%
Cash equivalents  —%  —%  1%  2%

Total  100%  100%  100%  100%

Equity securities did not include AWR’s Common Shares as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Target Asset Allocations for 2019:  Pension Benefits  
Post-retirement
Medical Benefits

Equity securities  60%  60%
Debt securities  40%  40%

Total  100%  100%

The Pension Plan assets are in collective trust funds managed by a management firm appointed by the Committee. The fair value of these collective trust funds is
measured using net asset value per share. In accordance with ASU 2015-07 Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its
Equivalents), the fair value of the collective trust funds is not categorized in the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The following tables set forth the fair value, measured by net asset value, of the pension investment assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

  Net Asset Value as of December 31, 2019

(dollars in thousands)  Fair Value  Unfunded Commitments  Redemption Frequency  
Redemption Notice

Period

Cash equivalents  $ 600  —  N/A  N/A
Fixed income fund  74,123  —  Daily  Daily

Equity securities:         
U.S. small/mid cap funds  17,865  —  Daily  Daily
U.S. large cap funds  47,132  —  Daily  Daily
International funds  43,778  —  Daily  Daily
Total equity funds  108,775  —     

Real estate funds  8,979  —  Daily  Daily
Total  $ 192,477  —   
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  Net Asset Value as of December 31, 2018

(dollars in thousands)  Fair Value  Unfunded Commitments  Redemption Frequency  
Redemption Notice

Period

Cash equivalents  $ 590  —  N/A  N/A
Fixed income fund  70,642  —  Daily  Daily

Equity securities:         
U.S. small/mid cap funds  22,313  —  Daily  Daily
U.S. large cap funds  46,133  —  Daily  Daily
International funds  15,548  —  Daily  Daily
Total equity funds  83,994      

Real estate funds  7,303  —  Daily  Daily
Total  $ 162,529  —   

The collective trust funds may be invested or redeemed daily, and generally do not have any significant restrictions to redeem the investments.

As previously discussed in Note 1, the accounting guidance for fair value measurements establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires fair value
measurements to be classified and disclosed in one of three levels. As required by the accounting guidance, assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  All equity investments in the post-retirement medical plan are Level 1 investments in mutual funds. 
The fixed income category includes corporate bonds and notes. The majority of fixed income investments range in maturities from less than 1 to 20 years.  The fair values of
these investments are based on quoted market prices in active markets.

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the post-retirement plan's investment assets measured at fair value as of December 31, 2019
and 2018:

  Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

(dollars in thousands)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Fair Value of Post-Retirement Plan Assets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash equivalents  $ 69  —  —  $ 69
Fixed income  4,279  —  —  4,279
U.S. equity securities  6,923  —  —  6,923

Total investments measured at fair value  $ 11,271  —  —  $ 11,271

 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2018

(dollars in thousands)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Fair Value of Post-Retirement Plan Assets:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash equivalents  $ 263  —  —  $ 263
Fixed income  3,871  —  —  3,871
U.S. equity securities  5,876  —  —  5,876

Total investments measured at fair value  $ 10,010  —  —  $ 10,010

Plan Contributions:

During 2019, Registrant contributed $3.9 million to its pension plan and did not make a contribution to the post-retirement medical plan. Registrant expects to
contribute approximately $3.3 million to its pension plan in 2020.  Registrant’s policy is to fund the plans annually at a level which is deductible for income tax purposes and
is consistent with amounts recovered in customer rates.
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Benefit Payments:

Estimated future benefit payments at December 31, 2019 for the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

 
Pension Benefits  

Post-Retirement
 Medical Benefits

2020 $ 7,910  $ 526
2021 8,574  599
2022 9,263  642
2023 9,839  677
2024 10,441  652
Thereafter 60,621  2,607
Total $ 106,648  $ 5,703

Assumptions:

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as the discount rate, long-term rate of return on plan assets, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend rate have a significant effect
on the amounts reported for net periodic benefit cost as well as the related benefit obligation amounts.

Discount Rate — The assumed discount rate for pension and post-retirement medical plans reflects the market rates for high-quality corporate bonds currently
available. Registrant’s discount rates were determined by considering the average of pension yield curves constructed of a large population of high quality corporate bonds.
The resulting discount rate reflects the matching of plan liability cash flows to the yield curves.

Expected Long-Term Rate of Return on Assets — The long-term rate of return on plan assets represents an estimate of long-term returns on an investment portfolio
consisting of a mixture of equities, fixed income and other investments. To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the pension plan,
Registrant considered the historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio.
Registrant’s policy is to fund the medical benefit trusts based on actuarially determined amounts as allowed in rates approved by the CPUC. Registrant has invested the funds
in the post-retirement trusts that will achieve a desired return and minimize amounts necessary to recover through rates. The mix is expected to provide for a return on assets
similar to the Pension Plan and to achieve Registrant’s targeted allocation. This resulted in the selection of the 6.0% long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the
union plan and 4.2% (net of income taxes) for the non-union plan portion of the post-retirement plan.

Mortality — Mortality assumptions are a critical component of benefit obligation amounts and a key factor in determining the expected length of time for annuity
payments. Registrant uses the latest mortality tables published by the Society of Actuaries. Accordingly, the benefit obligation amounts as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
have incorporated recent updates to the mortality tables.

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate — The assumed health care cost trend rate for 2020 starts at 5.9% grading down to 4.4% in 2035 for those under age 65, and at 5.0%
grading down to 4.2% in 2025 for those 65 and over. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects on the post-retirement medical plan:

(dollars in thousands)  
1-Percentage-Point

Increase  
1-Percentage-Point

Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components  $ 34  $ (29)
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation  $ 749  $ (645)

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan:

Registrant has a supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP”) that is intended to restore retirement benefits to certain key employees and officers of Registrant
that are limited by Sections 415 and 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Board of Directors approved the establishment of a Rabbi Trust
created for the SERP.  Assets in a Rabbi Trust can be subject to the claims of creditors; therefore, they are not considered as an asset for purposes of computing the SERP’s
funded status.  As of December 31, 2019, the balance in the Rabbi Trust totaled $21.6 million and is included in Registrant’s other property and investments.

All equity investments in the Rabbi Trust are Level 1 investments in mutual funds.  The fixed income category includes corporate bonds and notes. The fair values
of these investments are based on quoted market prices in active markets. 
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The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Rabbi Trust investment assets measured at fair value as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2019

(dollars in thousands)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Fair Value of Assets held in Rabbi Trust:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash equivalents  $ 72  —  —  $ 72
Fixed income securities  8,427  —  —  8,427
Equity securities  13,054  —  —  13,054

Total investments measured at fair value  $ 21,553  —  —  $ 21,553

 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2018

(dollars in thousands)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Fair Value of Assets held in Rabbi Trust:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash equivalents  $ 166  —  —  $ 166
Fixed income securities  6,251  —  —  6,251
Equity securities  9,995  —  —  9,995

Total investments measured at fair value  $ 16,412  —  —  $ 16,412

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, funded status of the SERP, as well as a summary of significant estimates at December 31, 2019 and
2018:

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018

Change in Benefit Obligation:  
 

 
 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 24,517  $ 24,062
Service cost  1,193  1,096
Interest cost  1,069  888
Actuarial (gain) loss  3,419  (1,104)
Benefits paid  (495)  (425)

Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 29,703  $ 24,517
Changes in Plan Assets:  

 

 
 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning and end of year  —  —
Funded Status:  

 

 
 

Net amount recognized as accrued cost  $ (29,703)  $ (24,517)
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(in thousands)  2019  2018

Amounts recognized on the balance sheets:  
 

 
 

Current liabilities  $ (609)  $ (433)
Non-current liabilities  (29,094)  (24,084)

Net amount recognized  $ (29,703)  $ (24,517)
Amounts recognized in regulatory assets consist of:  

 

 
 

Prior service cost  $ —  $ —
Net loss  8,352  5,403

Regulatory assets  8,352  5,403
Unfunded accrued cost  21,351  19,114

Net liability recognized  $ 29,703  $ 24,517

     
Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in regulatory assets consist of:  

 

 
 

Regulatory asset at beginning of year  $ 5,403  $ 7,556
Net (gain) loss  3,419  (1,104)
Amortization of prior service credit  —  —
Amortization of net loss  (470)  (1,049)

Total change in regulatory asset  2,949  (2,153)

Regulatory asset at end of year  $ 8,352  $ 5,403

     

Net periodic pension cost  $ 2,733  $ 3,033
Change in regulatory asset  2,949  (2,153)

Total recognized in net periodic pension and regulatory asset  $ 5,682  $ 880

     
Estimated amounts that will be amortized from regulatory asset over the next fiscal year:  

 

 
 

Initial net asset (obligation)  $ —  $ —
Prior service cost  —  —
Net loss  (844)  (471)
Additional year-end information for plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:  

 

 
 

Projected benefit obligation  $ 29,703  $ 24,517
Accumulated benefit obligation  26,251  21,229
Fair value of plan assets  —  —

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:  
 

 
 

Discount rate  3.36%  4.40%
Rate of compensation increase  4.00%  4.00%

The components of SERP expense, before allocation to the overhead pool, for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

(dollars in thousands, except percent)  2019  2018  2017

Components of Net Periodic Benefits Cost:  
 

 
 

 
 

Service cost  $ 1,193  $ 1,096  $ 930
Interest cost  1,069  888  893
Amortization of prior service cost  —  —  12
Amortization of net loss  471  1,049  777
Net periodic pension cost  $ 2,733  $ 3,033  $ 2,612

       
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost:  

 

 
 

 
 

Discount rate  4.40%  3.72%  4.34%
Rate of compensation increase  4.00%  4.00%  4.00%
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Benefit Payments:  Estimated future benefit payments for the SERP at December 31, 2019 for the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

2020 $ 609
2021 830
2022 932
2023 1,624
2024 1,704
Thereafter 10,117
Total $ 15,816

 401(k) Investment Incentive Program:

Registrant has a 401(k) Investment Incentive Program under which employees may invest a percentage of their pay, up to a maximum investment prescribed by law,
in an investment program managed by an outside investment manager. Registrant’s cash contributions to the 401(k) are based upon a percentage of individual employee
contributions and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $2.5 million, $2.4 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The Investment Incentive Program
also incorporates the defined contribution plan for employees hired on or after January 1, 2011. The cash contributions to the defined contribution plan for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

Note 13 — Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Summary Description of Stock Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2019, AWR has three active stock incentive plans: the 2016 stock incentive plan for its employees, and the 2003 and 2013 non-employee
directors plans for its Board of Directors, each more fully described below.

2016 Employee Plans — AWR adopted this employee plan, following shareholder approval, to provide stock-based incentive awards in the form of restricted stock
units, stock options and restricted stock to employees as a means of promoting the success of Registrant by attracting, retaining and more fully aligning the interests of
employees with those of customers and shareholders.  The 2016 employee plan also provides for the grant of performance awards. There are no stock options or restricted
stock grants currently outstanding. For restricted stock unit awards, the Compensation Committee determines the specific terms, conditions and provisions relating to each
restricted stock unit. Each employee who has been granted a time-vested restricted stock unit is entitled to dividend equivalent rights in the form of additional restricted stock
units until vesting of the time-vested restricted stock units. In general, time-vested restricted stock units vest over a period of 3 years.  Restricted stock units may also vest
upon retirement if the grantee is at least 55 and the sum of the grantee's age and years of service are equal to or greater than 75, or upon death or total disability. In addition,
restricted stock units may vest following a change in control if the Company terminates the grantee other than for cause or the employee terminates employment for good
reason. Each restricted stock unit is non-voting and entitles the holder of the restricted stock unit to receive one Common Share.

 The Compensation Committee also has the authority to determine the number, amount or value of performance awards, the duration of the performance period or
performance periods applicable to the award and the performance criteria applicable to each performance award for each performance period.  Each outstanding performance
award granted by the Compensation Committee has been in the form of restricted stock units that generally vest over a period of three years as provided in the performance
award agreement. The amount of the performance award paid to an employee depends upon satisfaction of performance criteria following the end of a three-year
performance period. Performance awards may also vest and be payable upon retirement if the grantee is at least 55 and the sum of the grantee's age and years of service are
equal to or greater than 75, or upon death or total disability. In addition, performance awards may vest following a change in control if the Company terminates the grantee
other than for cause or the employee terminates employment for good reason. The amount of the payment for performance awards granted will be at target in the event of
death or a termination of employment (other than for cause) by the Company or termination by the employee for good reason within 24 months after a change in control. In
all other circumstances, adjustments will be made to the amount of the payment to take into account the shortened performance period  

2003 and 2013 Directors Plans — The Board of Directors and shareholders of AWR have approved the 2003 and 2013 directors plans in order to provide the non-
employee directors with supplemental stock-based compensation to encourage them to increase their stock ownership in AWR. Grants may not be made under the 2003
directors plan. Non-employee directors are entitled to receive restricted stock units in an amount determined by the Board of Directors. This amount may not exceed two
times the annual retainer paid to directors. Effective for grants of restricted stock units to non-employee directors after 2012, such units are convertible to AWR's Common
Shares 90 days after the grant date.
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 All non-employee directors of AWR who were directors of AWR at the 2003 annual meeting have also received restricted stock units, which will be distributed upon
termination of the director's service as a director.

All restricted stock units and performance awards have been granted with dividend equivalent rights payable in the form of additional restricted stock units.

Recognition of Compensation Expense

Registrant recognizes compensation expense related to the fair value of stock-based compensation awards. Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant
date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity
grant). Immediate vesting occurs if the employee is at least 55 years old and the sum of the employee’s age and years of employment is equal to or greater than 75. Registrant
assumes that pre-vesting forfeitures will be minimal, and recognizes pre-vesting forfeitures as they occur, which results in a reduction in compensation expense.

The following table presents share-based compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.  These expenses resulting from restricted
stock units, including performance awards, are included in administrative and general expenses in AWR's and GSWC’s statements of income:

 

 AWR  GSWC

 

 For The Years Ended December 31,  For The Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017  2019  2018  2017

Stock-based compensation related to:             
Restricted stock units  $ 2,517  $ 3,851  $ 2,885  $ 2,253  $ 3,397  $ 2,420

Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 2,517  $ 3,851 $ 2,885 $ 2,253 $ 3,397 $ 2,420

Equity-based compensation cost capitalized as part of GSWC's utility plant for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $265,000, $199,000 and
$195,000, respectively, for both AWR and GSWC. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, AWR recorded approximately $1.8 million, $1.6 million and
$1.0 million, respectively, of tax benefits from stock-based awards. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, GSWC recorded approximately $1.8 million,
$1.6 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of tax benefits from stock-based awards.

Registrant amortizes stock-based compensation over the requisite (vesting) period for the entire award. Time-vesting restricted stock units vest and become
nonforfeitable in installments of 33% the first two years and 34% in the third year, starting one year from the date of the grant.  Outstanding performance awards vest and
become nonforfeitable in installments of 33% the first two years and 34% in the third year and are distributed at the end of the performance period if the performance criteria
set forth in the award agreement are satisfied.

 Restricted Stock Units (Time-Vested) — A restricted stock unit (“RSU”) represents the right to receive a share of AWR’s Common Shares and are valued based on
the fair market value of AWR's Common Shares on the date of grant. The fair value of RSUs were determined based on the closing trading price of Common Shares on the
grant date. A summary of the status of Registrant’s outstanding RSUs, excluding performance awards, to employees and directors as of December 31, 2019, and changes
during the year ended December 31, 2019, is presented below:

 

Number of
Restricted Share

Units  
Weighted Average
Grant-Date Value

Restricted share units at January 1, 2019 102,235  $ 34.73
Granted 23,550  67.57
Vested (48,017)  30.99
Forfeited (2,697)  48.64

Restricted share units at December 31, 2019 75,071  $ 46.92

As of December 31, 2019, there was approximately $390,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to time-vested restricted stock units granted under
AWR’s employee stock plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.55 years.
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Restricted Stock Units (Performance Awards) – During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Compensation Committee granted performance
awards in the form of restricted stock units to officers of the Registrant. A performance award represents the right to receive a share of AWR's Common Shares if specified
performance goals are met over the performance period specified in the grant (generally three years). Each grantee of any outstanding performance award may earn between
0% and 200% of the target amount depending on Registrant's performance against performance goals, which are determined by the Compensation Committee on the date of
grant. As determined by the Compensation Committee, the performance awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 included various
performance-based conditions and one market-based condition related to total shareholder return ("TSR") that will be earned based on Registrant’s TSR compared to the TSR
for a specific peer group of investor-owned water companies.

A summary of the status of Registrant’s outstanding performance awards to officers as of December 31, 2019, and changes during the year ended December 31,
2019, is presented below:

 
Number of

Performance awards  
Weighted Average
Grant-Date Value

Performance awards at January 1, 2019 95,661  $ 45.36
Granted 22,035  65.86
Performance criteria adjustment 1,772  38.14
Vested (33,080)  41.15
Forfeited (1,739)  61.74
Performance awards at December 31, 2019 84,649  $ 51.85

A portion of the fair value of performance awards was estimated at the grant date based on the probability of satisfying the market-based condition using a Monte-
Carlo simulation model, which assesses the probabilities of various outcomes of the market condition. The portion of the fair value of the performance awards associated
with performance-based conditions was based on the fair market value of AWR's Common Shares at the grant date. The fair value of each outstanding performance award
grant is amortized into compensation expense in installments of 33% the first two years and 34% in the third year of their respective vesting periods, which is generally over
3 years unless earlier vested pursuant to the terms of the agreement. The accrual of compensation costs is based on the estimate of the final expected value of the award and is
adjusted as required for the portion based on the performance-based condition. Unlike the awards with performance-based conditions, for the portion based on the market-
based condition, compensation cost is recognized, and not reversed, even if the market condition is not achieved, as required by the accounting guidance for share-based
awards. As of December 31, 2019, $245,000 of unrecognized compensation costs related to performance awards is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 1.07 years.

Note 14 - Commitments

GSWC’s Water Supply:

GSWC has contracts to purchase water or water rights for an aggregate amount of $4.1 million as of December 31, 2019.  Included in the $4.1 million is a
commitment of $2.1 million to lease water rights from a third party under an agreement which expires in 2028. The remaining $2.0 million is for commitments for purchased
water with other third parties, which expire through 2038.

GSWC’s estimated future minimum payments under these purchased water supply commitments at December 31, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

2020 $ 417
2021 417
2022 417
2023 417
2024 417
Thereafter 2,031
Total $ 4,116
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Bear Valley Electric Service:

Generally, BVES purchases power at a fixed cost, under long-term purchased power contracts, depending on the amount of power and the period during which the
power is purchased under such contracts.  BVES began taking power pursuant to purchased power contracts approved by the CPUC effective in the fourth quarter of 2019 at
a fixed cost over three and five-year terms depending on the amount of power and period during which the power is purchased under the contracts. As of December 31, 2019,
GSWC's commitment under BVES's contracts totaled approximately $26.3 million.

See Note 16 for Registrant’s future minimum payments under long-term non-cancelable operating leases.

Note 15 - Contingencies and Gain on Sale of Assets

Condemnation of Properties:

The laws of the State of California provide for the acquisition of public utility property by governmental agencies through their power of eminent domain, also
known as condemnation, where doing so is necessary and in the public interest. In addition, these laws provide that the owner of utility property (i) may contest whether the
condemnation is necessary and in the public interest, and (ii) is entitled to receive the fair market value of its property if the property is ultimately taken.

Ojai Water System and Gain on Sale of Assets:

In June 2017, pursuant to a settlement agreement to resolve an eminent domain action, Casitas Municipal Water District acquired the operating assets of GSWC’s
2,900-connection Ojai water system by eminent domain for $34.3 million in cash. As a result of this transaction, GSWC recorded a pretax gain of $8.3 million on the sale of
the Ojai water system during 2017. The terms of the settlement agreement resolved the eminent domain action and dismissed all claims against GSWC brought by Casitas
and another third party.

Environmental Clean-Up and Remediation:

GSWC has been involved in environmental remediation and cleanup at a plant site (“Chadron Plant”) that contained an underground storage tank, which was used to
store gasoline for its vehicles. This tank was removed from the ground in July 1990 along with the dispenser and ancillary piping. Since then, GSWC has been involved in
various remediation activities at this site.  Analysis indicates that offsite monitoring wells may also be necessary to document effectiveness of remediation.

As of December 31, 2019, the total spent to clean-up and remediate the Chadron Plant was approximately $6.3 million, of which $1.5 million has been paid by the
State of California Underground Storage Tank Fund. Amounts paid by GSWC have been included in rate base and approved by the CPUC for recovery. As of December 31,
2019, GSWC has a regulatory asset and an accrued liability for the estimated remaining cost of $1.3 million to complete the cleanup at the site. The estimate includes costs
for 2 years of continued activities of groundwater cleanup and monitoring, future soil treatment and site-closure-related activities. The ultimate cost may vary as there are
many unknowns in remediation of underground gasoline spills and this is an estimate based on currently available information. Management also believes it is probable that
the estimated additional costs will be approved in rate base by the CPUC.

Other Litigation:

Registrant is also subject to other ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business, some of which may include claims for compensatory and punitive damages.
Management believes that rate recovery, proper insurance coverage and reserves are in place to insure against, among other things, property, general liability, employment
and workers’ compensation claims incurred in the ordinary course of business. Insurance coverage may not cover certain claims involving punitive damages. However,
Registrant does not believe the outcome from any pending suits or administrative proceedings will have a material effect on Registrant's consolidated results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.

Note 16 — Leases

The adoption of the new lease guidance did not have a material impact on Registrant's results of operations or liquidity but resulted in the recognition of operating
lease liabilities and operating lease right-of-use assets on its balance sheets. Right-of-use ("ROU") assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and
lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on
the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term. As of December 31, 2019, Registrant has right-of-use assets of $13.2 million, short-term operating lease
liabilities of $1.8 million and long-term operating lease liabilities of $11.7 million.

Significant assumptions and judgments made as part of the adoption of this new lease standard include determining (i) whether a contract contains a lease, (ii)
whether a contract involves an identified asset, and (iii) which party to the contract
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directs the use of the asset. The discount rates used to calculate the present value of lease payments were determined based on hypothetical borrowing rates available to
Registrant over terms similar to the lease terms.

Registrant’s leases consist of real estate and equipment leases, which are mostly GSWC's. Most of Registrant's leases require fixed lease payments. Some real estate
leases have escalation payments, which depend on an index. Variable lease costs were not material. Lease terms used to measure the lease liability include options to extend
the lease if the option is reasonably certain to be exercised. Lease and non-lease components were combined to measure lease liabilities.

GSWC's long-term debt includes $28 million of 9.56% private placement notes, which require GSWC to maintain a total indebtedness to capitalization ratio of less
than 0.6667 -to-1. The indebtedness, as defined in the note agreement, includes any lease liabilities required to be recorded under GAAP. As of December 31, 2019, GSWC
had a total indebtedness (including GSWC's lease liabilities) to capitalization ratio of 0.4445 -to-1. None of the other covenants or restrictions contained in Registrant's long-
term debt agreements were affected by the adoption of the new lease standard.

Registrant's supplemental lease information for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands, except for weighted average data):

 
For The Year Ended December

31, 2019

  
Operating lease costs $ 3,166
Short-term lease costs 159

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 7.24
Weighted-average discount rate 3.5%
  
Non-cash transactions  

Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets $ 18,034

During 2019 and 2018 and 2017, Registrant’s consolidated rent expense was approximately $2.8 million, $2.5 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Registrant’s
future minimum payments under long-term non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

 December 31, 2019  December 31, 2018

2020 $ 2,709  $ 2,530
2021 2,533  1,497
2022 2,217  1,007
2023 1,779  546
2024 1,499  293
Thereafter 5,246  311

Total lease payments 15,983  $ 6,184

Less: imputed interest 2,395   
Total lease obligations 13,588   
Less: current obligations 1,849   

Long-term lease obligations $ 11,739   

The increase in future minimum lease payments from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2019 was largely due to new office leases entered into during 2019. The
consolidated operations of AWR and the operations of GSWC in regard to the future minimum payments under long-term cancelable operating leases are not materially
different.
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Note 17 - Business Segments

AWR has 3 reportable segments, water, electric and contracted services, whereas GSWC has 2 segments, water and electric. On a stand-alone basis, AWR has no
material assets other than its equity investments in its subsidiaries and note receivables therefrom, and deferred taxes.

All activities of GSWC are geographically located within California.  Activities of ASUS and the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries are conducted in
California, Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Maryland, New Mexico, North Carolina, South Carolina, Texas and Virginia.  Each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries is
regulated, if applicable, by the state in which the subsidiary primarily conducts water and/or wastewater operations.  Fees charged for operations and maintenance and
renewal and replacement services are based upon the terms of the contracts with the U.S. government which have been filed, as appropriate, with the commissions in the
states in which ASUS’s subsidiaries are incorporated.

The tables below set forth information relating to GSWC’s operating segments, ASUS and the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries and other matters. Total
assets by segment are not presented below, as certain of Registrant’s assets are not tracked by segment.  The utility plant balances are net of respective accumulated
provisions for depreciation. Capital additions reflect capital expenditures paid in cash and exclude U.S. government-funded and third-party prime funded capital expenditures
for ASUS and property installed by developers and conveyed to GSWC.

 

 As Of And For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

 

 GSWC    AWR  Consolidated

(dollars in thousands)  Water  Electric  ASUS  Parent  AWR

Operating revenues  $ 319,830  $ 39,548  $ 114,491  $ —  $ 473,869
Operating income (loss)  93,895  11,197  21,990  (9)  127,073
Interest expense, net  20,304  1,228  (734)  539  21,337
Utility Plant  1,322,062  72,680  20,963  —  1,415,705
Depreciation and amortization expense (1)  29,956  2,485  2,956  —  35,397
Income tax expense/(benefit)  17,295  2,882  5,202  (709)  24,670
Capital additions  131,353  11,499  9,088  —  151,940

 

 As Of And For The Year Ended December 31, 2018

 

 GSWC    AWR
 

Consolidated

(dollars in thousands)  Water  Electric  ASUS  Parent
 

AWR

Operating revenues  $ 295,258  $ 34,350  $ 107,208  $ —  $ 436,816
Operating income  74,342  6,220  20,414  7  100,983
Interest expense, net  18,403  1,328  (327)  451  19,855
Utility Plant  1,218,468  62,624  15,218  —  1,296,310
Depreciation and amortization expense (1)  36,137  2,258  2,030  —  40,425
Income tax expense/(benefit)  12,391  1,212  4,939  (525)  18,017
Capital additions  110,934  5,420  10,207  —  126,561

 

 As Of And For The Year Ended December 31, 2017

 

 GSWC    AWR
 

Consolidated

(dollars in thousands)  Water  Electric  ASUS  Parent
 

AWR

Operating revenues  $ 306,332  $ 33,969  $ 100,302  $ —  $ 440,603
Operating income (loss)  98,678  7,193  21,320  (96)  127,095
Interest expense, net  18,909  1,380  255  248  20,792
Utility Plant  1,137,995  59,945  7,052  —  1,204,992
Depreciation and amortization expense (1)  35,706  2,146  1,179  —  39,031
Income tax expense/(benefit)  32,212  1,847  7,136  (2,221)  38,974
Capital additions  104,546  5,941  2,639  —  113,126

____________________________
(1)         Depreciation computed on GSWC’s transportation equipment is recorded in other operating expenses and totaled $316,000, $238,000 and $242,000 for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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 The following table reconciles total utility plant (a key figure for rate-making) to total consolidated assets (in thousands):

 

 December 31,

 

 2019  2018

Total utility plant  $ 1,415,705  $ 1,296,310
Other assets  225,626  205,123
Total consolidated assets  $ 1,641,331  $ 1,501,433

Note 18 — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

The table below presents Registrant’s provision for doubtful accounts charged to expense and accounts written off, net of recoveries. Provisions included in 2019,
2018, and 2017 for AWR and GSWC are as follows:

 

 AWR

 

 December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Balance at beginning of year  $ 951  $ 1,041  $ 764
Provision charged to expense  609  841  989
Accounts written off, net of recoveries  (644)  (931)  (712)

Balance at end of year  $ 916  $ 951  $ 1,041

       

Allowance for doubtful accounts related to accounts receivable-customer  $ 857  $ 892  $ 806
Allowance for doubtful accounts related to other accounts receivable  59  59  235

Total allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 916  $ 951  $ 1,041

 

 GSWC

 

 December 31,

(dollars in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Balance at beginning of year  $ 951  $ 865  $ 761
Provision charged to expense  607  850  816
Accounts written off, net of recoveries  (642)  (764)  (712)

Balance at end of year  $ 916  $ 951  $ 865

       

Allowance for doubtful accounts related to accounts receivable-customer  $ 857  $ 892  $ 806
Allowance for doubtful accounts related to other accounts receivable  59  59  59

Total allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 916  $ 951  $ 865

Note 19 — Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth non-cash financing and investing activities and other cash flow information (in thousands).

 
AWR  GSWC

 
December 31,  December 31,

 
2019  2018  2017  2019  2018  2017

Taxes and Interest Paid:
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Income taxes paid, net $ 22,496  $ 21,084  $ 13,615  $ 17,206  $ 19,448  $ 4,822
Interest paid, net of capitalized interest 25,080  23,471  22,762  23,925  22,721  22,285

            
Non-Cash Transactions:

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Accrued payables for investment in utility plant $ 23,736  $ 27,403  $ 20,131  $ 23,736  $ 27,403  $ 20,128
Property installed by developers and conveyed 6,220  2,082  2,082  6,220  2,082  2,082
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Note 20 — Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The quarterly financial information presented below is unaudited. Registrant's business is seasonal, and it is management’s opinion that comparisons of earnings for
the quarterly periods do not reflect overall trends and changes in Registrant’s operations.

 

 AWR

 

 For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
First

Quarter  
Second

Quarter (1)  
Third

Quarter (2)  
Fourth
Quarter  Year

Operating revenues  $ 101,733  $ 124,647  $ 134,496  $ 112,993  $ 473,869
Operating income  20,195  39,430  42,724  24,724  127,073
Net income  12,852  26,784  28,006  16,700  84,342
Basic earnings per share  0.35  0.72  0.76  0.45  2.28
Diluted earnings per share  0.35  0.72  0.76  0.45  2.28

 

 GSWC

 

 For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

(in thousands)  
First

Quarter  
Second

Quarter (1)  
Third

Quarter (2)  
Fourth
Quarter  Year

Operating revenues  $ 75,352  $ 95,548  $ 107,245  $ 81,233  $ 359,378
Operating income  15,327  34,037  36,982  18,746  105,092
Net income  9,022  22,298  23,362  11,981  66,663

 

 AWR

 

 For The Year Ended December 31, 2018

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  Year

Operating revenues  $ 94,728  $ 106,901  $ 124,182  $ 111,005  $ 436,816
Operating income  18,691  25,568  33,975  22,749  100,983
Net income  10,782  16,348  22,952  13,789  63,871
Basic earnings per share *  0.29  0.44  0.62  0.37  1.73
Diluted earnings per share  0.29  0.44  0.62  0.37  1.72

 

 GSWC

 

 For The Year Ended December 31, 2018

(in thousands)  
First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  Year

Operating revenues  $ 74,244  $ 84,574  $ 95,564  $ 75,226  $ 329,608
Operating income  16,297  22,645  27,540  14,080  80,562
Net income  8,890  13,648  17,919  7,555  48,012

* The sum of the quarterly basic earnings per share amounts do not agree to the yearly total due to rounding.

(1) The second quarter of 2019 includes approximately $4.0 million of operating income related to the first quarter of 2019 as a result of the final CPUC decision on the water general rate
case, which was received in May 2019 and was retroactive to January 1, 2019.

(2) The third quarter of 2019 includes the retroactive impact of the final decision on the electric general rate case approved by the CPUC in August 2019, which was retroactive to January 1,
2018. Included in the third quarter of 2019 results are approximately $1.4 million of pretax income related to the first two quarters of 2019 and approximately $2.3 million of pretax income
related to 2018.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a)            Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that the disclosure controls and
procedures of AWR and GSWC were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.

(b)            Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f).  Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, our
management concluded that the internal control over financial reporting of AWR and GSWC was effective as of December 31, 2019. 

(c)             Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting of AWR as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

(d)            Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d(f) under the Exchange Act) of AWR
and GSWC that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information responsive to Part III, Item 10 is included in the Proxy Statement, to be filed by AWR with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A, under the captions
therein entitled: (i) “Proposal 1:  Election of Directors”; (ii) “Executive Officers”; (iii) “Governance of the Company”; (iv) “Stock Ownership”; (v) “Nominating and
Governance Committee”; (vi) “Audit and Finance Committee;” and (vii) “Obtaining Additional Information From Us” and is incorporated herein by reference pursuant to
General Instruction G(3). 

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to Part III, Item 11 is included in the Proxy Statement, to be filed by AWR with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A, under the captions
therein entitled: (i) “Proposal 1:  Election of Directors”; (ii) “Executive Officers;” and (iii) “Compensation Committee” and is incorporated herein by reference pursuant to
General Instruction G(3).

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information responsive to Part III, Item 12 is included in the Proxy Statement, to be filed by AWR with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A, under the caption
entitled “Stock Ownership” and is incorporated herein by reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3).

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans:

AWR has made stock awards to its executive officers and managers under the 2008 and 2016 employee plans. It has also made stock awards to its non-employee
directors under the 2003 and 2013 director plans. Information regarding the securities, which have been issued and which are available for issuance under these plans is set
forth in the table below as of December 31, 2019. This table does not include any AWR Common Shares that may be issued under our 401(k) plan.

Plan Category

Number of securities
to be issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights(1)

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights(2)

Number of securities
remaining available for

future issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in the first column)(3)

Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders 154,936 $16.68 1,993,901
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders — — —

Total 154,936 $16.68 1,993,901
____________________________

(1) Amount shown in this column consists of 2,412 options outstanding under the 2008 employee plan and 35,836 time-vested restricted stock units outstanding under the 2016 employee
plan (including dividend equivalents thereon with respect to declared dividends), 77,453 performance awards at the maximum level (including dividend equivalents thereon with
respect to declared dividends) outstanding under the 2016 employee plan and 39,235 restricted stock units (including dividend equivalents thereon with respect to declared dividends)
outstanding under the 2003 directors plan

(2) Amount shown in this column is for options granted only.

(3) Amount shown in this column consists of 194,152 shares available under the 2003 directors plan, 119,712 shares available under the 2013 directors plan, 503,523 shares available
under the 2008 employee plan and 1,176,514 shares available under the 2016 employee plan. The only shares that may be issued under the 2003 directors plan are pursuant to
dividend equivalent rights on dividends not yet declared with respect to restricted stock units granted under the 2003 directors plan. No additional stock awards may be granted under
the 2003 directors plan or the 2008 employee plan.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to Part III, Item 13 is included in the Proxy Statement, to be filed by AWR with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A, under the caption
therein entitled “Governance of the Company” and is incorporated herein by reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3).

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information responsive to Part III, Item 14 is included in the Proxy Statement, to be filed by AWR with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A, under the caption
therein entitled “Proposal 3:  Ratification of Auditors” and is incorporated herein by reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3).
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PART IV 
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)        The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Reference is made to the Financial Statements incorporated herein by reference to Part II, Item 8 hereof.

2. Schedule I — Condensed Financial Information of American States Water Company Parent at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017. Schedules II, III, IV, and V are omitted as they are not applicable.

See page 114.

3. Reference is made to Item 15(b) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits:

3.1
 

By-Laws of American States Water Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Registrant's Form 10-Q, filed August 6, 2012 (File No. 1-
14431)

3.2  By-laws of Golden State Water Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Registrant's Form 8-K filed May 13, 2011 (File No. 1-14431)

3.3
 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of American States Water Company, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
Registrant's Form 8-K filed June 19, 2013

3.4
 

Restated Articles of Incorporation of Golden State Water Company, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Registrant's
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 1-14431)

4.1

 

Indenture, dated September 1, 1993 between Golden State Water Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as successor
trustee, as supplemented, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of Golden State Water Company Form S-3 filed December 12, 2008 (File
No. 333-156112)

4.2
 

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 11, 2005 between Golden State Water Company and Co-Bank, ACB incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant's Form 8-K filed October 13, 2005 (File No. 1-14431)

4.3  Description of Common Shares (1)

4.4  Description of Debt Securities (1)

10.1
 

Second Sublease dated October 5, 1984 between Golden State Water Company and Three Valleys Municipal Water District incorporated herein by
reference to Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-2, Registration No. 33-5151

10.2
 

Note Agreement dated as of May 15, 1991 between Golden State Water Company and Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance Company
incorporated herein by reference to Registrant's Form 10-Q with respect to the quarter ended June 30, 1991 (File No. 1-14431)

10.3

 

Schedule of omitted Note Agreements, dated May 15, 1991, between Golden State Water Company and Transamerica Annuity Life Insurance
Company, and Golden State Water Company and First Colony Life Insurance Company incorporated herein by reference to Registrant's Form 10-Q
with respect to the quarter ended June 30, 1991 (File No. 1-14431)

10.4
 

Loan Agreement between California Pollution Control Financing Authority and Golden State Water Company, dated as of December 1, 1996
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 1-14431)

10.5
 

Agreement for Financing Capital Improvement dated as of June 2, 1992 between Golden State Water Company and Three Valleys Municipal Water
District incorporated herein by reference to Registrant's Form 10-K with respect to the year ended December 31, 1992 (File No. 1-14431)

10.6
 

Water Supply Agreement dated as of June 1, 1994 between Golden State Water Company and Central Coast Water Authority incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Registrant's Form 10-K with respect to the year ended December 31, 1994 (File No. 1-14431)

10.7
 

2003 Non-Employee Directors Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on
May 20, 2015 (File No. 1-14431) (2)

10.8
 

Dividend Reinvestment and Common Share Purchase Plan incorporated herein by reference to American States Water Company Registrant's
Form S-3D filed November 12, 2008 (File No. 1-14431)
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10.9
 

Form of Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement between American States Water Company or a subsidiary and certain executives
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2014 (File No. 1-14431) (2)

10.10
 

Golden State Water Company Pension Restoration Plan, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K
filed on May 21, 2009 (File No. 1-14431) (2)

10.11
 

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between American States Water Company dated June 3, 2005 with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Registrant's Form 10-Q filed for the ended September 30, 2019

10.12
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement for executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 (File No. 1-14431) (2)

10.13
 

Policy Regarding the Recoupment of Certain Performance-Based Compensation Payments incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant's Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2014 (2)

10.14  Officer Relocation Policy incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed on July 31, 2009 (2)

10.15
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant's Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31, 2012 (1) (2)

10.16  2016 Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2016 (2)

10.17  2013 Non-Employee Directors Plan incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed on March 25, 2016 (2)

10.18  Form of 2017 Performance Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant's Form 8-K filed on February 6, 2017 (2)

10.19
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for officers with respect to time-vested restricted stock awards under the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan after
December 31, 2017 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2017

10.20  Form of 2018 Performance Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10-1 of Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 2, 2018 (2)

10.21  2019 Short-Term Incentive Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2019 (2)

10.22
 

Form of Award Agreement for the 2019 Short-Term Incentive Program incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
April 1, 2019 (2)

10.23  Form of Performance Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2019 (2)

10.24  Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims (1),(2)

21
 

Subsidiaries of Registrant (1)

23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for AWR (1)

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR (1)

31.1.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC (1)

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR (1)

31.2.1  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC (1)

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (3)

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (3)
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101.INS
 

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema (3)

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase (3)

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase (3)

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase (3)

104

 

Cover Page Interactive Data File - (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

(c)  See Item 15(a)(2)

(1)            Filed concurrently herewith
(2)            Management contract or compensatory arrangement
(3)            Furnished concurrently herewith

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Registrants have duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  

AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY (“AWR”):
 

By: /s/ EVA G. TANG
  Eva G. Tang
  

Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial
  

Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary
  

GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY (“GSWC”):
 

By: /s/ EVA G. TANG
  Eva G. Tang
  

Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial
  

Officer and Secretary
 

Date: February 24, 2020
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of Registrants and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

 
  

Date:
  

/s/ ANNE M. HOLLOWAY
   

February 24, 2020
Anne M. Holloway

   
 

Chairman of the Board and Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS
   

February 24, 2020
Robert J. Sprowls

   
 

Principal Executive Officer, President and Chief Executive Officer of AWR and
GSWC and Director of AWR and GSWC

    

/s/ EVA G. TANG
   

February 24, 2020
Eva G. Tang

   
 

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer, Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief
Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary of AWR; and Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer, Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer
and Secretary of GSWC

    

/s/ JAMES L. ANDERSON
   

February 24, 2020
James L. Anderson

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/SARAH. J. ANDERSON
   

February 24, 2020
Sarah. J. Anderson

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/ DIANA M. BONTÁ
   

February 24, 2020
Diana M. Bontá

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/ JOHN R. FIELDER
   

February 24, 2020
John R. Fielder

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/ MARY ANN HOPKINS    February 24, 2020
Mary Ann Hopkins     
Director of AWR and GSWC     

/s/ JAMES F. MCNULTY
   

February 24, 2020
James F. McNulty

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
    

/s/ JANICE F. WILKINS
   

February 24, 2020
Janice F. Wilkins

   
 

Director of AWR and GSWC
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY
SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

 

 December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018

Assets  
 

 
 

     

Cash and equivalents  $ 310  $ 34
Intercompany note receivables  185,094  76,072

Total current assets  185,404  76,106
     

Investments in subsidiaries  616,725  574,330
Deferred taxes and other assets  9,548  8,769

Total assets  $ 811,677  $ 659,205

     
Liabilities and Capitalization  

 

 
 

     

Notes payable to bank  $ 5,000  $ —
Income taxes payable  3,259  3,672
Other liabilities  274  291

Total current liabilities  8,533  3,963
     

Notes payable to bank  200,000  $ 95,500
Deferred taxes and other liabilities  1,614  1,519

Total other liabilities  201,614  97,019
     

Common shareholders’ equity  601,530  558,223
Total capitalization  601,530  558,223

     

Total liabilities and capitalization  $ 811,677  $ 659,205
 

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY
SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

 

 For the Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2019  2018  2017

Operating revenues and other income  $ —  $ —  $ —
Operating expenses and other expenses  314  305  344

Income before equity in earnings of subsidiaries and income taxes  (314)  (305)  (344)
       

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  83,947  63,651  67,490
       

Income before income taxes  83,633  63,346  67,146
       

Income tax benefit  (709)  (525)  (2,221)
       

Net income  $ 84,342  $ 63,871  $ 69,367

       

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding  36,814  36,733  36,638
Basic Earnings Per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.73  $ 1.88
       

Weighted Average Number of Diluted Common Shares Outstanding  36,964  36,936  36,844
Fully Diluted Earnings per Common Share  $ 2.28  $ 1.72  $ 1.88
       

Dividends Paid Per Common Share  $ 1.160  $ 1.060  $ 0.994
 

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY
SCHEDULE I - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

 

 For the Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2019  2018  2017

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  $ 40,459  $ 79,877  $ 36,024
       

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Loans (made to)/repaid from, wholly-owned subsidiaries  (107,500)  (30,500)  30,500
  Increase in investment of subsidiary  —  (47,500)  —
Net cash provided (used) in investing activities  (107,500)  (78,000)  30,500
       

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:  
 

 
 

 
 

Proceeds from stock option exercises  519  546  909
Net change in notes payable to banks  109,500  36,500  (31,000)
Dividends paid  (42,702)  (38,937)  (36,417)

Net cash provided (used) in financing activities  67,317  (1,891)  (66,508)
       

Change in cash and equivalents  276  (14)  16
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period  34  48  32
       

Cash and equivalents at the end of period  $ 310  $ 34  $ 48

 
The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed financial statements of AWR (parent) should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of
American States Water Company and subsidiaries (“Registrant”) included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.  AWR’s (parent) significant accounting policies are consistent
with those of Registrant and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Golden State Water Company (“GSWC”) and American States Utility Services, Inc. ("ASUS"), except that all
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity method investments. 

Related-Party Transactions:

As further discussed in Note 2 — Notes Payable to Banks, AWR (parent) currently has access to a $225.0 million revolving credit facility. AWR (parent) borrows
under this facility and provides funds to its subsidiaries, in support of their operations. Any amounts owed to AWR (parent) for borrowings under this facility are reflected as
inter-company receivables on the condensed balance sheets.  The interest rate charged to the subsidiaries is sufficient to cover AWR (parent)’s interest cost under the credit
facility.

AWR (parent) guarantees performance of ASUS's military privatization contracts and agrees to provide necessary resources, including financing, which are
necessary to assure the complete and satisfactory performance of such contracts.

Note 2 — Note Payable to Banks

AWR (parent) has access to a credit facility in order to provide funds to its subsidiaries, GSWC and ASUS, in support of their operations. In March 2019, AWR
amended this credit facility to increase its borrowing capacity from $150.0 million to $200.0 million, and in October 2019 further amended the credit facility to temporarily
increase its borrowing capacity to $225.0 million, effective until June 30, 2020. In February 2020, AWR received a binding commitment from its lender for the option to
revise the temporary increase of the credit facility to $260.0 million through the end of 2020. When needed, AWR will be able to exercise this commitment and have
immediate access to the additional funds. On December 31, 2020, the borrowing capacity will revert to $200.0 million. Amy amounts borrowed up to $200.0 million will be
due in May 2023, and any amounts borrowed in excess of $200.0 million will be due in 2020.

The aggregate effective amount that may be outstanding under letters of credit is $25.0 million.  AWR has obtained letters of credit, primarily for GSWC, in the
aggregate amount of $940,000, with fees of 0.65% including: (i) letters of credit in an aggregate amount of $340,000 as security for GSWC’s business automobile insurance
policy; (ii) a letter of credit in an amount of $585,000 as security for the purchase of power; and (iii) a $15,000 irrevocable letter of credit pursuant to a franchise agreement
with the City of Rancho Cordova.  Letters of credit outstanding reduce the amount that may be borrowed under the revolving credit facility. AWR was not required to
maintain any compensating balances.

Loans can be obtained under this credit facility at the option of AWR and bear interest at rates based on credit ratings and Euro rate margins.  In December 2019,
Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings (“S&P”) affirmed an A+ credit rating with a stable outlook on both AWR and GSWC. S&P’s debt ratings range from AAA (highest
possible) to D (obligation is in default). In May 2019, Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") affirmed its A2 rating with a revised outlook from positive to stable for GSWC.

At December 31, 2019, there was $205.0 million outstanding under this facility. At times, AWR (parent) borrows under this facility and provides loans to its
subsidiaries in support of its operations, under terms that are similar to that of the credit facility. AWR’s (parent) borrowing activities (excluding letters of credit) for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

 

 December 31,

(in thousands, except percent)  2019  2018

Balance Outstanding at December 31,  $ 205,000  $ 95,500
Interest Rate at December 31,  2.44%  3.19%
Average Amount Outstanding  $ 167,392  $ 69,559
Weighted Average Annual Interest Rate  2.88%  2.66%
Maximum Amount Outstanding  $ 205,500  $ 95,500

 All of the letters of credit are issued pursuant to the revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility contains restrictions on prepayments, disposition of
property, mergers, liens and negative pledges, indebtedness and guaranty obligations, transactions with affiliates, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum debt
to capitalization ratio and a minimum debt rating. Pursuant to the credit agreement, AWR must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.25 times interest expense, a
maximum total funded debt ratio of 0.65 to 1.00 and a minimum debt rating from Moody’s or S&P of Baa3 or BBB-, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
AWR was in compliance with these covenants. As of
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December 31, 2019, AWR had an interest coverage ratio of 6.89 times interest expense, a debt ratio of 0.45 to 1.00 and a debt rating of A+ by S&P.

Note 3 — Income Taxes

     AWR (parent) receives a tax benefit for expenses incurred at the parent-company level.  AWR (parent) also recognizes the effect of AWR’s consolidated California unitary
apportionment, which is beneficial or detrimental depending on a combination of the profitability of AWR’s consolidated non-California activities as well as the proportion of
its consolidated California sales to total sales.

Note 4 — Dividend from Subsidiaries

Dividends in the amount of $42.7 million, $79.0 million and $36.5 million were paid to AWR (parent) by its wholly owned subsidiaries during the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Exhibit 4.3

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES

American States Water Company (“AWR”) is currently authorized to issue 60,000,000 common
shares. AWR has no other class of equity securities outstanding.

Information on the number of common shares outstanding may be found in AWR’s most recent Form 10-K or Form 10-Q filing. A
general summary of the rights and obligations of AWR’s common shares is set forth below. More detailed information regarding these rights and
obligations may be found in AWR’s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws listed as Exhibit 3.3 and 3.1, respectively, in AWR’s most recent Form
10-K or Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in Division I of the California Corporations Code.

Dividends
 

Common shareholders are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the board of directors of AWR out of funds legally
available therefor.  AWR’s articles of incorporation do not restrict its ability to pay dividends.  AWR is not subject to any contractual restrictions
on its ability to pay dividends except the requirement in its credit facilities to maintain compliance with all covenants.

 
AWR currently obtain funds to pay dividends on its common shares principally from dividends paid by its subsidiaries.  None of the

subsidiaries of AWR are subject to any contractual restrictions on its ability to pay dividends except restrictions on Golden State Water
Company (“GSWC”) to make scheduled payments on its debt and otherwise comply with the terms of its debt before it pays dividends to AWR. 
AWR’s ability to pay dividends to common shareholders and the ability of its subsidiaries to pay dividends are also generally subject to
restrictions imposed by the laws of the state in which the subsidiary is incorporated. Additional information on these restrictions can be found in
AWR’s most recent Form 10-K or 10-Q filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
AWR has paid cash dividends on its common shares quarterly since its formation as a holding company in 1998.  Prior to this, GSWC

had paid dividends on its common shares since 1931.  AWR intends to continue its practice of paying quarterly cash dividends.  However, the
payment, amount and timing of dividends are dependent upon future earnings, the financial requirements of AWR and its subsidiaries and other
factors considered relevant by its board of directors.

Board of Directors

 The board of directors of AWR is classified. Under the terms of the articles of incorporation of AWR, the authorized number of directors
must be at least six but no more than 11. If the authorized number of directors is less than nine, the board will be divided into two classes. If the
authorized number of directors is more than nine, the board will be classified into three classes. If AWR’s common shares cease to be listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, its board will no longer be classified. The board is currently divided into three classes. One class of directors is
elected annually.



Each class of the board must be approximately equal in size to the other class. However, in the event that there is a change in the
authorized number of directors, each continuing director will continue as a director of the class to which he or she is a member until the
expiration of his or her term or his or her prior death, resignation or removal as permitted by California law.

Proper Business for Shareholder Meetings

In order for a shareholder to bring business before a shareholders’ meeting that is not included in the notice of meeting or in a
shareholder proposal properly brought before the meeting in compliance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, the shareholder must give timely notice to the Secretary of AWR and be a record owner of AWR’s common shares at
the time of giving such notice. The notice must include a brief description of the matter to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for
doing so, the name and address of the owner of the common shares and the beneficial owner thereof, the number of shares on whose behalf the
proposal is being made and a description of the material interest, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is being made. In order for a notice to be
timely, it must be given not less than 75 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting if the
notice is for an annual meeting. If the annual meeting is delayed by more than 30 days, from the anniversary date of the annual meeting, a notice
will be timely if received within ten days following the date on which notice of the meeting was mailed to shareholders or public disclosure of
the date of the annual meeting is made. In order to be timely for a special meeting, the notice must be received by AWR no later than the date on
which the meeting is called or the date of receipt of a valid request to call a special meeting.

Voting Rights
 
Each common shareholder is entitled to one vote per share.  Under California law, common shareholders have cumulative voting rights

with respect to the election of directors, if certain conditions are met. The procedures established by California law for triggering cumulative
voting rights are described in AWR’s most recent proxy statement filed with the SEC. Cumulative voting benefits minority shareholders if they
are able to join together to cast all of their votes for a single candidate. On the other hand, it reduces the clout of a group of shareholders that
desire to elect a new slate of directors in opposition to the current board of directors and management.

AWR may not take any of the following actions without the approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors or a vote of 66 2/3% of
the outstanding shares of AWR:

(a) Subject to clause (c) below, sell, convey, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, property, assets or business;

(b) Approve the sale, conveyance, lease or other disposition by any subsidiary of AWR of all or substantially all of the assets, property or
business of the subsidiary;
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(c) Sell transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of more than a majority of the outstanding capital stock of a subsidiary if such subsidiary
holds 50% or more of the consolidated assets of AWR, other than to an entity the majority of the voting power of the capital stock or
equity interest of which is owned and controlled by AWR;

(d) Consolidate or merge with or into any other corporation or other business entity, except, if immediately after such consolidation or
merger, the shareholders of AWR immediately prior to such consolidation or merger will own more than 60% of the voting power of
the outstanding capital stock or other equity interests of the surviving entity; or

(e) Approve the consolidation or merger of any subsidiary of AWR with or into any other corporation or business entity if such
subsidiary holds assets accounting for 50% or more of AWR’s consolidated assets.

A “Continuing Director” means any member of the board who is not an Acquiring Person or an affiliate or associate of an Acquiring
Person or a representative of either of them and either was a member of the board prior to the time any person became an Acquiring Person or, if
the person became a member of the board subsequent to the time any person became an Acquiring Person, such member was recommended or
approved by a majority of the Continuing Directors. An ”Acquiring Person” is a person who, either alone, or together with all associates and
affiliates of such person, are owners of 20% or more of AWR’s common shares, unless such person is an Exempt Person. An “Exempt Perso” is
any majority owned subsidiary of AWR or any employee benefit or stock plan of AWR or any trust established or holding shares for such a plan.

Amendments to Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

Under California law, except as otherwise provided in AWR’s articles of incorporation, an amendment may be approved to AWR’s
articles of incorporation by a majority of the outstanding common shares of AWR and a majority of the members of the board of directors, and
an amendment may generally only be approved to AWR’s bylaws by either a majority of the outstanding common shares of AWR or a majority
of the members of the board of directors. Under AWR’s articles of incorporation, the provisions of AWR’s articles of incorporation relating to
the classification of directors, acquisitions and dispositions of the type described above in the second paragraph under “Voting Rights” and the
amendment provisions of the articles of incorporation and the provisions of AWR’s bylaws relating to proper business to be brought before
shareholder meetings may only be approved by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors and 66 2/3% of the outstanding shares of
AWR.

Other Matters

Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of AWR, AWR will ratably distribute its assets legally available for distribution to
holders of its common shares.  Common shareholders have no preemptive or other subscription or conversion rights and no liability for further
calls upon their shares.  The common shares are not subject to assessment.
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 AWR has the right to issue preferred shares under its articles of incorporation. No preferred shares are currently outstanding. If preferred
shares are issued by AWR, the rights of the common shareholders would be subject to the rights, preferences and privileges of the preferred
shares.

The common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AWR.”  The transfer agent and registrar for AWR’s
common shares is Computershare Investor Services.  Common shareholders may participate in AWR’s common share purchase and dividend
reinvestment plan.

4



Exhibit 4.4

DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

Golden State Water Company (“GSWC”) has issued and which are outstanding as of December
31, 2019, five series of notes under the terms of an Indenture dated September 1, 1993 (the “Indenture”) between GSWC and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (formerly known as The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.), as successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association (formerly Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National Association, and then J.P. Morgan Trust Company,
National Association) (the “Trustee”). The Indenture is qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. American States Water Company does
not have any publicly issued debt.

A general summary of the terms of the Notes is set forth below. More detailed information regarding the terms of the Notes may be
found in Exhibit 4.1 to the most recent Form 10-K or Form 10-Q filed by GSWC with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
Prospectus and Prospectus Supplements filed in connection with the offering of each of these Notes..

General

The following Notes have been issued under the Indenture:

Title of Notes Principal Amount Maturity Date Interest Payment Dates Redemption
6.81% Notes due
2020

$15,000,000 March 23, 2028 June 1 and December 1 and at
maturity

N.A.

6.59% Notes due
2029

$40,000,000 January 25, 2029 June 1 and December 1 and at
maturity

N.A.

7.875% Notes due
2030

$20,000,000 December 1, 2030 June 1 and December 1 and at
maturity

N.A..

7.23% Notes due
2031

$50,000,000 December 15, 2031 June 15 and December 15 and at
maturity

N.A.

6.00% Notes due
2041

$62,000,000 April 15, 2041 April 15 and October 15 and at
maturity and upon redemption

Redeemable upon payment of a
make-whole premium(1)

(1) The amount of the make whole premium is the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
discounted to a redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360 day year and 30 day months) at a discount rate equal to the
treasury rate for a comparable treasury security plus 25 basis points. More detailed information on how this make whole premium is
calculated can be found in the Prospectus Supplement filed in connection with the offering of these Notes.

No principal payments will be made with respect to any of these Notes prior to maturity of the Notes or, with respect to the 6.00% Notes
due 2041, the redemption date for this series of Notes.
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There are no sinking fund provisions with respect to the Notes. All the Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated and rank on a parity with all of
GSWC’s other debt securities.

There are no provisions of the Notes that restrict GSWC from issuing additional debt or addition securities. GSWC is also not:
 
(1) restricted by the Indenture from paying dividends or from incurring, assuming or becoming liable for any type of debt or other

obligations, including obligations secured by its property;

(2)  required to maintain any financial ratios or specified levels of net worth or liquidity; or

(3)  provide the holder of the Notes with any special protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction.
  

Successor Corporation
 

The Indenture provides that GSWC may consolidate or merge with or into any other person, or  any other person may merge into GSWC
or GSWC may transfer all or substantially all its assets to another person, if, in each case, the surviving company is a person organized and
existing under the laws of the United States or a state, the surviving company  assumes by supplemental indenture, all of our obligations under
the Notes and the Indenture and,  immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer, there is no default under the Indenture. GSWC will be
relieved from its obligations on the Notes and under the Indenture if these conditions are satisfied.

 
Events of Default

 
There will be an event of default under each of the series of Notes if any of the following occur:
 
(1) GSWC fails to pay any installment of interest on that series of Notes when due if the failure continues for a period of 60 days;
 
(2) GSWC fails to pay principal on that series of the Notes when due if the failure continues for three business days;
 
(3 GSWC fails to perform for 90 days after notice any of its other agreements applicable to that series of Notes; or
 
(4) Certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization occur.
 
There is no cross-default provision in any series of the Notes.  Thus, a default by GSWC on any other debt or any other series of Notes

would not constitute an event of default under any other Notes or debt.  The Trustee may withhold notice to a noteholder of a default for any
series

2



Exhibit 4.4

of Notes (except for payment defaults) if the Trustee considers the withholding of notice to be in the noteholders best interests.
 
If an event of default on any series of Notes has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not less than one-third in

aggregate principal amount of that series may send a notice declaring the entire principal amount and accrued interest of all Notes of such series
to be due and payable immediately.  The Trustee is required to notify a noteholder of any such event that would become a default if the Trustee
has actual knowledge of the event.  Subject to certain conditions, the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
Notes of a series may annul any declaration and rescind its consequences, except for failure to pay interest or principal or any other event of
default which may not be waived without the consent of all noteholders affected by the default.
 

GSWC files a certificate annually with the Trustee regarding its compliance with the Indenture and the terms of each series of Notes
 
The Trustee may require a reasonable indemnity from the noteholder before it enforces the terms of the Indenture or Notes of any series. 

Subject to the provisions for indemnification, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes of any series may direct the time,
method and place of conducting any proceeding or any remedy available to the Trustee, or of exercising any trust or power conferred upon the
Trustee for the Notes of such series.

 
Modification of Indenture

 
The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Notes, voting together as a single class, may,

with certain exceptions described below, modify the Indenture.  The noteholders may not, however, modify any terms relating to the amount or
timing of payments or reduce the percentage of noteholders required to approve modifications to the Indenture without the consent of each
noteholder.

 
GSWC may modify the Indenture without the consent of noteholders to create a new series of debt securities and establish its terms, cure

ambiguities or fix omissions,  comply with the provisions of the Indenture regarding successor corporations or make any change that does not
materially adversely affect the rights as a note holder of a series of Notes.

 
GSWC may also amend the Indenture with the written consent of a majority in principal amount of the Notes of all series affected by the

amendment voting together as a single class.
 

GSWC is prohibited from amending the Indenture without the consent of all noteholders to:
 

(1) reduce the amount of Notes of any series whose holders must consent to an amendment;
 
(2) reduce the amount of interest or principal;
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(3) change the time for payment of interest or principal;
 
(4)  make any change in the rights of noteholders of a series with respect to waiver of payment defaults; or
 
(5) amend or modify the provisions of the Indenture prohibiting the amendment of the Indenture without the consent of all noteholders,

other than to increase the amount of Notes whose holders must consent to an amendment or waiver or to provide that other provisions
of the Indenture cannot be amended or modified without the consent of each noteholder affected thereby.

Regarding the Trustee
 

The Trustee acts as trustee, registrar, transfer and paying agent for the Notes.  GSWC may remove the Trustee with or without cause if it
notifies the Trustee 30 days in advance and if no default occurs or is continuing during the 30-day period.  In addition, the holders of a majority
of the principal amount of the outstanding Notes may remove the Trustee by notifying the Trustee and appointing a successor trustee with
GSWC’s consent.

 
In certain circumstances, the Trustee may not enforce its rights as one of our creditors.  The Trustee may, however, engage in certain

other transactions.  If it acquires any conflicting interest as a result of any of these transactions and there is a default under the Notes, the Trustee
must eliminate the conflict of interest or resign.

 
So long as a successor trustee has been appointed, the Indenture further authorizes the Trustee to resign its appointment as Trustee under

the Indenture in the event that the Trustee determines in good faith that its performance under the Indenture subjects the Trustee to a conflict of
interest.
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Exhibit 10.24

SEPARATION AGREEMENT
And

GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

This Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims (“Agreement”) is made by and between American States Utility Services, Inc.,
including its parent, affiliates and subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “ASUS” or the “Company”), and James C. Cotton III (“Employee”)
with respect to the following facts:

A. Employee was employed by ASUS starting on June 14, 2008 and most recently was the Senior Vice President and Procurement
Officer from December 18, 2014 until January 17, 2020. Employee’s separation was effective at 5:00 P.M. EST on Friday, January 17,
2020 (“Separation Date”) due to voluntary resignation.

B. The parties desire to settle all claims and issues that have, or could have, been raised between them; including all claims relating to
Employee’s employment relationship with ASUS and all claims arising out of or in any way related to the acts, transactions or
occurrences between Employee and ASUS, including but not limited to, Employee’s employment relationship with ASUS or the
termination of that employment relationship, on the terms set forth below.

THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, it is agreed by and between the undersigned as
follows:

1. Consideration. ASUS agrees to provide Employee with the following benefits to which Employee is not otherwise entitled. The parties
acknowledge and agree that the consideration herein constitutes adequate legal consideration for the promises and representations made by the
parties in this Agreement.

1.1. Resignation. Employee resigned from the Company effective January 17, 2020.

1.2. Severance Benefits. ASUS agrees to pay to Employee one (1) lump sum payment of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), which is in
addition to the Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) severance benefit ASUS paid to employee in January 2020, less all
applicable federal and state income and employment taxes and ordinary deductions. The additional Severance Payment of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000.00) shall be paid to Employee within 30 days of Employee’s execution of this Agreement. As a result, the total severance
benefit Employee will receive with the additional Severance Payment totals Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000.00).
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1.3. Unemployment Insurance Benefits. ASUS agrees not to contest any claim Employee may file for unemployment insurance benefits.
The parties understand that eligibility for unemployment insurance benefits is determined by the state and not by ASUS. The parties
further understand and agree that nothing in this paragraph prevents or hinders ASUS from testifying truthfully or producing documents
regarding Employee’s claim for such benefits if required to do so by subpoena or other legal process.

2. General Release.

2.1. Employee unconditionally, irrevocably and absolutely releases and discharges ASUS, as well as ASUS’s employees, officers,
directors, agents, successors and assigns (collectively the “Released Parties”) from all claims related in any way to the transactions or
occurrences between Employee and Released Parties to date, to the fullest extent permitted by law, including but not limited to
Employee’s employment with ASUS, the termination of Employee’s employment relationship with ASUS, and all other losses,
liabilities, claims, charges, demands and causes of action, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, arising directly or indirectly out
of or in any way connected with Employee’s employment relationship with ASUS. This release is intended to have the broadest possible
application and includes, but is not limited to, any tort, contract, common law, public policy, constitutional or other statutory claims,
including but not limited to, alleged violations of the Virginia Human Rights Act (VHRA), Va. Code Ann. §§ 2.2 3900 2.2 3902; the
Virginians with Disabilities Act, Va. Code Ann. § 51.5 41(A); the Virginia genetic testing laws, Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 28.7:1(A); the
Virginia Equal Pay law, Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 28.6; the Virginia Occupational Safety and Health Act (VAOSHA), Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 ‐
51.2:1; the Virginia Fraud Against Taxpayers Act, Va. Code Ann. § 8.01 216.8; the Virginia Minimum Wage Act, Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 ‐
28.10; the Virginia Payment of Wage Law, Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 29; the Virginia Right to Work Law, Va. Code Ann. § 40.1 58, the U.S.
Fair Labor Standards Act, Title VII of the U.S. Civil Rights Act of 1964, the U.S. Family and Medical Leave Act, the U.S. Americans
with Disabilities Act, the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act, and all claims for attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses. It is
understood and agreed that this release does not adversely affect any vested retirement or savings plan benefits to which Employee is
entitled as of the Separation Date.

2.2. Employee acknowledges that Employee may discover facts or law different from, or in addition to, the facts or law presently known
or believed to be true with respect to the claims released in this Agreement and agrees, nonetheless, that this Agreement and the release
contained within it shall be and remain effective in all respects against Employee, Employee’s estate, successors and assigns,
notwithstanding such different or additional facts or the discovery of them.
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2.3. Employee declares and represents that Employee intends this Agreement to be complete and not subject to any claim of mistake, and
that the release herein expresses a full and complete release of all claims, known and unknown, suspected or unsuspected and, regardless
of the adequacy or inadequacy of the consideration, Employee intends the release herein to be full, final, and complete. Employee
executes this release with the full knowledge that this release covers all possible claims to the fullest extent permitted by law.

3. California Civil Code Section 1542 Waiver. Employee expressly acknowledges and agrees that all rights under Section 1542 of the California
Civil Code and any other recognized restrictions on releases that may be recognized by Virginia law or the law of any other state or jurisdiction
are expressly waived. Section 1542 provides:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW
OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY
HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR OR RELEASED
PARTY.

4. Representation Concerning Filing of Legal Actions. Employee represents that, as of the date of this Agreement, Employee has not filed any
lawsuits, charges, complaints, petitions, claims or any other accusatory pleadings against ASUS and/or any Released Parties in any court or with
any governmental agency. Employee further agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Employee will not prosecute, nor allow to be
prosecuted on Employee’s behalf, any claim or demand of any type related to the matters released above in any administrative agency, whether
state or federal, or in any court, whether state or federal. Employee intends the execution of this release to absolutely, unconditionally, and
forever discharge ASUS and the Released Parties of and from all obligations related in any way to the matters discharged herein.

5. Non-Disparagement. Employee agrees not to make any voluntary statements, written or verbal, or cause or encourage others to make any such
statements that defame, disparage, or in any way criticize the personal and/or professional reputations, practice, products, services, or conduct of
ASUS or any of the Released Parties.
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6. Confidentiality and Return of ASUS Property.

6.1. Confidential and Proprietary Information. Employee agrees to comply with all continuing obligations of the Code of Conduct and
the Non-Disclosure, Confidentiality, Intellectual Property, and Non-Solicitation Agreement, previously executed by Employee which
remains in full force and effect. ASUS agrees to reimburse Employee for Employee’s time and reasonable travel expenses that Employee
incurs in responding to ASUS requests for information. Employee further agrees that Employee will not use, remove from ASUS’s
premises, make unauthorized copies of, or disclose in any manner, directly or indirectly, any confidential or proprietary information of
ASUS, including but not limited to, its trade secrets, copyrighted information, customer lists, human resources records, payroll records,
personnel file records, billing records, any information encompassed in any research and development, reports, works in progress,
drawings, software, computer files or models, designs, plans, proposals, marketing and sales programs, financial projections, and all
concepts or ideas, materials or information related to the business of ASUS that has not previously been released to the public by an
authorized ASUS representative.

6.2. Return of Company Property. By signing this Agreement, Employee represents and warrants that Employee will have returned to
ASUS on or before Employee’s execution of this Agreement, all ASUS property, both tangible and intangible, including but not limited
to, computers, telecommunications devices, all confidential and proprietary information as described in paragraph 6.1, and all materials
and documents containing trade secrets and copyrighted materials, including all copies and excerpts of the same.

7. Nothing Owed. Employee represents, warrants and acknowledges that the Company owes Employee no wages, commissions, bonuses,
sick pay, personal leave pay, severance pay, vacation pay or other compensation or benefits or payments or form of remuneration of any kind or
nature, other than that specifically provided for in this Agreement.

8. Reporting Obligations. Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit or restrict either ASUS or Employee (or an agent or attorney of either
party) from (i) filing a charge, testifying, assisting, complying with a subpoena from, or participating in any manner in an investigation, hearing
or proceeding; responding to any inquiry; or otherwise communicating with any criminal or civil law enforcement agency or administrative or
regulatory (including any self-regulatory) agency or authority, including, but not limited to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”),
the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”), the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”), the Department of Justice (“DOJ”), the U.S.
Congress, any agency Inspector General, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and the National Labor Relations Board
(“NLRB”), or any other state or local
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commission on human rights or agency enforcing anti-discrimination laws, or (ii) speaking with an attorney retained by Employee. Pursuant to
the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, an individual may not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for
the disclosure of a trade secret that: (a) is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to
an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (b) is made in a complaint or other
document that is filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding. Further, an individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for
reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the employer's trade secrets to the attorney and use the trade secret information in the court
proceeding if the individual: (a) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (b) does not disclose the trade secret, except
pursuant to court order.

9. No Admissions. By entering into this Agreement, ASUS and the Released Parties make no admission that they have engaged, or are now
engaging, in any unlawful, unprofessional, or inappropriate conduct, and the Released Parties expressly deny any such misconduct. The parties
understand and acknowledge that this Agreement is not an admission of liability and shall not be used or construed as such by the parties in any
manner, including but not limited to, in any legal, arbitration, or administrative proceedings.

10. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be found unenforceable by an arbitrator or a court of competent
jurisdiction, the provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision so limited, it being intended
that the parties shall receive the benefits contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. If a deemed modification is not satisfactory
in the judgment of such arbitrator or court, the unenforceable provision shall be deemed deleted and the validity and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby.

11. Restrictive Covenants. Employee acknowledges that ASUS provides support to United States military installations across the nation,
specifically with efficient water and wastewater management; and that during his employment with ASUS, Employee was employed in a
confidential relationship where, in the course of employment, Employee became familiar with and aware of information and/or relationships that
were established and maintained at great expense to ASUS. Accordingly, Employee covenants and agrees that for a one (1) year period
following Employee’s execution of this Agreement:

a.Employee will not, for any reason, solicit, employ or otherwise engage, as an employee, consultant, or otherwise, either directly or
indirectly, any person who is an employee, or during the twelve (12) months preceding the Termination Date was an
employee, of the Company.
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b.Employee will not perform work as an employee, consultant or otherwise, for any actual or potential competitors of ASUS
including, without limitation, the following entities and each of their affiliated entities: American Water Works
Company, Inc.; Corix Inc.; Doyon Utilities LLC; California Water Service Group; Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.; Suez;
United Water Federal Services; EPCOR Utilities Inc.; Veolia Environnement S.A.; Inframark Water & Infrastructure
Services; Aqua America Inc.; Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp; Middlesex Water Company; SJW Group; and
Southwest Water Company.

Employee agrees that these limitations are reasonable, not burdensome and are properly required by applicable law for the adequate protection
of the Company, and in the event that these limitations are deemed to be unreasonable by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the Company
and Employee agree to submit to a modification or reduction of such limitations as such court shall deem reasonable.

12.  Litigation. Employee agrees that Employee will assist and cooperate with the Company in connection with the defense or prosecution of
any claim that may be made against or by the Company, or in connection with any ongoing or future investigation or dispute or claim of any
kind involving the Company, including meeting with the Company’s counsel, any proceeding before any arbitral, administrative, judicial,
legislative, or other body or agency, including testifying in any proceeding to the extent such claims, investigations or proceedings relate to
services performed or required to be performed by Employee, pertinent knowledge possessed by Employee, or any act or omission by
Employee. Employee further agrees to perform all acts and execute and deliver any documents that may be reasonably necessary to carry out the
provisions of this paragraph.

13.  Transition of Duties. Employee agrees that Employee will reasonably cooperate with the Company including, but not limited to, doing
whatever is reasonably requested to help ensure an appropriate transition of work responsibilities and to provide information requested regarding
any matter with which Employee was involved while employed by the Company.

14.  Full Defense. This Agreement may be pled as a full and complete defense to, and may be used as a basis for, an injunction against any
action, suit or other proceeding that may be prosecuted, instituted or attempted by Employee in breach hereof. Employee and ASUS agree that in
the event that an action or proceeding is instituted by the other in order to enforce the terms or provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party
shall be entitled to an award of reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with enforcing this Agreement.

15.  Good Faith. The parties agree to do all things necessary and to execute all further documents necessary and appropriate to carry out and
effectuate the terms and purposes of this Agreement.
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16.  Applicable Law. The validity, interpretation and performance of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws
of the United States of America and the State of Virginia.

17.  Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement is intended to be the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes and cancels
any and all other prior agreements, written or oral, between the parties regarding this subject matter, except as specified herein. It is agreed that
there are no collateral agreements or representations, written or oral, express or implied, between the parties regarding the terms and conditions
of Employee’s employment relationship with ASUS, Employee’s separation of employment with ASUS, or in settlement of all claims between
the parties, other than those set forth in writing in this Agreement. This Agreement may be amended only by a later written instrument executed
by both parties hereto.

18.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and by facsimile signature. Each counterpart shall be
deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HAVE READ THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH AND
EVERY PROVISION CONTAINED HEREIN. WHEREFORE, THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DATES
WRITTEN BELOW.

/s/ James
C. Cotton
III

February
20, 2020   /s/ Robert J. Sprowls

February
20, 2020

James C.
Cotton III Date  Robert J. Sprowls Date
Employee   President & CEO  
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of
American States Water Company

Golden State Water Company

American States Utility Services, Inc.

Fort Bliss Water Services Company

Old Dominion Utility Services, Inc.

Terrapin Utility Services, Inc.

Palmetto State Utility Services, Inc.

Old North Utility Services, Inc.

Emerald Coast Utility Services, Inc.

Fort Riley Utility Services, Inc.

California Cities Water Company, Inc.

Bear Valley Electric Service, Inc.
________________________________________________________________________



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3D (No. 333-155310) and S-8 (Nos. 333-155376,
333-129873, 333-108095, 333-189508, and 333-213049) of American States Water Company of our report dated February 24, 2020 relating to
the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 24, 2020



Exhibit 31.1
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR

I, Robert J. Sprowls, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American States Water Company (referred to as “the Registrant”) for the year ended December 31, 2019;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

Dated: February 24, 2020 By: /s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS

  
Robert J. Sprowls
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR

I, Eva G. Tang, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American States Water Company (referred to as “the Registrant”) for the year ended December 31, 2019;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Dated: February 24, 2020 By: /s/ EVA G. TANG

  

Eva G. Tang
Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Corporate Secretary



Exhibit 31.1.1
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC

I, Robert J. Sprowls, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Golden State Water Company (referred to as “GSWC”) for the year ended December 31, 2019;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the GSWC as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) GSWC’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for GSWC and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to GSWC, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of GSWC’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in GSWC’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during GSWC’s most recent fiscal quarter (GSWC’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, GSWC’s internal control over financial
reporting.

5) GSWC’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the GSWC’s auditors and
the audit committee of GSWC’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the GSWC’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in GSWC’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Dated: February 24, 2020 By: /s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS

  
Robert J. Sprowls
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2.1
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC

I, Eva G. Tang, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Golden State Water Company (referred to as “GSWC”) for the year ended December 31, 2019;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of GSWC as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) GSWC’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for GSWC and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to GSWC, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of GSWC’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in GSWC’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during GSWC’s most recent fiscal quarter (GSWC’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, GSWC’s internal control over financial
reporting.

5) GSWC’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to GSWC’s auditors and the
audit committee of GSWC’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect GSWC’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in GSWC’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Dated: February 24, 2020 By: /s/ EVA G. TANG

  
Eva G. Tang
Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary



Exhibit 32.1
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of American States Water Company and Golden State Water Company (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I Robert J. Sprowls, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS  
Robert J. Sprowls  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
  

Dated: February 24, 2020  



Exhibit 32.2
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(18 U.S.C. Section 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report of American States Water Company and Golden State Water Company (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I Eva G. Tang, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ EVA G. TANG  
Eva G. Tang  
Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer,  
Treasurer and Corporate Secretary  
  

Dated: February 24, 2020  


